
HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 
Wednesday, February 14, 2024 at 6:00 PM 

City Hall Council Chambers, 35 Cabarrus Avenue West 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER - Chair 
 

2. ORDER OF BUSINESS - Chair (Ask Staff if there are any adjustments to agenda) 
 
3. INTRODUCTIONS - Chair and Commissioners (give your name for the record) 

 
4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - Motion, second, and vote needed. 

 
5. SWEARING IN OF WITNESSES - Chair  

 
6. OLD BUSINESS  

 
H-14-22 (Quasi-Judicial Hearing – Continued) 
Jim Potter has submitted a Certificate of Appropriateness application for construction of three (3), 
two-story townhomes to be located at 74, 76, & 78 Cabarrus Ave W. PIN 5620-87-0418. 

a. Open Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
b. Staff Presentation  
c. Applicant’s Testimony  
d. Other Testimony  
e. Close Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
f. Approve Findings of Fact by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
g. Approve Conclusions of Law by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
h. Approve/Deny Conditions and Permit by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 

 
H-01-24 (Quasi-Judicial Hearing – Continued) 
Robert and Jennifer Rogers have submitted a Certificate of Appropriateness application for the 
installation of a pool, spa, gazebo, two sheds, outdoor kitchen, dry well, fences, gates, retaining walls, 
fireplace, patio and landscaping in the rear yard, and renovations to the front walk, gate columns, 
steps, retaining wall, and landscaping in the front yard at 238 Union St N. PIN 5621-60-9470. 

a. Open Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
b. Staff Presentation  
c. Applicant’s Testimony  
d. Other Testimony  
e. Close Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
f. Approve Findings of Fact by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
g. Approve Conclusions of Law by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
h. Approve/Deny Conditions and Permit by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
 
 

7. NEW BUSINESS 
 
H-02-24 (Quasi-Judicial Hearing) 
Julio De La Mora has submitted an “ex post facto” Certificate of Appropriateness application for 
after-the-fact removal of vinyl siding and the installation of Hardie® Plank Lap Siding, the removal 
and replacement of roofing material, the removal of the chimney, the installation of a new HVAC, 



and the removal and closing in the openings of two large garage windows at 23 Spring St NW. PIN 
5620-87-1837. 

a. Open Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
b. Staff Presentation  
c. Applicant’s Testimony  
d. Other Testimony  
e. Close Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
f. Approve Findings of Fact by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
g. Approve Conclusions of Law by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
h. Approve/Deny Conditions and Permit by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
 

H-03-24 (Quasi-Judicial Hearing) 
Josh Airheart with Reliable Woodworks, on behalf of William Staton, has submitted a Certificate 
of Appropriateness application for the removal of the rear yard deck and pergola; the installation of a 
new rear porch addition; the removal of eight (8) crape myrtles; rear yard landscaping improvements 
including a garden, outdoor firepit, seating, a wall fountain, a putting green, a walkway, steps, a gate, 
and a wall; and the removal and replacement of retaining walls, steps, and wooden privacy fences at 
75 Grove Ave NW. PIN 5620-77-7981. 

a. Open Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
b. Staff Presentation  
c. Applicant’s Testimony  
d. Other Testimony  
e. Close Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
f. Approve Findings of Fact by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
g. Approve Conclusions of Law by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
h. Approve/Deny Conditions and Permit by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 

 
H-04-24 (Quasi-Judicial Hearing) 
Julio De La Mora has submitted a Certificate of Appropriateness application for replacement of the 
driveway material and extending the driveway area at 23 Spring St NW. PIN 5620-87-1837. 

a. Open Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
b. Staff Presentation  
c. Applicant’s Testimony  
d. Other Testimony  
e. Close Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
f. Approve Findings of Fact by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
g. Approve Conclusions of Law by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
h. Approve/Deny Conditions and Permit by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 

 
 
STAFF UPDATES/DISCUSSIONS      

a. Historic Handbook update 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT  

 
In accordance with ADA Regulations, please note that anyone who needs an 
accommodation to participate in the meeting should notify Planning & Neighborhood 
Development Department at 704/920-5152 at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the 
meeting. 



 

Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

Agenda Memorandum 
Historic Preservation Commission 

 
 

DATE:       February 14, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: 
 Certificate of Appropriateness Request:   H-14-22 
 Applicant:      Jim Potter/Old Towne Development 
 Location of Subject Property:   74, 76, 78 Cabarrus Ave W 
 PIN:      5620-87-0418 

Staff Report Prepared by: Autumn James, AICP - Planning & 
Development Manager 

 
BACKGROUND 

• The subject property at 74, 76, and 78 Cabarrus Ave W is a vacant lot within the North Union Street 
Historic District. 

• “Vacant Lot between 64 and 74-78 Cabarrus Avenue West. Vacant lot that was a former site of a 
home.”   

• On April 13, 2022, Jim Potter with Old Towne Development applied for a Certificate of 
Appropriateness under Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 to construct three (3), two-
story units with detached two (2) car garages.  

• On November 8, 2023, this case was reviewed by the Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) 
and continued to the December meeting in order to receive the following information: the front 
elevation to represent the updated color scheme, a landscaping plan, an indication of the height of 
the roof on the front elevation, a photograph of the proposed front yard fence indicating the 
material, and the window material to be changed from aluminum clad to wood (Exhibits F, G). 

• On December 13, 2023, the applicant submitted an alternate proposal based on the comments from 
the November meeting. This alternate proposal was for the construction of two (2), two-story 
duplexes with detached one and one half (1.5) car garages. At that time, the Historic Preservation 
Commission (HPC) requested an updated landscaping plan. It was also noted at this meeting that 
the alternate proposal would require a return to the Planning and Zoning Commission for approval 
as it did not adhere to the conditions set forth in the initial approval (Exhibits H, I).  

• On January 10, 2024, this case was continued by the Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) and 
continued to the February meeting in order to receive the following information: an updated site 
plan (Exhibit B), updated landscaping plan (Exhibit C), an updated exterior color scheme (Exhibit 
D), and updated elevations (Exhibit E). 

 
DISCUSSION 
Jim Potter with Old Towne Development applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness under Concord 
Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 to construct three (3), two-story units with detached two (2) car 
garages. The applicant has decided to return to the design that was presented at the November 8, 2023, 
meeting of the Historic Preservation Commission. After comments provided at this meeting, the applicant 
has made changes to the color of the siding, has provided an updated sire plan, and has provided a 
landscaping plan. 
 
The subject property was rezoned in 2016 to CC-CD (Center City – Conditional District) with the following 
conditions: 

1. Use limited to no more than four (4) +/- 1,700 square foot two-story townhome units; 
2. Rear parking; 



Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

3. Detached rear loaded garages; 
4. Two (2) front courtyards and two (2) front stoops along with rear courtyards; 
5. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown St NW; 
6. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Ave W; and 
7. 6’ tall privacy fence along the adjoining property lines. 

 
The applicant proposes:  

1. Three (3) two-story units – two (2) end units measure ~1848 square feet, one (1) middle unit 
measures ~1804 square feet; 

2. Rear parking providing seven (7) spaces along rear property line; 
3. Three (3) detached, rear loaded one two (2) car garages measure ~ 506 square feet; 
4. Two (2) front courtyards for the end units and one (1) front stoop for the middle unit; three (3) 

concrete walkways connecting each unit to the public sidewalk; 
5. Rear courtyards will be ~ 264 square feet; 
6. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown St NW; 
7. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Ave W;  
8. 6’ tall privacy fence with landscaping along the adjoining property lines – wood and painted 

white;  
9. Landscaping along Yorktown St. NW; 
10. Landscaping along Cabarrus Ave. W at the front of the proposed units. 

 
As the applicant has chosen to return to the previous design and adhere to the conditions noted in the 2016 
rezoning to CC-CD (Center City – Conditional District), should this case be approved by the Historic 
Preservation Commission, it will not be required to return to the Planning and Zoning Commission.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Exhibit A: Certificate of Appropriateness Application updated 02/04/2024 
Exhibit B: Site Plan updated 02/06/24 
Exhibit C: Landscaping Plan updated 02/04/2024 
Exhibit D: Exterior Color Scheme updated 02/04/2024  
Exhibit E: Elevations updated 02/04/2024 
Exhibit F: Staff Report – November 8, 2023 
Exhibit G: Historic Preservation Commission Minutes – November 8, 2023 
Exhibit H: Staff Report – December 13, 2023 
Exhibit I: Historic Preservation Commission Minutes – December 13, 2023 
 
 
HISTORIC HANDBOOK DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Chapter 4: Local Standards and General Policies 
Alterations: Alterations having no historical basis shall be avoided whenever possible.  Any type of 
alteration of exterior features of a building, site, or environment within the Historic Districts which is not 
specifically listed within these regulations shall be referred to the Historic Preservation Commission for 
action on the issuance of a Certificate of Appropriateness. 

• All buildings, structures and sites shall be recognized as products of their own time.  Alterations 
that have no historical basis and which seek to create an earlier appearance shall be discouraged. 

• Changes which may have taken place in the course of time are evidence of the history and 
development of a building, structure or site and its environment.  These changes may have acquired 
significance in their own right and this significance shall be recognized and respected. 



Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

• Contemporary design for alterations and additions to existing properties shall be encouraged when 
such alterations and additions do not destroy significant historical, architectural or cultural 
material, and such design is compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the 
property, neighborhood or environment. 

• New additions or alterations shall be construed in such a manner as to preserve the essential form 
and integrity of the structure, should the addition or alteration be removed. 

 
Approval Requirement Needs Table: New Construction or Additions 

• All new construction and additions require Commission Hearing and Approval. 
 
Chapter 5 – Section 1: New Principal Structure Construction 

• The successful integration of new structures or building additions to the neighborhood depends on 
how well the building will preserve existing site features such as trees, slopes, natural drainage 
patterns, rock outcrops, etc. 

• The Historic Preservation Commission will consider how well the proposed construction will 
maintain the unifying features that exist, such as tree canopies, clean boundaries, and architectural 
and landscape details. 

• Other considerations include how compatible the proposed structure will be in material, scale, site 
setting, spatial relationships, color, and details with immediate neighbors. 

• Careful consideration should be given to the design and placement of driveways, landscaping, 
lighting, signage, walkways, and the retention of mature trees or other historic features of 
landscape. 

• Building materials, features, fenestration, and texture are also important to consider when 
designing for compatibility. 

• A wide range of features and materials presently used in the neighborhood provide a broad range 
of options from which to choose. 

• Through the use of porches, chimneys, bays, and other details, new buildings can be designed to 
have texture compatible with the Historic context. 

 
Design Standards: New Construction 

• New construction shall coordinate in material, scale, size, site position, spatial relationship, and 
details with immediate neighbors within one hundred feet (100’) of the proposed construction. 

• Where feasible, roof forms should be consistent and compatible to others in the district. Large flat 
expanses of walls or roofs should be avoided. 

• New construction should avoid A-frame, dome, shed, and flat roofs. 
• Locate and size window and door openings so they are compatible in placement, orientation, 

spacing, proportion, size and scale with the surrounding historic buildings. 
• The Historic Preservation Commission encourages compatible contemporary design in order to 

reflect accurately the differences between historic buildings and newer structures. 
• Introduce features such as porches, chimneys, bays, and architectural details as appropriate so 

that the texture of new residential structures is compatible with surrounding historic structures. 
Detailing on new structures should be consistent with its overall scheme and design. 

• Contemporary substitute materials such as hardiplank may be approved on a case by case basis 
for new structures. In order to qualify for use in new construction, these materials must have a 
demonstrated record of overall quality and durability. The physical properties of substitute 
materials must be similar to those of the historic materials they mimic. When considering substitute 
materials, the closer an element is to the viewer, the more closely the material and craftsmanship 
should match the original. The appropriateness of substitute materials shall be reviewed on an 
individual basis. 



Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

• Vinyl siding for new construction is not appropriate. 
 
Chapter 5 – Section 3: New Accessory Structure Construction 

• Through their siting and relationship to the houses, the streets, and the alleys, the accessory 
buildings contribute to the historic character of the district as well. 

• Early garages were typically single-bay structures located in the rear yard at the end of the 
driveway. 

• Easy storage buildings and sheds were usually small frame structures sited toward the back of 
the rear yard and were generally not visible from the street. 

         
Design Standards: New Accessory Structure Construction 

• Keep the proportion of new garages and accessory structures compatible with the proportion of 
the main house. Typically, these buildings were smaller in scale than the main house. 

• New garages and accessory structures must use traditional roof forms, materials, and details 
compatible with the main building or historic accessory structures in the district. 

• Locate new garages and accessory structures in rear yards and in traditional relationship to the 
main buildings. 

• All accessory structures shall remain detached from the main building. 
• Metal utility sheds, metal carports, and metal garages are prohibited. 
• Accessory buildings for Pivotal and Contributing structures should complement the siding and roof 

material of the primary structure. 
 
Chapter 5- Section 4: Siding and Exterior Materials 

• There are a variety of materials available for use on the exterior of both existing structures and for 
new construction.  Wood siding is the predominate exterior material within the Historic Districts, 
although some structures have masonry. 

• Because artificial siding is not considered an authentic, historical material, it is prohibited from 
being used on structures defined by the Commission as Pivotal and Contributing to the Historic 
Districts, or for large accessory structures. 

Chapter 5 - Section 5: Fenestrations 
• Alteration in door and window openings, especially on the principal façade, should be avoided 

whenever possible, except as a restorative measure to return an opening to its original size.  New 
openings should be located in areas where they are not visible from the street or in areas where 
they are compatible with the original design. 

• Windows on most of the historical homes are of the double hung variety.  Emphasis is on vertical 
rather than horizontal orientation of windows.  The number of lights (panes) in the sash varies with 
the style and period of the house. 

• New windows should be consistent or compatible with existing units.  The emphasis of the new 
windows should be vertical rather than horizontal.  Wood is the most appropriate material, and 
vinyl and aluminum clad windows are inappropriate in most instances.   

• Hybrid windows that include synthetic components or mixed composition of wood and synthetic 
products.  This type of window should not be used for replacement of traditional wooden windows 
or within structures designated as Pivotal or Contributing.  

• Choose windows that are appropriate for the style of building, maintain vertical emphasis, and 
avoid large single paned units. 

Chapter 5 – Section 7: Roofing 
• Use materials in new construction that are consistent with the style of the building; materials 

should be unobtrusive in texture as well as color. 



Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

• New construction should avoid the roof being more than one-half the building’s height. 
• New construction should avoid A-frame, dome, shed and flat-alone roof shapes. 
• Roof shapes, texture and material should be compatible with new construction as well as with 

immediate buildings. 
• Adding new dormers, gables, turrets, and towers should be avoided unless it can be shown that 

their use is architecturally appropriate. 
 
Approval Requirement Needs Table: All types of fencing and gates. 
 
Chapter 5 - Section 9: Fences and Walls 

• All wooden fences should be “stick-built” on site.  
• Wooden fences visible from the street and/or wooden fences in front yards and side yards of corner 

lots are required to be painted or stained white or a color matching the body or trim of the structure, 
including shutters, foundation color, etc. 

• Painting or staining is recommended, but not required, for rear yard fences unless they are visible 
from the street.  

• Where fences are desired in front yards and side yards at corner lots, the design should be primarily 
decorative in nature. Front yard fences should not exceed four feet in height.  

• Rear yard fences may be higher than four feet. The portions of rear yard fences that face the street 
should be landscaped with shrubs and trees of a planting size that will fully hide the fence from the 
street within two years. Size, type, and growth habits of plant materials to screen rear yard fences 
that face the street should be submitted at time of application. 

• All proposed fences and walls should not negatively affect existing trees and mature landscaping. 
• Privacy fences are defined as fences with no spacing between pickets or fences of the shadowbox 

design.  Privacy fences may be allowed at the discretion of the Commission in the following 
circumstances: 
A. Privacy fences are most appropriate in rear yards. 
B. Privacy fences may be allowed where the applicant's rear yard is directly adjacent to property 

that is either not in a historic district, or is within a historic district but is non-contributing or 
intrusive in that district.  The applicant shall show to the satisfaction of the Commission: 

i. that the adjacent property is unsightly in comparison to other properties surrounding the 
applicant's property, 

ii. that the adjacent property or nearby property raises reasonable security concerns for the 
applicant, or 

iii. that the adjacent property could reasonably be determined to negatively impact the 
property value of the applicant's property. 

C. Privacy fences encompassing an area of no more than 250 square feet may be allowed at the 
discretion of the Commission when adjacent to the applicant's house, garage, or other outbuilding 
in order to screen from view trash cans, mechanical equipment, cars or other unsightly items, 
provided such fence does not unreasonably impact any neighbor by blocking windows or the like. 

D. Privacy fences allowed by the Commission should be landscaped where practical with appropriate 
shrubbery to soften the appearance of the fence. 

 
Design Standards: Fences and Walls 

• Do not use high walls or fences to screen front yards. 
• Use materials such as natural stone, brick, wood, powder coated aluminum and iron 
• Chain link or plastic materials are prohibited. Adding slats to existing chain link fences for screen 

purposes is prohibited. 



Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

• Materials and style should coordinate with building and neighboring buildings as well as other 
walls and fences in the area. 

Approval Requirement Needs Table: All new patios, walks, and driveways 
 
Chapter 5 - Section 10: Driveways, Walkways, and Parking 

• The first residential driveways constructed in the districts were fairly narrow, because cars were 
smaller than they are now. Some of these driveways consist of two parallel “runners” with a grass 
strip in between. These driveways should be retained, and the style can serve as a model for new 
driveways. 

• When new driveways are constructed, they should be separated from existing driveways by a grass 
strip, and should be narrow, since double width driveways are out of scale with the relatively small 
lots in the districts. 

• Gravel and pavement are acceptable materials for driveways, as are some alternative materials 
such as cobblestone, brick, and pervious pavers. 

• New walkways should consist of appropriate material including gravel, concrete, stone, brick, or 
pervious pavers. Walkways should avoid prefabricated and imprinted stepping stones within front 
yards. 

• Parking areas should not be the focal point of the property, and should be located in such a manner 
as to minimize their visibility from the street. 

• Excessive expanses of paving should be avoided. 
• Use vegetation screens or berms to reduce reflection and visual confusion. Within residential areas, 

integrate parking areas into landscaping and surface with the appropriate materials such as 
concrete, brick, crushed stone, or gravel. In general, asphalt should only be used for areas not 
visible from the street; its use will be considered on a case by case basis by the Historic 
Preservation Commission. 

• New walkways should consist of appropriate natural material including gravel, concrete, stone, 
brick, or pervious pavers. Walkways should avoid prefabricated and imprinted stepping stones 
within front yards. Gravel and pavement are acceptable materials for driveways, as are some 
alternative materials such as cobblestone, brick, and pervious pavers. 

• Trees should be planted or retained in order to maintain the tree canopy and to minimize the focus 
of the parking areas. 
 

Design Standards: Driveways, Walkways, and Parking 
• Parking areas should not be the focal point of the property and should be located in such a manner 

as to minimize their visibility from the street. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

1. The Historic Preservation Commission should consider the circumstances of this application for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness relative to the North and South Union Street Historic Districts 
Handbook and Guidelines and act accordingly.  

2. If approved, applicant(s) should be informed of the following:  
• City staff and Commission will make periodic on-site visits to ensure the project is 

completed as approved.  
• Completed project will be photographed to update the historic properties survey.  



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit A





EX. SIDEWALK

EX. CURB

E
X
. C

U
R
B

E
X
. SID

E
W

A
LK

18'

24'

23'

12'

42'

COURT YARD

12'

20'

6' PAINTED
FENCE

10' SETBACK

N 49°07'30" E  106.20'

N
 4

2
°5

0
'1

4
" W

  1
4
0
.0

0
'

S 49°09'34" W  103.76'

S 4
1
°5

0
'1

8
" E

  1
4
0
.0

0
'

N 48°39'22" E  51.67'

S 4
3
°0

0
'3

5
" E

  1
2
8
.5

8
'

S 49°13'27" W  53.73'

N
 4

2
°0

5
'3

6
" W

  1
2
8
.0

0
'

E
X
. SID

E
W

A
LK

EX. SIDEWALK

EX. CURB
YO

R
K
TO

W
N

 S
T.

 N
W

CABARRUS AVE W.

FH

18'
20'

A
LLE

Y (E
X
IT O

N
LY)

12'

9'

5'

W
A
LK

W
A
LK

UNITUNITUNIT
1 2 3

WILLIAM B PATTEN JR &
REBECCA  H PATTEN
PIN: 5620-77-8476

DB 4178 PG 237
ZONED: RM-2

MICHAEL DROSSOS
PIN: 5620-77-9549

DB 13094 PG 15
ZONED: RM-2

KAREN GRONLI
PIN: 5620-87-0641
DB 11772 PG 326

ZONED: RM-2

KAREN M GRONLI
PIN: 5620-87-1610

DB 7209 PG 23
ZONED: RM-2

OLD TOWNE DEVELOPMENT
CORP.

PIN: 5620-87-0595
DB 12017 PG 294

ZONED: RM-2

688

690

692

690

COURTYARD

2 CAR DETACHED

12'

6'

16.5'

5x5

W
A
LK

22'

3'

STOOP
COURTYARD

41'

8'5'

GARAGE 506 SF

264 SF

COURT YARD
264 SF

COURT YARD

264 SF

1804 SF 1848 SF1848 SF
2 STORY 2 STORY 2 STORY

2 CAR DETACHED
GARAGE 506 SF

2 CAR DETACHED
GARAGE 506 SF

DATE:  2-6-24

JOB # 24503

C - 1.0

#
 
 
 
D

A
T

E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
R

E
V

I
S

I
O

N
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B

Y

SCALE: 1" = 10'

Prepared for:

written permission. 

This drawing is the property of Alley, Williams,

copied, or used on any other project without

Carmen & King, Inc.  It is not to be reproduced, 

Firm License No. F-0203

120 S. MAIN STREET

PO BOX 1248

KANNAPOLIS, NC 28081

704.938.1515

www.awck.com

C O N S U L T I N G  E N G I N E E R S ,

S U R V E Y I N G  &  I N S P E C T I O N

carmen & king, inc.
a l l e y ,  w i l l a m s ,

PLAN NOTES

SITE NOTES

1

Scale: 1"=10'

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN

P
R

E
L

I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

C
O

N
C

O
R

D
,
 
N

O
R

T
H

 
C

A
R

O
L

I
N

A

7
4
-
7
8
 
C

A
B

A
R

R
U

S
 
A

V
E

 
W

.
 

Old Towne Development Corporation
8312 Caldwell Rd
Harrisburg, NC 28075

D
U

P
L

E
X

E
S

UNION ST S

CA
BA

RR
US

  A
VE

 W

SPRING ST. NW

YORKTOW
N ST NW

SITE

VICINITY MAP

NTS

CONCORD

2/6/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL WORK TO BE DONE IN ACCORDANCE WITH CITY OF CONCORD CDO, LATEST EDITION. THERE ARE SUPPORTING SPECIFICATIONS FROM MULTIPLE AGENCIES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: WSACC, NCDOT, AND NCDE&NR, THE MORE RESTRICTIVE SPECIFICATION SHALL BE ENFORCED. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
IDENTIFICATION:  5620-87-0418 OLD TOWNE DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 8312 CALDWELL RD HARRISBURG, NC 28075 ACREAGE: .337 Acres IMPERVIOUS SURFACE RATIO: 0.8 CURRENT ZONING: CC-CD CURRENT USE: VACANT PROPOSED USE:  MULTI FAMILY RESIDENTIAL PROPOSED 3 UNITS PROPOSED PARKING: 7 SPACES PROPOSED GARAGE PARKING: 6 SPACES SETBACKS Front: 10' Side: N/A Rear: N/A MAX BLDG HT.: 75' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
18906

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit B



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit C





YORKTOWNE - BY OLD TOWNE DEVELOPMENT

74-78 CABARRUS AVE W. CONCORD, NC

THREE UNIT BUILDING PROPOSAL BY OLD TOWNE DEVELOPMENT 

EXTERIOR MATERIALSAND COLORS:

SIDING AND TRIM - CEMENT COMPOSIT LAP SIDING - HARDIE OR EQUIVALENT - SMOOTH TEXTURE - COLOR: ARCTIC WHITE BY JAME  

BRICK - TRIANGLE BRICK - NORTHAMPTON STYLE

FRONT ENTRY DOORS - STAINABLE FIBERGLASS - WITH GLASS - COLOR: WOOD STAIN FINISH

WINDOWS - WINDSOR BRAND - SDL - ALUMINUM CLAD - COLOR: LINEN

ROOFING TAMPCO - HERITAGE 30 YR - COLOR: VIRGINIA SLATE

GARAGE DOORS - STEEL PANELED OVERHEAD DOORS PREFINISHED WHITE

GUTTERS AND DOWNSPOUTS - ALUMINUM WITH BAKED ON FINISH - COLOR: BLACK

SHUTTERS - COMPOSITE SHUTTERS BY 'FOREVER SHUTTERS' - COLOR: BLACK

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit D



 

JAMES HARDIE SIDING – ACTRIC WHITE 

 

 



 

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit E









 

Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

Agenda Memorandum 
Historic Preservation Commission 

 
 

DATE:       November 8, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: 
 Certificate of Appropriateness Request:   H-14-22 
 Applicant:      Jim Potter/Old Towne Development 
 Location of Subject Property:   74, 76, 78 Cabarrus Ave W 
 PIN:      5620-87-0418 

Staff Report Prepared by: Autumn James, Planning & Development 
Manager 

 
BACKGROUND 

• The subject property at 74, 76, and 78 Cabarrus Ave W is a vacant lot within the North Union Street 
Historic District. 

• “Vacant Lot between 64 and 74-78 Cabarrus Avenue West. Vacant lot that was a former site of a 
home.” (Exhibit A) 

 
DISCUSSION 
On April 13, 2022, Jim Potter with Old Towne Development applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness 
under Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 to construct three (3), two-story townhomes with 
detached two (2) car garages (Exhibit B).  
 
Previously, the property was occupied by an approximately 3,500 square foot nonconforming commercial 
multi-tenant building and was held by a private party owner. The subject property was the site of various 
nuisance complaints through Concord Police Department. In November 2014, the City purchased the 
property with the intention of more compatible redevelopment in the future. The structure was demolished 
in January 2015 and the site has been vacant since. 
 
The subject property was rezoned in 2016 to CC-CD (Center City – Conditional District) with the following 
conditions: 

1. Use limited to no more than four (4) +/- 1,700 square foot two-story townhome units; 
2. Rear parking; 
3. Detached rear loaded garages; 
4. Two (2) front courtyards and two (2) front stoops along with rear courtyards; 
5. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown St NW; 
6. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Ave W; and 
7. 6’ tall privacy fence along the adjoining property lines. 

 
The applicant proposes: 

1. Three (3) +/- 1,800 square foot two-story townhome units – approximately 22’ x 41’ each; 
2. Rear parking providing four (4) spaces along rear property line; 
3. Detached, rear loaded two (2) car garages – approximately 22’ x 23’ each; 
4. Two (2) front courtyards for the end units and one (1) front stoop for the middle unit; 
5. Rear courtyards – approximately 22’ x 13’ each; 
6. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown St NW; 
7. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Ave W; and 
8. 6’ tall privacy fence along the adjoining property lines – wood and painted white. 

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit F



Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
Exhibit A: National Register of Historic Places Inventory 
Exhibit B: Certificate of Appropriateness Application 
Exhibit C: Subject Property Map  
Exhibit D: Photos of Subject Property 
Exhibit E: Site Plan 
Exhibit F: Elevations 
Exhibit G: Proposed Exterior Material and Color Scheme 
Exhibit H: Proposed Front Doors 
Exhibit I: Proposed 6’ Wooden Privacy Fence 
Exhibit J: Proposed Roofing Shingles 
Exhibit K: Proposed Brick 
Exhibit L: Approved Staff Report Z(CD)-34-15 
 
HISTORIC HANDBOOK DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Chapter 4: Local Standards and General Policies 
Alterations: Alterations having no historical basis shall be avoided whenever possible.  Any type of 
alteration of exterior features of a building, site, or environment within the Historic Districts which is not 
specifically listed within these regulations shall be referred to the Historic Preservation Commission for 
action on the issuance of a Certificate of Appropriateness. 

• All buildings, structures and sites shall be recognized as products of their own time.  Alterations 
that have no historical basis and which seek to create an earlier appearance shall be discouraged. 

• Changes which may have taken place in the course of time are evidence of the history and 
development of a building, structure or site and its environment.  These changes may have acquired 
significance in their own right and this significance shall be recognized and respected. 

• Contemporary design for alterations and additions to existing properties shall be encouraged when 
such alterations and additions do not destroy significant historical, architectural or cultural 
material, and such design is compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the 
property, neighborhood or environment. 

• New additions or alterations shall be construed in such a manner as to preserve the essential form 
and integrity of the structure, should the addition or alteration be removed. 

 
Approval Requirement Needs Table: New Construction or Additions 

• All new construction and additions require Commission Hearing and Approval. 
 
Chapter 5 – Section 1: New Principal Structure Construction 

• The successful integration of new structures or building additions to the neighborhood depends on 
how well the building will preserve existing site features such as trees, slopes, natural drainage 
patterns, rock outcrops, etc. 

• The Historic Preservation Commission will consider how well the proposed construction will 
maintain the unifying features that exist, such as tree canopies, clean boundaries, and architectural 
and landscape details. 

• Other considerations include how compatible the proposed structure will be in material, scale, site 
setting, spatial relationships, color, and details with immediate neighbors. 

• Careful consideration should be given to the design and placement of driveways, landscaping, 
lighting, signage, walkways, and the retention of mature trees or other historic features of 
landscape. 



Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

• Building materials, features, fenestration, and texture are also important to consider when 
designing for compatibility. 

• A wide range of features and materials presently used in the neighborhood provide a broad range 
of options from which to choose. 

• Through the use of porches, chimneys, bays, and other details, new buildings can be designed to 
have texture compatible with the Historic context. 

 
Design Standards: New Construction 

1. New construction shall coordinate in material, scale, size, site position, spatial relationship, 
and details with immediate neighbors within one hundred feet (100’) of the proposed 
construction. 

2. Where feasible, roof forms should be consistent and compatible to others in the district. Large 
flat expanses of walls or roofs should be avoided. 

3. New construction should avoid A-frame, dome, shed, and flat roofs. 
4. Locate and size window and door openings so they are compatible in placement, orientation, 

spacing, proportion, size and scale with the surrounding historic buildings. 
5. The Historic Preservation Commission encourages compatible contemporary design in order 

to reflect accurately the differences between historic buildings and newer structures. 
6. Introduce features such as porches, chimneys, bays, and architectural details as appropriate 

so that the texture of new residential structures is compatible with surrounding historic 
structures. Detailing on new structures should be consistent with its overall scheme and design. 

7. Contemporary substitute materials such as hardiplank may be approved on a case by case 
basis for new structures. In order to qualify for use in new construction, these materials must 
have a demonstrated record of overall quality and durability. The physical properties of 
substitute materials must be similar to hose of the historic materials they mimic. When 
considering substitute materials, the closer an element is to the viewer, the more closely the 
material and craftsmanship should match the original. The appropriateness of substitute 
materials shall be reviewed on an individual basis. 

8. Vinyl siding for new construction is not appropriate. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

1. The Historic Preservation Commission should consider the circumstances of this application for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness relative to the North and South Union Street Historic Districts 
Handbook and Guidelines and act accordingly.  

2. If approved, applicant(s) should be informed of the following:  
• City staff and Commission will make periodic on-site visits to ensure the project is 

completed as approved.  
• Completed project will be photographed to update the historic properties survey.  



jamesa
Text Box

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit A



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit B





!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! 39

35

32

31

27

26

23

22

21

20

19

18

17

16

13

98 97

96

90

79

78
76

75

74
68

67

64

63
63

61

56

50

106

CABARRUS AVE W

YORKTOWN ST NW
BELL ST SW

UNION ST S
SPRING ST SW

CHURCH ST NKERR ST NW

UNION ST N

LIN
CO

LN
 ST

 SW

CORBAN AVE SW
CABARRUS AVE W

GEORGIA ST SW

CORBAN AVE SE

SPRING ST NW

ELM
 AVE NW

CABARRUS AVE E

WILSON ST NE

CR
OW

EL
L D

R 
SW

FR
ANKLI

N AVE
 NW

BUFFALO AVE NW

YOUNG AVE SW

DEAL ST SE

MCGILL AVE NW

BRANCHVIEW DR SE

WHITE ST SW

SU
NDER

LA
ND RD SW

TODD DR NW

BR
OA

D 
DR

 SW

CE
DA

R D
R N

W

BROOKWOOD AVE NW

BROWN ST SW

HILLCREST AVE SE

LONG AVE NE

MCKINNON AVE NE

WILS
HIRE AVE SW

ST MARY AVE NW

RAMDIN CT NW

MAY ST NE

GLENDALE AVE SE

BOGER CT S
W

BRUMLEY AVE NE

GROVE AVE NW

ST CHARLES AVE NE

EASTOVER DR SE

BLUME AVE SW

WILKINSON CT SE

MAHAN ST SW

DOUGLAS AVE NW

CROWELL
 DR NW

GUY AV
E NW

ANDREWS ST NW

ROBBINS ST SW

Source: City of Concord
Planning Department

H-14-22

74, 76, 78 Cabarrus Ave W

PIN: 5620-87-0418

These maps and products are designed for general
reference only and data contained herein is subject 
to change. The City Of Concord, it's employees or 
agents make no warranty of merchantability or fitness 
for any purpose, expressed or implied, and assume no 
legal responsibility for the information contained therein. 
Data used is from multiple sources with various scales 
and accuracy. Additional research such as field surveys 
may be necessary to determine actual conditions.

Disclaimer

²
0 10050

Feet

! Addresses
Subject Property
Parcels

Subject Property

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit C



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit D

jamesa
Typewritten Text
Before Image from Yorktowne Ave.



jamesa
Typewritten Text
Before Image from Cabarrus Ave.



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit E



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit F













YORKTOWNE - BY OLD TOWNE DEVELOPMENT

DETAILED MATERIAL LIST

74-78 CABARRUS AVE W. CONCORD, NC

YORKTOWNE EXTERIOR SCHEME

EXTERIOR MATERIALS:

SIDING AND TRIM - CEMENT COMPOSITE LAP SIDING - JAMES HARDIE OR EQUIVALENT

BRICK - TRIANGLE BRICK - OLD COLONY STYLE

FRONT ENTRY DOORS - PAINTED FIBERGLASS - WITH GLASS - COLOR COORDINATED WITH SIDING 

WINDOWS - WINDSOR BRAND - SDL - ALUMINUM CLAD - 

ROOFING - MAIN
ROOFING - DORMER
ROOFING - PORCH

TAMPCO - HERITAGE 30 YR - COLOR: VIRGINIA SLATE 
TAMPCO - HERITAGE 30 YR - COLOR : VIRGINIA SLATE 
PAINTED METAL STANDING SEAM ROOFING

SIDING COLORS: (FROM JAMES HARDIE SIDING COLORS)

FRONT ELEVATIONS SIDES AND REAR
78 CABARRUS 74CABARRUS

LOWER SIDING COLOR HARRIS CREAM SANDSTONE BEIGE
UPPER SIDING COLOR KHAKI BROWN COBBLESTONE
GABLE SIDING COLOR (IF NEEDED) AUTUMN TAN HARRIS CREAM
DORMER SIDING COLOR N/A N/A
GARAGE HARRIS CREAM SANDSTONE BEIGE
TRIM COLOR SAILCLOTH

76 CABARRUS 
MOUNTAIN SAGE 

HEATHERED MOSS 
N/A

SAILCLOTH 
MAUNTAIN SAGE 

SAILCLOTH SAILCLOTH

ALL ADDRESSES 
AUTUMN TAN 
HARRIS CREAM 
HARRIS CREAM

 N/A
HARRIS CREAM

SAILCLOTH

WINDOW CLAD COLOR (WINDSOR WINDOWS) - LINEN (MATCH TO SAILCLOTH)

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit G



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit H

jamesa
Typewritten Text
    Proposed Front Entry Doors



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit I

jamesa
Typewritten Text
     Privacy Fence Images



 



 

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit J

jamesa
Typewritten Text
Proposed Roofing Shingles



TRIANGLE BRICK - OLD COLONY

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit K

jamesa
Typewritten Text
   



Case Z(CD)-34-15 
  1 

 

                                                                                                         Staff Report 
 Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
 
DATE:    March 15, 2016 
 
CASE #:  Z (CD)-34-16  
 
DESCRIPTION:  Zoning Map Amendment from RM-2 (Residential Medium 

Density) to CC-CD (Center City Conditional District) 
   

OWNER/APPLICANT:  City of Concord 
 
LOCATION:  74, 76, and 78 Cabarrus Ave. West  
 
PIN#: 5620-87-0418 
 
AREA:   .33 +/- acres 

 
ZONING: RM-2 (Residential Medium Density) 
 
PREPARED BY:   Starla Rogers – Sr. Planner 
  
BACKGROUND 
This case came before the Planning and Zoning Commission on January 19th 2016.  Several 
neighbors spoke at the public hearing in opposition to the request.  The primary concerns were: 
Parking on Yorktown St., vehicular traffic congestion on Yorktown St., zoning classification of 
Center City, townhome use, number of townhome units, small front yard setback, and rental 
versus owner occupied units.  The Planning and Zoning Commission tabled the case to allow the 
City and the neighbors to further discuss the project and possible methods of compromise. 
 
After the meeting, City Staff contacted the potential buyer and he confirmed that he would not be 
in favor of modifying the request to single family homes or to reduce the number of townhome 
units.  With that in mind, staff revised the townhome site plan to incorporate varied front setbacks 
for the units by incorporating both a front courtyard and stoop entry.  Additionally, the site plan 
was modified to allow an exit only access point on Cabarrus Avenue.  This new point of egress 
minimizes the need for residents of the townhomes to exit onto Yorktown Street. 
 
After speaking with the potential buyer of the property, City staff held several meetings with 
surrounding neighbors and members of the community.  A detailed description of each meeting 
and the resulting outcome is attached for the Commission’s review.  The result of each meeting 
varied.  Some citizens with whom the meetings were held are now in support of the project or 
have decided to be neutral.  However, there are still individuals in opposition as well.  With an 
active offer to purchase, conditioned on the rezoning and four (4) townhomes, the request must be 
carried through the rezoning process as presented. 
 
 

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit L



Case Z(CD)-34-15 
  2 

HISTORY 
The subject property is approximately .33 acres in a RM-2 (Residential Medium Density) zoning 
district, abutting the CC (Center City) zoning district.  Cabarrus Avenue separates the subject 
property and other properties within the CC district.  The property is also located within the 
City’s Historic Preservation Overlay district.   
 
Previously, the property was occupied by an approximately 3,500sf nonconforming commercial 
multi-tenant building and was held by a private party owner.  The subject property was the site of 
various nuisance complaints through Concord Police Department.  In November of 2014 the City 
purchased the property with intentions of more compatible redevelopment in the future. The 
structure was demolished in January 2015 and the site is now vacant.   
 
The City met and discussed the project with individuals in the surrounding neighborhood.  A 
formal neighborhood meeting was held on March 10th, 2015 in order to allow residents/property 
owners/tenants to have input on the future use/development of the site.  The City presented 
several options including single-family detached residential dwellings, a commercial structure, 
and single-family residential attached units (townhomes).  The result of the meeting was a 
preference of residential to commercial.  Single-family residential was the overall neighborhood 
preference resulting from the meeting.  After sending out an RFP, the only returned interest in 
redevelopment of the property was an offer to purchase for townhome development.  Preliminary 
site designs indicate the site can accommodate four (4) two-story townhome units with rear 
detached garages, rear parking, two-way access off of Yorktown Street and one-way exit to 
Cabarrus Avenue. 
 
Typically when requests must appear before both the Planning and Zoning Commission and the 
Historic Preservation Commission (HPC), the applicant first appears before HPC.  This process is 
used so that the Planning and Zoning Commission has assurance that the HPC has approved site 
design and elevations as compatible with the Historic District prior to approval of any conditional 
zoning modification.  This limits the need for multiple meetings/re-reviews.  However, in this 
instance, the City has a prospective buyer for the property and the sale is dependent upon zoning 
approval.  Therefore, there are no formal site plans, elevations, or material descriptions to 
accompany this conditional rezoning.  Instead there are preliminary designs as to what the site 
could accommodate if rezoning were approved.  Should the Commission approve the request to 
rezone the property to CC-CD, the following conditions are proposed: 

1. Use limited to no more than (4) +/- 1700sf two-story townhome units 
2. Rear parking 
3. Detached rear loaded garages 
4. Two front courtyards and two front stoops along with rear courtyards  
5. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown Street, NW 
6. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Avenue, West. 
7. 6ft tall privacy fences along the adjoining property lines if approved by HPC 

 
City staff made a presentation to the HPC on December 30th explaining the project, proposed 
uses, and need for modification to the public hearings order.  The Commission had no objections 
and was informed of the upcoming Planning and Zoning meeting should they care to attend as 
private citizens or elect a representative to speak.  
 
Site Plan and elevations are submitted as potential designs corresponding with the conditions 
proposed above.  Should the Commission approve the rezoning subject to those conditions, the 
project would be required to meet the enhanced Center City design standards as well as those 
imposed by the Historic Preservation Overlay district and the Historic Preservation Commission.  



Case Z(CD)-34-15 
  3 

 
Existing Zoning and Land Uses 

Zoning of 
Subject 

Property Direction 
Zoning Within 

500 Feet 

Land Uses(s) 
of Subject 
Property Land Uses Within 500 Feet 

RM-2 

North 

RM-2 Residential 
Medium Density 
and C-1 (Light 
Commercial) 

Vacant 
 

Single-Family Residential, and 
Institutional (Old Courthouse 

Theatre/ 

East 

RM-2 (Residential 
Medium Density), 

C-1 (Light 
Commercial) and 
CC (Center City) 

Single-Family Residential, 
Commercial, Office and 

Institutional 

South 

CC (Center City), 
C-1 (Light 

Commercial), and 
RC (Residential 

Compact) 

Single-Family Residential, 
Commercial, and Institutional 

West 

RM-2 (Residential 
Medium Density) 
and C-2 (General 

Commercial) 

Single-Family Residential and 
Commercial 

 
 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE CENTER CITY PLAN AND 2015 LAND USE PLAN 
 
The subject property is located within the Center City Plan, incorporated into the 2015 Land Use 
Plan, and is designated as “Commercial.”  During the update of the Center City Plan, many 
already developed properties were designated with land use categories that paralleled their 
existing uses.  The subject property was occupied by a longstanding commercial building and was 
thus designated as such.  The existing RM-2 zoning classification is not consistent with the land 
use classification.  However, the proposed CC (and conditional district variations) is considered 
consistent and a corresponding zoning classification to the commercial land use designation and 
is therefore appropriate. 
 
SUGGESTED STATEMENT OF ZONING CONSISTENCY  

• The subject property is approximately .33 acres, is zoned RM-2 (Residential Medium 
Density) and is located within the Historic Preservation Overlay District. 

 

• The subject property is a vacant lot.  
 

• The proposed zoning amendment is consistent with the Center City Plan and thus the 
2015 Land Use Plan (LUP) as the subject property is designated “commercial” and CC 
(Center City) is a corresponding zoning classification.  

 

• The zoning amendment is reasonable and in the public interest because the petition 
allows for compatible single-family residential uses and is an extension of the existing 
CC (Center City) zoning across Cabarrus Avenue, West. 

 
SUGGESTED RECOMMENDATION AND CONDITIONS  
The staff finds the request consistent with the Center City Plan and 2015 Land Use Plan and the 



Case Z(CD)-34-15 
  4 

requirements of the Concord Development Ordinance.  The petition meets the minimum 
requirements of the CDO.  It is a parallel conditional district request, the Commission, should 
they decide to approve the request, may, according to Section 3.2.8.E of the CDO, suggest 
“reasonable additional conditions or augment those already provided with the petition, but 
only those conditions mutually agreed upon by the petitioner and the Commission or 
Council may be incorporated into the approval.  Any such condition should relate to the 
relationship of the proposed use to surrounding property, proposed support facilities such 
as parking areas and driveways, pedestrian and vehicular circulation systems, screening 
and buffer areas, the timing of development, street and right-of-way improvements, water 
and sewer improvements, storm water drainage, the provision of open space and other 
matters that the Commission or Council may find appropriate.”   
 
The petitioner has consented to the following conditions: 

1. Use limited to no more than (4) +/- 1700sf two-story townhome units 
2. Rear parking 
3. Detached rear loaded garages 
4. Two front courtyards and two front stoops along with rear courtyards  
5. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown Street, NW 
6. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Avenue, West. 
7. 6ft tall privacy fences along the adjoining property lines if approved by HPC 

 
PROCEDURAL CONSIDERATIONS 
This particular rezoning case is considered “legislative” in nature as stated in Section 3.2.7 of the 
CDO.  Legislative hearings DO NOT require sworn testimony or findings of fact for approval or 
denial. 



CABARRUS AVE W

BELL ST SW

GROVE AVE NW

YORKTOWN ST NW

SPRING ST NW

GEORGIA ST NW

SPRING ST SW

GEORGIA ST SW

CC

RM-2

RC

O-I

C-2

C-1

C-1

RC

UNION ST S

CHURCH ST N

CONCORD PKW
Y N

BR
AN

CH
VI

EW
 D

R 
SE

WILSHIRE AVE SW

SPRING ST SW

NE
IS

LE
R 

RDBRANCHVIEW DR NE

BURRAGE RD NE

CORBAN AVE SE

ROBERTA RD

KERR ST NW

HARRIS ST NW

LIN
CO

LN
 S

T S
W

UNION CEMETERY RD SW

CORBAN AVE SW

FAITH DR SW

SPRING ST NW CRESTSIDE DR SE

WILSON ST NE

HILLANDALE ST NE

SWINK ST SW

LITAKER LN

BRAFFORD DR

1ST ST NW

TU
LIP

 AV
E S

W

CENTRAL DR NW

CENTRAL DR NW

Source: City of Concord
Planning Department

Z(CD)-34-15 
ZONING MAP

Zoning Map Amendment
from Residential Medium

Density (RM-2) to
Center City Conditional District

(CC-CD) for the development
of four (4) townhomes

These maps and products are designed for general
reference only and data contained herein is subject 
to change. The City Of Concord, it's employees or 
agents make no warranty of merchantability or fitness 
for any purpose, expressed or implied, and assume no 
legal responsibility for the information contained therein. 
Data used is from multiple sources with various scales 
and accuracy. Additional research such as field surveys 
may be necessary to determine actual conditions.

Disclaimer

0 200100
Feet

Subject Property
Parcels

Zoning
C-1
C-2
CC
O-I
RC
RM-2

Subject
Property

74-78 Cabarrus Ave W
PIN 5620-87-0418



Mixed Use

Institutional

Commercial

Government

Open Spaces

Single Family

Office

CABARRUS AVE W

BELL ST SW

GROVE AVE NW

YORKTOWN ST NW

SPRING ST NW

GEORGIA ST NW

SPRING ST SW

GEORGIA ST SW

UNION ST S

CHURCH ST N

CONCORD PKW
Y N

BR
AN

CH
VI

EW
 D

R 
SE

WILSHIRE AVE SW

SPRING ST SW

NE
IS

LE
R 

RDBRANCHVIEW DR NE

BURRAGE RD NE

CORBAN AVE SE

ROBERTA RD

KERR ST NW

HARRIS ST NW

LIN
CO

LN
 S

T S
W

UNION CEMETERY RD SW

CORBAN AVE SW

FAITH DR SW

SPRING ST NW CRESTSIDE DR SE

WILSON ST NE

HILLANDALE ST NE

SWINK ST SW

LITAKER LN

BRAFFORD DR

1ST ST NW

TU
LIP

 AV
E S

W

CENTRAL DR NW

CENTRAL DR NW

Source: City of Concord
Planning Department

Z(CD)-34-15 
LAND USE PLAN

Zoning Map Amendment
from Residential Medium

Density (RM-2) to
Center City Conditional District

(CC-CD) for the development
of four (4) townhomes

These maps and products are designed for general
reference only and data contained herein is subject 
to change. The City Of Concord, it's employees or 
agents make no warranty of merchantability or fitness 
for any purpose, expressed or implied, and assume no 
legal responsibility for the information contained therein. 
Data used is from multiple sources with various scales 
and accuracy. Additional research such as field surveys 
may be necessary to determine actual conditions.

Disclaimer

0 200100
Feet

Subject Property
Parcels
Commercial
Government
Industrial
Institutional
Mixed Use
Multi Family
Office
Open Spaces
Single Family

Subject
Property

74-78 Cabarrus Ave W
PIN 5620-87-0418

Single Family

Commercial

Commercial

Institutional

Institutional



CABARRUS AVE W

BELL ST SW

YORKTOWN ST NW

UNION ST S

CHURCH ST N

CONCORD PKW
Y N

BR
AN

CH
VI

EW
 D

R 
SE

WILSHIRE AVE SW

SPRING ST SW

NE
IS

LE
R 

RDBRANCHVIEW DR NE

BURRAGE RD NE

CORBAN AVE SE

ROBERTA RD

KERR ST NW

HARRIS ST NW

LIN
CO

LN
 S

T S
W

UNION CEMETERY RD SW

CORBAN AVE SW

FAITH DR SW

SPRING ST NW CRESTSIDE DR SE

WILSON ST NE

HILLANDALE ST NE

SWINK ST SW

LITAKER LN

BRAFFORD DR

1ST ST NW

TU
LIP

 AV
E S

W

CENTRAL DR NW

CENTRAL DR NW

Source: City of Concord
Planning Department

Z(CD)-34-15 
AERIAL

Zoning Map Amendment
from Residential Medium

Density (RM-2) to
Center City Conditional District

(CC-CD) for the development
of four (4) townhomes

These maps and products are designed for general
reference only and data contained herein is subject 
to change. The City Of Concord, it's employees or 
agents make no warranty of merchantability or fitness 
for any purpose, expressed or implied, and assume no 
legal responsibility for the information contained therein. 
Data used is from multiple sources with various scales 
and accuracy. Additional research such as field surveys 
may be necessary to determine actual conditions.

Disclaimer

0 10050
FeetSubject Property

Parcels

Subject
Property

74-78 Cabarrus Ave W
PIN 5620-87-0418



1 
 

Summary of Planning Department Outreach to Surrounding Residents 
 

Bold italicized text = Staff/Official’s follow-up 

In-Person Meetings: Mayor and City Council with Planning Staff (Scott Adams, Steve 
Osborne, Margaret Pearson), 1/13/15 

• Planning staff presented development concepts to Mayor and City Council members in small group meetings. 

Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting: Planning Staff (Scott Adams, Starla Rogers, 
Margaret Pearson), 1/19/16 

• Planning staff presented rezoning case to Planning & Zoning Commission; the Commission tabled a decision 
• Planning & Zoning Commission tabled the rezoning to their 2/16/16 meeting. 

Parking/Traffic Operations, 1/20/16 
• Residents noted that existing on-street parking on Yorktown St. NW is often limited, 1/19/16. 
• Residents noted that queuing for Coltrane-Webb STEM School often prevents free access from properties in the 

20-50 block of Yorktown St. NW, 1/19/16. 
• Coltrane-Webb STEM School, hours of operation:  8:15 a.m. – 3 p.m.  [Steve Osborne asked Transportation 

Director Joe Wilson about this on 1/20/16. Director Wilson noted that this area has already been studied and 
that he wouldn’t recommend any significant changes (i.e. reversing Yorktown St.’s one-way pattern toward 
Cabarrus Ave. W.).  Planning staff also visited the area 1/21/16, 8-8:20 a.m., and did not see significant traffic 
congestion.] 

In-Person Meeting: Jim Potter (Developer), Scott Adams, Starla Rogers, Steve Osborne 
(City of Concord), 1/21/16 

• Jim Potter: If pushed to do 3 units, this would drive up cost and size per unit.  $230,000 price-point is based on 
assumption of $135/SF (new construction), compared to Afton Village units, $125/SF, based on age (built in 
2006, now 10 years old). 

• Jim Potter: Originally considering 19’-wide units, but now exploring two @ 18’ (2 bedroom) and two @ 22’ (3 
bedroom).  Overall width is 80’ vs. 76’ for 19’ units. 

In-Person Meeting  w/ Bill and Rebecca Patten (Citizens), Scott Adams, Margaret Pearson, 
Steve Osborne (City of Concord), 1/26/16 

• City staff reviewed proposed site plan changes with the Pattens, including: 
1. Secondary one-way driveway onto Cabarrus Ave. W. 
2. Recessed 20’ setbacks for two center units, with 8’ courtyards on end units, thus meeting Center City 

max. 10’ setback requirement. 
• Bill and Rebecca Patten:  Did not agree with site plan changes, still insisted on 1-2 single-family detached houses.  

Requested that City staff ask the developer about potential interest in reduced number of townhouses or single-
family detached houses. 

• City staff promised to follow up with the developer on the question of reduced number of townhouses or single-
family detached house(s).  Staff contacted Jim Potter, developer, per next item. 



2 
 

Conference Call w/ Jim Potter (Developer), Scott Adams, Margaret Pearson, Steve Osborne, 
Starla Rogers (City of Concord), 1/26/16 

• City staff asked Jim Potter if reduced number of townhouse units or single-family detached house(s) would be an 
option for the site.  Jim Potter declined interest in anything other than four (4) townhouse units, noting that he 
find other pieces of property for this product.  Jim Potter does not view less than 4 townhouse or single-family 
detached housing as being economically viable for the site. 

• City staff thanked Jim Potter for confirming his interest in the site and noted that they would continue to 
recommend rezoning from RM-2 to CC-CD to support the construction of four (4) townhouses on the site. 

Phone Call:  Karen Gronli inquiry on purchase of entire parcel at 68 Cabarrus Ave. W., 
1/27/16 

Certified Letters for 2/16/16 Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting, 1/27/16 
City staff prepared a letter, sent via Certified Mail 20 days ahead of the February 16, 2016 Planning & Zoning 
Commission meeting, to notify adjacent property owners of the rezoning request. 

Steve Osborne (City of Concord) Phone Call w/ Arlene Clark, 2/1/16 
• Steve explained proposed site plan changes (secondary one-way driveway, increased setbacks on center units) 
• Arlene Clark expressed concern at feasibility of selling 4 units @ $230,000 each; Steve noted that Staff and the 

Developer have done some market analysis and this is the most viable product for the site.  Arlene Clark 
concluded that she’ll remain neutral on the project. 

Karen Gronli places NEW offer on remainder of 68 Cabarrus Ave. W., 2/3/16 

Steve Osborne (City of Concord) phone call w/ Barbara Sheppard, 2/5/16 
• Barbara Sheppard requested that 1) rental vs. owner be discussed and <4 units be discussed w/ developer. 
• Barbara Sheppard noted she would request a meeting with City Manager, Mayor to discuss parking issues on 

Yorktown St. NW. 
• Planning staff contacted Joe Wilson, Transportation Director, for one more inquiry on traffic operations/on-

street parking in immediate vicinity. 

 In-Person Meeting between Mike Hooten (Karen Gronli’s significant other), 64 Cabarrus 
Ave. W., and Steve Osborne, Scott Adams (City of Concord)2/5/16 

• Mike Hooten lives at 64 Cabarrus Ave. W., dropped in to office to get an update on site plans, etc. 
• Planning staff reviewed previous site plan (single driveway access on Yorktown) vs. revised site plan (secondary 

driveway onto Cabarrus Ave.) and discussed RFP history (reaching out to multiple developers/builders) and only 
receiving Jim Potter’s offer for townhouses; Mr. Hooten noted that the only real way for the historic 
neighborhoods to maintain low-density, single-family detached housing patterns would be to develop a fund to 
purchase vacant lots; Planning staff agreed with his assessment. 

 

 

 



3 
 

In-Person Meeting between Citizens and City officials, 2/11/16 
• A meeting was held February 11 at 1:30 p.m. at City Hall to discuss the project and Yorktown St. traffic 

operations/parking.  Attending the meeting were : 
o Steve Osborne, Deputy Planning Director 
o Margaret Pearson, Planning Director 
o Brian Hiatt, City Manager 
o Scott Padgett, Mayor 
o Al Brown, Concord City Council/Grove St. resident 
o Barbara Sheppard, Yorktown St. resident 
o Joe Hunter, resident at corner of Yorktown & Grove St. 
o Steve Morris, Cabarrus County Commission/Georgia St. resident 
o Christie Celetti, Yorktown St. resident 

• Citing citizen concerns for possibly finding a single-family detached homebuilder, the rezoning was removed 
from the 2/16/16 Planning & Zoning Commission agenda and tabled until the 3/15/16 Planning & Zoning 
Commission meeting. 

Phone Call: Karen Gronli inquiry of rezoning with Scott Adams (City of Concord) 2/18/16 
• Karen Gronli, in Arizona for indeterminate amount of time, called to inquire on status of project since she 

missed the 2/16/16 scheduled Planning & Zoning Commission meeting. 
• Planning staff noted that City Council tabled the rezoning and removed it from Planning & Zoning Commission 

meeting (for 2/16/16) after a 2/11/16 meeting with citizens.  Staff noted that the rezoning is scheduled for 
Planning & Zoning Commission’s 3/15/16 meeting. 

• Ms. Gronli’s offer to purchase the remainder of 68 Cabarrus Ave.W., in addition to Jim Potter’s offer on both 
68 Cabarrus Ave. W. and 74-78 Cabarrus Ave., will not be considered by City Council until their 4/14/16 
meeting at the earliest. 

In-Person Meeting between Kevin and Casey Killough and Scott Adams, Steve Osborne 
(City of Concord) 2/25/16 

• Mr. and Mrs. Killough noted that misunderstanding about the project has been spread via neighborhood-based 
petitions. 

• Planning staff clarified that the existing renderings are massing models and do not represent any architectural 
elements (i.e. brick, siding, roof lines, etc.).  Architectural elements will be reviewed and approved by the 
Historic Preservation Commission (HPC). 

• Mr. and Mrs. Killough noted that the most realistic redevelopment scenario for 74-78 Cabarrus Ave. W. is 
townhomes, given the demographics (Millennials, Baby Boomers) and general interest in low-maintenance 
housing options (i.e. little/no yard to maintain, minimal exterior house maintenance required). 

 

 



4 
 

In-Person Meeting between Marshall Ward, Bill Patten, Councilmember Alfred M. Brown 
Jr. and Scott Adams, Steve Osborne, Margaret Pearson (City of Concord) 3/8/16 

• Mr. Ward presented a written list of questions/concerns, including whether or not the proposed CC zoning was 
adjacent to existing zoning; Staff noted that zoning polygons run to street centerlines, making the proposed 
rezoning to CC legal since the properties across Cabarrus Ave. W. are zoned CC. 
 

• Mr.Ward took issue with the proposed townhomes having back-of-sidewalk setbacks ranging from 20 feet to 8 
feet, citing that most surrounding setbacks are 30 feet.  Staff noted that the proposed setbacks are site-specific 
in response to concerns from Bill and Rebecca Patten (90 Cabarrus Ave.).  Staff showed a development 
scenario assuming Residential Compact (RC) zoning, which would require 20 foot setbacks on both frontages 
of Yorktown St. NW and Cabarrus Ave. NW, pushing the building footprint south and west, precluding the 
ability to have a secondary driveway access onto Cabarrus Ave. W. (requested by neighbors) and removing 4 
guest parking spaces along the rear driveway. 
 

• Mr. Ward and Mr. Patten expressed concern that townhomes would not reach a price point of $135/SF, and 
would more likely be $90-100/SF.  They also asked if nearby neighbors would actively market the property to 
real estate agents and related entities to build single family detached homes on the site.  Staff reiterated that 
the RFP for the property was distributed via direct mailing, plus general marketing/distribution, to a range of 
single-family detached homebuilders in Cabarrus County and other residential developers across the Charlotte 
region.  Staff noted that no active offer for single-family detached housing has been made on the site; the only 
other inquiries have been for commercial or townhome development. 

In-Person Meeting between Charles Gressle, Jr. (17 Yorktown St. NW) and Steve Osborne, 
(City of Concord) 3/10/16 
Steve Osborne met with Charles Gressle, who lives at 17 Yorktown St. (property immediately behind 74-78 Cabarrus 
Ave. W.) to discuss the project’s updated site plan (i.e. secondary driveway access onto Cabarrus Ave. W.) 

Next Steps 
• Planning & Zoning Commission will consider the rezoning at their 3/15/16 meeting. 
• City Council may consider offers to purchase property (74-78 Cabarrus Ave. W.) at their 4/14/16 meeting. 



2

Previously Submitted for 1/19/16 Planning & Zoning Commission
64 Cabarrus Ave.
(Karen Gronli)



3

To Be Submitted for 3/15/16 Planning & Zoning Commission
64 Cabarrus Ave.
(Karen Gronli)



4

90 Cabarrus Ave.
(Rebecca Patten)

All models are for height/massing purposes only, not detailed architecture.  Historic 
Preservation Commission will review detailed architecture (i.e. materials, roof pitch/style, etc.)



5

All models are for height/massing purposes only, not detailed architecture.  Historic 
Preservation Commission will review detailed architecture (i.e. materials, roof pitch/style, etc.)



6

All models are for height/massing purposes only, not detailed architecture.  Historic 
Preservation Commission will review detailed architecture (i.e. materials, roof pitch/style, etc.)



7

90 Cabarrus Ave.
(Rebecca Patten)









1 | P a g e   

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION MEETING 
MINUTES 

Wednesday, November 8, 2023 
 

 
Members    
Present: William Isenhour 
  James Firth 
  Steve Bradley 
  Mary Margaret Underwood 
  John Eury 
    
Alternate  
Members: Randy Hopkins 
     
Members  
Absent: Carolyn Coggins 
  Meredith Barbee 
    
Attorney to 
Commission:  Tinisha St. Brice 
    
Staff    
Present: Kevin Ashley, Deputy Director, Planning & Neighborhood Development 

Autumn James, Planning and Development Manager 
Kim Wallis, Senior Planner 
Deirdre Connellan, Sr. Executive Assistant 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 
Chair Isenhour called the November 8, 2023, Historic Preservation Commission meeting to order at 6:08 p.m. 
 
CHANGES TO THE AGENDA: 
 
There were no changes to the agenda. 
 
INTRODUCTIONS: 
 
Commissioners Randy Hopkins, James Firth, Mary Margaret Underwood, Steve Bradley, Chair William Isenhour 
and John Eury introduced themselves to the audience. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to approve the minutes from the October meeting.  Commissioner Eury seconded 
the motion. –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
ADMINISTRATION OF THE OATH: 
 
Chair Isenhour swore in those wishing to speak before the Commission. 
 

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit G



2 | P a g e   

 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
H-23-23 (QUASI-JUDICIAL HEARING) FOREST HILL UNITED METHODIST CHURCH HAS 
SUBMITTED A CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION FOR THE REMOVAL AND 
REPLACEMENT OF 8 TREES AND THE INSTALLATION OF NEW LANDSCAPING AT THE NORTH 
PARKING LOT AT THE CORNER OF UNION ST N AND BUFFALO ST NW AT 265 UNION ST N. PIN 
5621-60-3553. 
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to open the public hearing. Commissioner Hopkins seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Kim Wallis introduced the case to the Commission. 
 
The subject property, Forest Hill United Methodist Church at 265 Union Street N., is designated as a Pivotal (P) 
structure, and is in the North Union Street Historic District (Exhibit A). Listed as Forest Hill Methodist Church at 
41 Buffalo Avenue, N.W.: “Impressive brick Gothic style church erected for the first congregation established for 
textile mill workers in Concord. Church consists of steeply pitched, gable-front nave; a three-stage tower with a 
steeple that is built into but projects from the nave; and a three-and-a-half-story education wing, erected in 1923, 
which is set perpendicular to the nave along the rear of the church's west side. The church is laid up in 1:5 common 
bond and has handsome corbeled cornices along the front and sides of the nave and on the tower. The steep pitch of 
the nave's roof, the lancet-arched window openings, and the buttresses flanking the nave and tower combine to give 
the design its Gothic flavor. The church has fine stained glass and much of its original interior detail. The building 
was constructed in 1889, remodeled and enlarged in 1923 (Exhibit A). 
 
On October 16, 2023, Forest Hill United Methodist Church applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness under 
Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 requesting the removal and replacement of 8 trees and the installation 
of new landscaping at the north parking lot at the corner of Union St N and Buffalo St NW at 265 Union St N 
(Exhibit B). 
 
The applicant has stated that at the July 12, 2023, meeting, the HPC approved the removal of two (2) Bradford pear 
trees in the north parking lot at the corner of Union Street S and Buffalo Avenue NW (Case #H-14-23, COA 2432). 
After closer examination it was determined that 9 more Bradford Pear trees in the parking lot (8 needing HPC 
approval) should be removed, and a new planting plan implemented. Church staff worked with the City’s Arborist 
who developed a landscape plan making the best use of the available space with the appropriate species. This 
plan will provide for a mix of canopy trees, small ornamental trees and shrubs that will properly utilize the 
available planting islands. Additionally, the replanting will not conflict with existing overhead utilities and not 
damage the island curbs and street sidewalks (Exhibits D & M). 
Bill Leake, City Arborist, filled out a Tree Risk Assessment Form for each tree on September 13, 2023, determined 
that all of the trees had a Hazard Rating of 4, and commented as follows: 
Tree #1: “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the species and a small area of decay at 
the first branch union.” DBH 21” Height 20’ Spread 35’ (Exhibit E). 
Tree #2: “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the species. There is dieback in several 
upper branches.” DBH 23.5” Height 20’ Spread 25’ (Exhibit F) 
Tree #3: “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the species. There is dieback in several 
upper branches.” DBH 21.5” Height 20’ Spread 25’ (Exhibit G). 
Tree #4: “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the species.” DBH 19” Height 20’ Spread 
30’ (Exhibit H). 



3 | P a g e   

Tree #5: “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the species.” DBH 21” Height 20’ Spread 
25’ (Exhibit I) 
Tree #6: “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the species. This is dieback on several 
upper branches.” DBH 19” Height 15’ Spread 20’ (Exhibit J). 
Tree #9: “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the species. This is dieback on several 
upper branches.” DBH 14.5” Height 12’ Spread 15’ (Exhibit K). 
Tree #10: “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the species.” DBH 19” Height 20’ Spread 
30’ (Exhibit L). 
Tree #7 does not need a removal permit as it is less than 6” in diameter. Trees #8 & #11 were previously approved 
by the HPC for removal due to decline from weak branch unions as is typical of Bradford Pear trees and from small 
soil volume and high surface temperatures of parking lot islands. (Exhibit M). 
The landscape plan for the parking lot indicates replanting four (4) canopy trees (Willow Oak or Red Maple) and 
twelve (12) new small evergreen shrubs at the parking lot perimeter along Union St N, two (2) understory trees 
(Trident Maple) and six (6) new small evergreen shrubs at the parking lot perimeter along Buffalo Ave NW, one 
canopy tree (Red Maple) and one ornamental tree (Flowering Dogwood or Eastern Redbud) and groundcover in the 
interior parking lot planting island, and two (2) ornamental trees (Flowering Dogwood or Eastern Redbud) to the 
west side of the parking lot (Exhibit D). 
 
The replacement trees and new shrubs shown on the landscape plan will additionally serve to meet the City of 
Concord’s Development Ordinance landscaping requirements for parking lots and street trees. 
 
Sydney Yin of 625 Union St. S., stepped up to the podium. Ms. Yin works at Forest Hill United Methodist Church. 
This is great for the parking lot because the parking lot is severely damaged from the roots and branches have fallen 
on awnings and with detailed landscaping plan, she is eager for it to get started. 
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to close the public hearing. Commissioner Eury seconded the motion.  The vote 
carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 
1. The subject property is located at 265 Union Street N, Concord, NC. The owners are Trustees of Forest Hill 

United Methodist Church, who acquired the property by deed recorded in Cabarrus County Register of Deeds 
Book 2350, Page 360, as recorded on November 5, 1998. 

2. The subject property is in the O-I-CU (Office Institutional - Conditional Use) zoning district and is in the North 
Union Street Historic District. 

3. The subject property is designated as a “Pivotal” structure in the Concord Historic Districts Handbook (June 
2001 ed.), (the “Handbook”) Chapter 3 (Exhibit A).  

4. The Handbook is an ordinance of the City of Concord duly adopted by the City Council and incorporated into 
the Code of Ordinances by reference. 

5. On October 16, 2023, Reverend Justin Snyder on behalf of Forest Hill United Methodist Church applied for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness under Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 for the removal of eight (8) 
Bradford Pear trees to be replaced with four (4) canopy trees (Willow Oak or Red Maple) and twelve (12) new 
small evergreen shrubs at the parking lot perimeter along Union St N, two (2) understory trees (Trident Maple) 
and six (6) new small evergreen shrubs at the parking lot perimeter along Buffalo Ave NW, one (1) canopy tree 
(Red Maple) and one (1) ornamental tree (Flowering Dogwood or Eastern Redbud) and groundcover in the 
interior parking lot planting island, and two (2) ornamental trees (Flowering Dogwood or Eastern Redbud) to the 
west side of the parking lot at the north parking lot at the corner of Union St N and Buffalo St NW at 265 Union 
St N (Exhibit B).  

6. Staff provided a Re-landscaping Plan and Landscape Plan (Exhibit D). 
7. Staff provided tree risk assessments and images of the eight (8) trees to be removed (Exhibits E,F,G,H,I,J,K,L). 



4 | P a g e   

8. Tree #1- Bradford Pear – Risk Rating 4. “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the 
species and a small area of decay at the first branch union.” DBH 21” Height 20’ Spread 35’ (Exhibit E). 

9. Tree #2- Bradford Pear – Risk Rating 4. “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the 
species. There is dieback in several upper branches.” DBH 23.5” Height 20’ Spread 25’ (Exhibit F). 

10. Tree #3: - Bradford Pear – Risk Rating 4. “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the 
species. There is dieback in several upper branches.” DBH 21.5” Height 20’ Spread 25’ (Exhibit G). 

11. Tree #4- Bradford Pear – Risk Rating 4. “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the 
species.” DBH 19” Height 20’ Spread 30’ (Exhibit H). 

12. Tree #5- Bradford Pear – Risk Rating 4. “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the 
species.” DBH 21” Height 20’ Spread 25’ (Exhibit I). 

13. Tree #6- Bradford Pear – Risk Rating 4. “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the 
species. This is dieback on several upper branches.” DBH 19” Height 15’ Spread 20’ (Exhibit J). 

14. Tree #9- Bradford Pear – Risk Rating 4. “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the 
species. This is dieback on several upper branches.” DBH 14.5” Height 12’ Spread 15’ (Exhibit K). 

15. Tree #10- Bradford Pear – Risk Rating 4. “This mature pear tree has weak branch unions as is typical of the 
species.”  DBH 19” Height 20’ Spread 30’ (Exhibit L). 

16. The landscape plan for the parking lot indicates replacing the eight (8) Bradford Pear trees with four (4) canopy 
trees (Willow Oak or Red Maple) and twelve (12) new small evergreen shrubs at the parking lot perimeter along 
Union St N, two (2) understory trees (Trident Maple) and six (6) new small evergreen shrubs at the parking lot 
perimeter along Buffalo Ave NW, one canopy tree (Red Maple) and one ornamental tree (Flowering Dogwood 
or Eastern Redbud) and groundcover in the interior parking lot planting island, and two (2) ornamental trees 
(Flowering Dogwood or Eastern Redbud) to the west side of the parking lot (Exhibit D). Tree #7 on the plan 
does not need a removal permit as it is less than 6” in diameter. Trees #8 & #11 noted on the plan were previously 
approved by the HPC for removal (Case #H-14-23, COA 2432) and have been removed (Exhibit M). 

17. The replacement trees and new shrubs shown on the landscape plan will serve to meet the City of Concord’s 
Development Ordinance landscaping requirements for parking lots and street trees.  

18. The applicant is requesting to remove the trees stating that they are diseased and dangerous to pedestrians using 
the street and parking lot. 

 
Commissioner Firth moved to approve the Findings of Fact with an amendment replacing the witness Mandy Jones 
with Ms. Sydney Yin. Commissioner Underwood seconded the motion. –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW: 
 
1. This matter is properly before the Commission pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-400.7, et seq. and the 

Concord Development Ordinance. 
 

2. Pursuant to the Handbook, Approval Requirement Needs Table 
• Removal of healthy trees (hazard rating of four (4) or lower) or pruning of limbs over six (6) inches in 

diameter in any location on the property require Commission Hearing and Approval.  
 
3. Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 5 - Section 8: Landscaping and Trees 

• One of the most visible features of the district is the landscaping and the associated tree canopy. Activities 
which negatively impact any aspect of the landscape should be avoided, such as the removal of healthy trees 
and mature shrubs. 

• All trees that are removed shall be replaced with a tree of similar species in an appropriate location unless 
no suitable location exists on the subject site. Trees removed within street view must also have the stumps 
removed below ground level. 

• Tree health may be decided upon by the acquisition of a Tree Hazard Evaluation Report issued by the City 
Arborist or a report submitted by a certified arborist. 



5 | P a g e   

• Trees which are removed shall be replaced by a species which, upon maturity, is similar in scale to the 
removed specimen. 

 
Design Standards: Landscaping and Trees 

• Trees which are removed shall be replaced by a species which, upon maturity, is similar in scale to the 
removed specimen. For example, canopy trees shall be replaced with canopy trees, and understory trees with 
understory trees. 

 
4. The following criteria shall be considered, when relevant, by the Commission in reviewing applications for a 

Certificate of Appropriateness. All applications for Certificates of Appropriateness shall be subject to review 
based upon the Design Guidelines then in effect.  These guidelines are set forth in a manual prepared and adopted 
by the Commission: 
• lot coverage, defined as the percentage of lot area covered by primary structures; 
• setback, defined as the distance from the lot lines to the building(s); 
• building height; 
• exterior building materials; 
• proportion, shape, positioning, location, pattern and sizes of any elements of fenestration; 
• surface textures; 
• structural condition and soundness; 
• walls--physical ingredients, such as brick, stone or wood walls, wrought iron fences, evergreen landscape 

masses, building facades, or combination of these; 
• color (new construction only and not for existing residences); and 
• effect of trees and other landscape elements. 

 
5. The application is congruous with the historic aspects of the District. 

6. Based on the standards of the Handbook, the Commission concludes that: 
 

A. The removal of eight (8) Bradford Pear trees from the Church’s north parking lot at the corner of Union Street 
N and Buffalo Avenue NW, with stumps removed below ground level, and replaced with eight (8) canopy and 
understory trees and eighteen (18) new evergreen shrubs in the same general vicinity in the parking lot, 
according to the arborist’s recommendations in the submitted landscape plan is appropriate as the trees 
removed within street view will be removed below ground level, will be replaced with a tree of similar species 
within the same vicinity on the property and is in compliance with the Historic Handbook. 

Commissioner Firth made a motion to approve the Conclusions of Law as amended. Commissioner Eury seconded 
the motion.  The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to approve the Certificate of Appropriateness and Commissioner Underwood 
seconded the motion.  The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
H-15-22 (QUASI-JUDICIAL HEARING) JIM POTTER HAS SUBMITTED A CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION FOR CONSTRUCTION OF A SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE AT 
68 CABARRUS AVE W. PIN 5620-87-0595. 
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to open the public hearing. Commissioner Hopkins seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Kim Wallis introduced the case to the commission. 



6 | P a g e   

 
On April 9, 2022, Jim Potter/Old Towne Development applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness under Concord 
Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 to construct a two-story single-family home, with a rear patio, and detached 
garage. Additionally, the application is requesting the removal of two trees (Exhibit B). 
 
The proposed residence will have a brick stem wall foundation with 8.5-inch fiber cement lap siding, and 
architectural shingles and the garage will be on a monolithic slab foundation with 8.5-inch fiber cement lap siding 
with architectural shingles. The applicant has provided detailed specifications of the project related to the materials 
to be used. The exterior siding will be James Hardie cement based or equivalent brand; Tampco Virginia Slate 
Architectural Shingles; Camden Brick by Triangle Brick; windows will be white aluminum clad, wood with SDL 
(Simulated Divided Lites) grids; the garage will also have James Hardie cement based or equivalent brand siding; 
the proposed privacy wall will be 8.5-inch fiber cement lap siding over a 2x4 stud framed wall; the proposed concrete 
patio (12x20) will be poured concrete. 
 
The applicant is additionally requesting to remove two trees from the property: one (1) crape myrtle (Lagerstroemia 
indica) and one (1) pecan (Cara Illinoensis). The crape myrtle (DBH 16”, Height 25’, Spread 15’) is located on the 
north side of the parcel and is noted to have some dead branches in the crown typical of old myrtles that were topped 
in the past. The risk rating for this tree is calculated as a three (3). The pecan tree (DBH 19”, Height 55’, Spread 
30’) is also located on the north side of the parcel and it is noted to have no structural defects or concerns above the 
normal for a health tree of this tree species. The risk rating for this tree is calculated as a four (4). Both assessments 
were performed by the City Arborist. 
 
Commissioner Underwood asked if there was a plan submitted for the trees that need to be replaced.  Ms. Wallis 
stated that the applicant was available to answer questions, but nothing was submitted for tree replacements.  
 
The applicant, Jim Potter, stepped up to the podium.  Commissioner Underwood asked if there was a landscape plan 
submitted as part of the proposal and asked if there was room on the site for landscaping. She stated that if you take 
two trees down, they need to be replaced.  Mr. Potter stated that there is room on the site for trees and he can put 
two trees in along Yorktown. Mr. Potter stated that he took a large tree down on Cabarrus Ave. and he said he could 
replace that tree. He stated that there is room for a few more trees. 
 
Commissioner Underwood asked if the fence between the garage and the house was painted and asked about the 
material.  Mr. Potter said it is a frame wall similar to what you would build a house out of – 2x4 studs, and the inside 
and outside is the same siding that is on the house. It is basically a wall. Commissioner Firth asked if the foundation 
was brick and Mr. Potter answered yes.  It is a raised slab foundation.  
 
Chair Isenhour asked if Mr. Potter would be willing to agree to a condition to replant the two trees that will be taken 
down with something similar. Mr. Potter said, absolutely.  Commissioner Firth asked about the windows and if there 
were aluminum clad. Mr. Potter stated that they are and are the same windows that were used at his previous project 
located on the other side of the street.  Commissioner Firth asked if the home across the street is in the Historic 
District and Mr. Potter stated, yes.  Commissioner Underwood asked if there was a reason why Mr. Potter isn’t using 
wood. Mr. Potter stated it is due to future maintenance. It would be hard to tell the difference between a painted 
window and a clad window. A clad window will last a lot longer as far as appearance goes. The clad windows were 
used on the 3 duplexes. Commissioner Underwood asked if that was a sticking point because she stated that everyone 
else on the street has wood windows.  
 
Chair Isenhour asked Mr. Potter if there was a condition to the proposed plan to require wood windows, would you 
be ok with that, and Mr. Potter stated, yes. 
 



7 | P a g e   

Ms. Karen Gronli of 64 Cabarrus Ave. stepped up to the podium. She lives at the property next to the proposed 
single-family home. She stated that she has been concerned from the beginning about the driveway because there 
used to be a house on the property many years ago and it burned down. At that time, the two owners shared a 
driveway. It is unclear to Ms. Gronli if she is going to lose driveway access to her property.  Another concern is the 
distance between her house and the new house.  It seems like there should be a fence not between his house and 
garage but in between the entire properties. She stated the condos that he spoke of are not technically in the Historic 
district and she is quite certain that if she had to make changes to her house, she would have to use wooden windows 
for example.  She would have to stick to the regulations. She needs to know if she will lose her driveway and if there 
will be privacy between the two houses.   
 
Chair Isenhour asked about the space between 64 and 68 Cabarrus Ave. West.  Ms. Gronli stated that it used to be a 
shed and is too small for storage, but cars can park on the pavement in that area. Although they are adjoining, there 
is no gate or access to the two properties at this time.  She may have to apply to change her fence at that time.  There 
is not enough room to put a driveway into that yard. Commissioner Underwood asked if the shared driveway was 
on Ms. Gronli’s deed.  If it is on her deed then, it’s her property.  Ms. Gronli stated that she parks her car on the 
grassy area near her home.  There is not a paved driveway there. She has been entering from Cabarrus and exiting 
on the pavement from the previous house but that will be gone. She will hopefully have enough room to backout.   
 
Commissioner Underwood stated that Ms. Gronli needs to get the deed to her home to see if that parcel of land is on 
her deed.  The Commission does not have jurisdiction over land ownership regarding the driveway. Attorney St. 
Brice stated if the land she was speaking of is on her property, then she will have access to that property. Ms. Gronli 
asked how close Mr. Potter’s home will come to hers so she can figure out the driveway issue.  Ms. Gronli asked if 
there was a setback and Commissioner Underwood stated yes, it looks like there is a setback of 8 ft.  Chair Isenhour 
stated that the setbacks are not something that the Commission controls and would need to be addressed with the 
city through the planning and zoning process.  
 
Chair Isenhour stated that Ms. Gronli’s property might encroach on the new property a bit. However, what is being 
proposed today should not affect access. For the fence, the way the handbook is written is that a privacy fence only 
works in backyards and side yards from the middle part of the house and back.  There is not a fence proposed along 
the shared property line and the street.  It is not required and based on the handbook, could not be 6 ft tall.  
Commissioner Underwood stated that the Commission cannot make Mr. Potter put in a privacy fence.  Ms. Gronli 
stated that she thought the Commission could make requests of the applicant. Commissioner Underwood stated that 
the Commission could talk to Mr. Potter about the fence that he wants to propose but the Commission can’t make 
him put up a privacy fence.  Ms. Gronli stated when the homes were built across the street, Mr. Potter was required 
to put up some bushes all the way up to the front of the street.  
 
The applicant was asked to step up to the podium again. Chair Isenhour asked if Mr. Potter knew of any issues with 
the driveway at 64 Cabarrus Ave. W. Mr. Potter stated that he wasn’t sure how far off the property line Ms. Gronli’s 
house sits and he did not know what the gap would be between the two houses. There is an 8 ft setback. Chair 
Isenhour stated that he would have thought a property survey would have been completed showing the improvements 
and if the driveway encroached a foot or two onto his property. Mr. Potter stated that the city owned the lot and Mr. 
Potter purchased the lot from the city and a survey was done on it. Chair Isenhour stated that Mr. Potter’s home will 
be 8 ft off and the fence will be at the house line. Chair Isenhour stated the Mr. Potter’s property will not be within 
8 ft of Ms. Gronli’s property anyway and there are no plans to do anything in that 8 ft correct?  Mr. Potter said, no.  
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to close the public hearing. Commissioner Underwood seconded the motion. –
The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Chair Isenhour stated that in the Findings of Fact the applicant has not suggested replacement trees due to there 
being no suitable location and insufficient space to plant replacements but in Mr. Potter’s testimony, he said that 



8 | P a g e   

they could be replaced. Commissioner Underwood asked about the fence and if there has to be some landscaping to 
have that within two years to soften it. She said she does not see that. Ms. Wallis stated that the landscaping was not 
proposed. Chair Isenhour asked if the landscaping needs to be completed within 2 years is in the handbook.  Ms. 
Wallis pulled up the information about fences from the Historic Handbook and read it to the Commission. It stated 
that portions of rear yard fences that face the street should be landscaped with shrubs and trees of a planting size that 
will fully hide the fence from the street within two years.  Size, type and growth habits of plant materials to screen 
rear yard fences that face the street should be submitted at time of application. Chair Isenhour stated that there was 
not a landscaping plan submitted by Mr. Potter. Chair Isenhour also stated that if this needs to be added then the 
plans should be resubmitted with additional information. The privacy fence will be on both sides of the house and 
driveway so it will be visible from Yorktown and the other side would not be.  
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to re-open the public hearing. Commissioner Underwood seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Mr. Potter stepped up to the podium and asked if there was a difference between a fence and a patio wall.  He stated 
that the material is the same as the house. Commissioner Underwood asked if Mr. Potter had a landscape plan at all.  
Mr. Potter stated that he doesn’t. Commissioner Underwood asked if a landscape plan was required for new builds 
and Mr. Kevin Ashley stated that it is not typically required for single-family homes. Mr. Ashley said that a certain 
number of trees are typically required by the mortgage companies in terms of single-family home new construction. 
Chair Isenhour stated since there is a 6 ft privacy wall, that is where the handbook applies. 
  
Commissioner Hopkins asked if Mr. Potter had to come before the Commission to get prior approval for the town 
home lots that have been built across the street.  Mr. Potter stated, yes. He stated for the three duplexes he did 
complete a site plan or landscape plan. Mr. Potter stated that he could do a landscape plan for this project.   
 
Ms. Gronli stepped up to the podium again and said she couldn’t help but notice that chapter 5, section 1, page 25 
states that careful consideration should be given to the placement of landscaping and retention of mature trees. She 
asked that more be discussed in terms of the landscaping requirements. 
 
Chair Isenhour asked the Commission if the applicant will be required to have a landscaping plan and if the applicant 
would be willing to have one. Commissioner Firth asked if the Findings of Fact could be amended but Chair Isenhour 
said he didn’t think so.  It would need to be agreed on in the meeting that a landscape plan is needed, and a new 
submittal will need to be completed. Attorney St. Brice stated that a site plan will need to be submitted along with 
the application, which would require the submission of a new application. 
 
Mr. Potter stepped up to the podium again.  Chair Isenhour stated that the consensus is that a landscape plan will 
need to be submitted before approvals can be made and the case will be continued until the regularly scheduled 
December meeting.  Chair Isenhour clarified that a landscape plan will need to be created to show the placement of 
the two new trees and landscaping that will be planted along the privacy wall that will offset it within two years. Mr. 
Potter agreed that he will submit a landscaping plan for the two trees and shrubbery along the fence.  
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to continue this case to the December 13th, 2023, meeting. Commissioner 
Underwood seconded the motion.  
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to close the public hearing. Commissioner Underwood seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
H-14-22 (QUASI-JUDICIAL HEARING) JIM POTTER HAS SUBMITTED A CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THREE (3), TWO-STORY 
TOWNHOMES TO BE LOCATED AT 74, 76, & 78 CABARRUS AVE W. PIN 5620-87-0418. 



9 | P a g e   

 
Autumn James introduced the case to the Commission.  
 
The subject property at 74, 76 and 78 Cabarrus Ave. W. is a vacant lot within the North Union Street Historic 
District. On April 13, 2022, Jim Potter with Old Towne Development applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness 
under Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 to construct three (3), two-story townhomes with detached two 
(2) car garages (Exhibit B). Previously, the property was occupied by an approximately 3,500 square foot 
nonconforming commercial multi-tenant building and was held by a private party owner. The subject property was 
the site of various nuisance complaints through Concord Police Department. In November 2014, the City purchased 
the property with the intention of more compatible redevelopment in the future. The structure was demolished in 
January 2015 and the site has been vacant since. Ms. James also stated that it is not in the Commission’s purview to 
consider the land use of the property as that was decided by the City Council with the conditional district rezoning 
request. 
 

The subject property was rezoned in 2016 to CC-CD (Center City – Conditional District) with the 
following conditions: 

1. Use limited to no more than four (4) +/- 1,700 square foot two-story townhome units; 
2. Rear parking; 
3. Detached rear loaded garages; 
4. Two (2) front courtyards and two (2) front stoops along with rear courtyards; 
5. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown St NW; 
6. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Ave W; and 
7. 6’ tall privacy fence along the adjoining property lines. 

 
The applicant proposes: 

1. Three (3) +/- 1,800 square foot two-story townhome units – approximately 22’ x 41’ each; 
2. Rear parking providing four (4) spaces along rear property line; 
3. Detached, rear loaded two (2) car garages – approximately 22’ x 23’ each; 
4. Two (2) front courtyards for the end units and one (1) front stoop for the middle unit; 
5. Rear courtyards – approximately 22’ x 13’ each; 
6. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown St NW; 
7. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Ave W; and 
8. 6’ tall privacy fence along the adjoining property lines – wood and painted white  
9. Remaining portion of the left property line to the existing sidewalk will be evergreen plants for 

screening. 
10. Exterior materials to include cement composite lap siding (James Hardie or equivalent) for 

siding and trim 
11. Old colony style brick front entry doors will be painted fiberglass which will be the color 

coordinated with the siding  
12. Windows will be double hung, white aluminum clad, wood with simulated divided lite grids 
13. Roofing will include Tampco Virginia slate 30-year architectural shingles.  

 
Chair Isenhour asked if there was a landscaping plan submitted with this and Mrs. James responded that there was 
not. As with the previous case, the first issue will be landscaping around the fences.  Mr. Potter stepped up to the 
podium. He stated that he does not have a landscaping plan but he was going to put the shrubbery near the driveway. 
Commissioner Underwood asked what side of the fence will the shrubbery be on? Mr. Potter stated that the fence 
starts midway back from the garage wall.  Commissioner Underwood asked if there were plans for shrubbery around 
the fence and Mr. Potter stated that he did not have a plan for that. Commissioner Underwood clarified with Attorney 
St. Brice about the landscaping anywhere on the fence or just the front. Attorney St. Brice stated that the Handbook 
says the shrubbery should be used to soften the fence anywhere along the street where it is visible.  



10 | P a g e   

 
Mr. Potter stated that if shrubbery is placed along the fence, it will make it hard to go back and paint that later on 
but if it is required, it can be put in the landscape plan. Mr. Potter asked if a fence is on a corner lot, does it have to 
be painted white or similar to the trim of the house. Chair Isenhour said right, a trim color. Chair Isenhour said your 
proposal is white.  Mr. Potter said it would be the trim color of the house which would be an off white not a stark 
white.  
 
Mr. John Lienweber of 96 Cabarrus Ave W. stepped up to the podium.  He lives one house away from the proposed 
townhomes.  Mr. Lienweber stated that he has lived there with his wife since 2017. Prior to that, they lived in the 
Wesley Heights Historic district in Charlotte. They have witnessed firsthand how new construction can enhance and 
detract from the charm of the historical district.  The Historic Handbook outlines three key principles that are 
essential to preserving the historic district. The first is civic pride. The historic district is a source of great pride for 
the community and is recognized as a valuable asset. The second is maintaining integrity. The Historic Preservation 
objective is to work with developers and residents to achieve the goals of preserving the historic integrity of the 
neighborhoods. The last principle is respecting the past.  
 
As members of this unique community, there is a responsibility to respect the past as we progress forward. The 
Historic Preservation acknowledges that there are only a handful of undeveloped lots left in the Historic district. 
These lots hold the key to the future. Mr. Lienweber said from his personal experience, he can attest that Wesley 
Heights has successfully maintained the historic feel throughout the approach of new construction, however, on 
some blocks, the proliferation of high occupancy buildings has somewhat diminished the neighborhood charm 
transforming it into a more transient area. Certain sections of the district are suitable for high density growth in 
Concord such as the apartments going up in downtown and that promises to bring high population density as well 
as amenities that may be desired for all of us which include restaurants and local shops. Mr. Lienweber stated that 
his personal concern is around chapter 5, section 1 to be summarized as the following: inconsistent construction.   
 
The proposed construction does not harmonize in terms of the material, scale, size, site position, and spatial 
relationship details with the immediate neighbors such as the Patten’s that are next door nor does it align with the 
broader community which this site is an integral piece. The block of homes that stretch from Cabarrus Ave. W. to 
Yorktown Street, then down Grove and back up Georgia possess a unique identity defined by its single-family 
homes. These homes contribute significantly to the Historic charm representing a specific architectural style of the 
area.  
 
Another issue is traffic concerns. Yorktown Street is one way and accommodates the families of many young 
children and the introduction of townhomes will inevitably increase traffic on a road that is ill suited for such a 
purpose. The next issue is disruption of community cohesion.  The existing single-family homes have fostered a 
strong sense of community and social cohesion among its residents over the years as you see here today. The 
introduction of townhomes which generally cater to more transient occupants may disrupt the established social 
dynamics and community bonds. This could lead to a less desirable living environment where neighbors may not 
share the same sense of belonging or long-term investment in the community.  
 
The next issue is the loss of historical balance. These districts are renowned for their historical significance and 
should be safeguarded against inappropriate development. The existing townhomes that are currently across the 
street deviate from the architectural style of the neighborhood, setting a precedent for the negative impact that 
incongruent architectural designs can have on the overall aesthetic appeal and harmony of the area.  
 
Constructing additional townhomes would only exacerbate the inconsistencies and further erode the architectural 
integrity of the neighborhood as a whole. In conclusion, the construction of the townhomes would only be counter 
to the preservation goals outlined in Chapter 5 jeopardizing the neighborhood of its unique character defined by its 



11 | P a g e   

unique single-family homes. The introduction of townhomes that diverge from the established architectural style 
threatens the neighborhood’s historical balance and disrupts community cohesion. This could potentially lead to 
diminished property values, and it is imperative to adhere to the historic guidelines safeguarding this neighborhood 
and the unique district as we ensure long-term stability.  
 
Ms. Lyne Goode of 32 Yorktown Street NW., stepped up to the podium. She stated that she has lived there for 10 
years. She stated that she chose to purchase her home in the historic district knowing that her home and property 
would be held to a certain standard. If we ask Concord historic homeowners to build a retaining wall to protect their 
yard from erosion and protect it from washing away or if we as Concord historic district homeowners want to build 
a fence surrounding her backyard to allow the family dog a safe space to run and play, if we as Concord historic 
homeowners want to replace two rotted windows to match the other two windows in the home, if we as Concord 
historic district homeowners want to have a tree removed which roots have caused such devastating flooding in our 
homes that the foundation is crumbling, if we as Concord historic district homeowners want to continue an existing 
wall that has bordered our home for over 50 years to surround our whole front yard, we all must obtain a Certificate 
of Appropriateness.  
 
This process requires us to submit an application to the commission at least 28 days prior to a regularly scheduled 
commission meeting along with the application fee. This application must clearly describe the proposed work and 
should include all supporting materials. If the work involves a change to the appearance of a structure or alteration 
of a major feature, detailed sketches and scaled elevation drawings are necessary. For new construction including 
accessory structures and additions, detailed sketches and scaled elevation drawings are also required along with a 
site plan and if required by the zoning ordinance, a landscaping plan. Improvements such as parking lots, driveways, 
and walks should be indicated on the survey of the property.   
 
Samples of materials, photographs, paint chips, manufactured illustrations and other relevant exhibits should be 
provided where appropriate. This information is shared not to complain about the onerous process but to remind the 
committee that we as Concord historic district homeowners must all abide by these regulations and processes. For 
many of us, doing this has created frustrations and hardships. However, we do this because we believe these 
regulations and processes are the right way to go. We are sure that you can imagine how frustrating it is that 
approving Mr. Potter’s townhomes, as he has proposed, means the historical district committee, the decision-makers 
would not be requiring Mr. Potter to follow the same regulations and processes that they themselves created and we 
as Concord historical district homeowners are required to follow. We are also aware that if and when these 
regulations and processes are not followed, us as homeowners are fined and legal action is taken against us. We as 
Concord historical district homeowners, insist that the townhomes proposed by Jim Potter are not congruent with 
the current historical architectural.  Ms. Goode’s three minutes expired. 
 
Rebecca Patten of 90 Cabarrus Ave. West and Nancy Faggart of 151 Union St. N., both stepped up to the podium.  
Mrs. Patten requested the three minutes of time of Ms. Gronli, so she will have six minutes to speak and Ms. Faggart 
provided her time to Ms. Patten.  Mrs. Patten stated that her family lives next door to the proposed townhomes in a 
home that has been in her family for more than 100 years. She stated that she agrees with her neighbors that the new 
townhomes are not in keeping with the historical context of the surrounding properties and in this case, center city 
zoning is not consistent with the guidelines of the historic district handbook. She stated that she recognizes that there 
are only a few undeveloped lots in the historic district and that their treatment is crucial to the future of the district.  
 
The successful integration of new structures into the neighborhood depends on how well new homes sites will 
preserve unified district characteristics. The description of the proposal is similar to the building that the applicant 
built at 59 and 63 Cabarrus Ave. W. Mrs. Patten stated that she has several concerns regarding the proposed setback, 
site position, materials, and style of the complex. She requested to share the issues that do not meet the historic 
district guidelines that should be reconsidered. She stated that page 25 of the handbook, chapter 1 says that the 



12 | P a g e   

consistency of building setback from the street is a unifying district characteristic that new construction should 
maintain. It goes on to show an example of an out of line building on the left indicating that something is far out of 
line from the surrounding properties is unacceptable. On page 26, new construction shall coordinate in material, 
scale, size, site position, spatial relationship and details with immediate neighbors within 100 ft of the proposed 
construction. The proposed three townhome complex which is situated on a 1/3-acre lot does not maintain a similar 
setback or spatial relationship with immediate neighbors within 100 ft or other neighbors on this block of Cabarrus 
Ave. The setback has been a major neighborhood issue since the development was proposed more than 7 years ago. 
The proposed two-story complex is nearly 30 ft high and is situated entirely in front of Mrs. Patton’s home. All of 
the houses on this block of Cabarrus Ave. have setbacks of at least 28 ft in addition to their porches which range 
from 10 to 12 to 14 ft. Setbacks are defined by the City of Concord as the area between the furthest most projection 
of a principal structure and the property line of the lot on which the structure is located. What was approved by the 
Planning and Zoning Commission in 2016, is the front setback of 20 ft shown in the drawing submitted by planning 
and zoning department. The 20 ft setback from the flat front of the building is made up of an 8 ft porch, 4 ft steps 
and 8 feet of green space for the property line allowing the plan to be in line with the center city zoning and 
maintaining the 20 ft setback to the flat face of the building.   
 
Mrs. Patten continued by noting that the recent hand drawing submitted by the applicant is somewhat misleading.  
The applicant has measured 20 ft setback from the curb when it should be measured from the property line. This 
does not conform with the plan that was presented to the planning department and approved by the Planning and 
Zoning Commission. In either case, this tiny setback is significantly less than any of the other houses on this block 
of Cabarrus Ave. It is not a unifying district characteristic and should not be allowed. At a minimum, shouldn’t the 
applicant be required to submit a new design drawing reflecting the setbacks that were approved by the planning 
and zoning commission prior to receiving historic preservation commission approval. Page 25 of the handbook says 
that careful consideration should be given to how compatible the proposed structure will be with immediate 
neighbors. There are no homes on the block with one color upstairs and a different color downstairs. They are all 
one color with complementary trim and shutters.   
 
The proposed townhome would better fit in the neighborhood and unified characteristics if they were all one-color 
upstairs and down. Each home could be a different color with complementary trim but the upstairs and down would 
be the same. Shouldn’t this change be made prior to receiving Historic Preservation Commission approval? The 
design guidelines on page 26 of the handbook say that large flat expanses of walls should be avoided.  According to 
the hand drawn picture submitted by the applicant, the front of the building appears to have only one small stoop 
while the rest of the building is flat for 6 ft across.  Each of the three front faces submitted by the applicant in the 
packet show a different front design and none of them are clear about what exactly the design is. Shouldn’t a clear 
and consistent redesign of the front that preserves unified characteristics be provided prior to receiving Historic 
Preservation Commission approval?  
 
Every home on the block has a porch covering at least the front of their home. Page 25 of the handbook says, the 
use of porches, chimneys, bays and other details, new buildings can be designed to have texture compatible with the 
historic context.  Shouldn’t the applicant provide a redesign that will preserve unifying district characteristics prior 
to receiving Historic Preservation Commission approval? According to the hand drawing, a privacy fence with 
screening plants is proposed along with a 3 ft strip along the proposed driveway and Mrs. Patten’s property. The 
type, height and density of these plants are not specified.  To create screening, these trees should be some kind of 
evergreen. Shouldn’t the applicant make this information available prior to receiving Historic Preservation 
Commission approval?  
 
The new building towers more than 30 ft high.  Page 40, chapter 5, section 7 says new construction should avoid the 
roof being more than ½ of the building’s height. Based on the front elevation architectural drawing, the roof does 
not appear to meet this guideline. The positioning of this building shades the only direct morning sunlight on half of 



13 | P a g e   

her yard and the trees that are still there.  It will also block afternoon sunlight to the two houses across the street. 
This will certainly have an impact on the quality of the existing landscape. Shouldn’t the roof height be resolved 
prior to receiving Historic Preservation Commission approval?  
 
Page 25, chapter 5, section 1 states that careful consideration should be given to the placement of landscaping and 
the retention of mature trees. The ground material that will be used in the courtyard and the remaining spaces in the 
front and side of the buildings has not been identified. The applicant’s existing townhomes have no grass and just 
pine straw and low plants.  The absence of green space is not in keeping with the surrounding properties. Every 
home on the block has grass and shrubs in front of the house. Shouldn’t the ground design and materials be specified 
prior to receiving Historic Preservation Commission approval?  
 
In 2016, it was agreed that any damage during construction to the existing tree canopies would be the responsibility 
of the developer? There is one very large tree that shares the two properties and provides shade canopy. Also, the 
maintenance of the fence, screening plants and green space should be identified as the responsibility of the 
homeowner’s association.  Shouldn’t both of these issues, in particular the potential damage to the tree canopy and 
maintenance be documented and put in writing prior to receiving Historic Preservation Commission approval?  
 
Mr. Bill Patten of 90 Cabarrus Ave. W. stepped up to the podium.  He asked if he could recap some of his wife’s 
key points. The issues that need to be resolved prior to receiving Historic Preservation Commission approval are 
setback appropriateness and the discrepancy of what has been approved and what was submitted and the existing 
setbacks of the homes in the neighborhood. Careful consideration should be given to how compatible in color the 
proposed structure will be with immediate neighbors. Large, flat expanses of walls should be avoided. The use of 
porches and not stoops to create texture compatible with the historic content should be encouraged. There is a need 
for overall redesign to preserve the unifying district characteristics and careful consideration should be given to the 
placement of landscaping and retention of mature trees.  
 
The type, height and density of privacy fence plants should be defined. The roof height appears to be greater than ½ 
the building’s height. Consideration should be given to the placement of landscaping and the retention of the mature 
tree canopy and the maintenance of the fence, screening plants and green space should be identified as the 
responsibility of the homeowner’s association. Lastly, what is a courtyard? What does the applicant mean by 
courtyard? These items do not meet the historic district guidelines and we would appreciate your review of these 
issues.  
 
Mr. Thomas Ballard of 35 Yorktown Street stepped up to the podium.  Mr. Ballard stated that he would like to 
discuss Yorktown Street as it is today between Cabarrus and Grove. They are 100-year-old houses and very well 
maintained, with a good landscape around them and front porches which makes it very distinctive. It is a wonderful, 
well-built community. All of a sudden, if something is added to it, such as these townhouses, it is destroyed because 
what has been there for a century will not be the same and Mr. Ballard stated that he was against it. 
 
Mrs. Elena Lienweber stepped up to the podium.  She lives at 96 Cabarrus Ave. W. Mrs. Leinweber requested to 
give her time to Lyne Goode so she could finish her presentation. 
 
Ms. Lyne Goode stepped up to the podium.  We as Concord historic district homeowners insist that the townhomes 
proposed by Mr. Potter are not congruent with the historical, architectural and cultural characteristics for which the 
district is significant. Chapter 5 of the Concord historic district handbook under new construction states that the 
proposed townhomes do not match the aforementioned guidelines for setback or driveway placement.  Pages 25 and 
26, chapter 5, section 1-the proposed townhomes do not match and are unlike any current existing properties in the 
neighborhood.  Scale, site settings, spatial relations and color details are specifically mentioned. There is even a 
picture drawn on page 25 and 26, chapter 5, section 1.   



14 | P a g e   

 
The green space and open space from the neighboring lots, landscape details compared to three townhomes with 
garages are not similar or alike. The proposed colors for the townhomes, specifically the divided colors top and 
bottom are not like any other home in the neighborhood. In addition to the concerns listed above, that are clearly 
stated in the historic resident’s handbook as not appropriate. There are also the following concerns:  Yorktown Street 
is a one-way street.  Parking is only permitted on the left side of the street. There are currently 11 homes facing 
Yorktown Street plus one garage apartment that also requires parking spots. Out of these 11 homes, 1 home has been 
converted into apartment living and one is a dual family home requiring more than the typical 2 car parking spots. 
Furthermore, several of these homes do not have driveways and/or have shared driveways.  It is simple math.  There 
are not enough driveways or left side of the road parking spots for the number of people who currently live on 
Yorktown. Multiple residents must use the empty lot where the proposed townhomes would be built to park 
currently. Finally, our community family members take care of each other, and the children play together, go to 
school together and celebrate birthdays together.  We check on each other and take care of each other’s pets and 
homes. There are many who live in this neighborhood who now live and own their parent’s former homes and the 
neighbors who moved in just two years ago.  The point being that, this is a community and they are extremely 
concerned that these townhomes will become a revolving door for a rental property.  
 
Mr. Marshall Ward of 98 Cabarrus Ave. W. stepped up to the podium. He resides 3 doors down from the townhomes 
on the same side of the street. Mr. Ward stated that he will be focusing on Chapter 5, section 1 of the historic 
handbook and showed several pictures. He stated that new construction shall coordinate in material, size, scale, site 
position, spatial relationship and details with immediate neighbors within 100’ of the proposed construction.  Mr. 
Ward showed several pictures of properties within 100 ft of 90 Cabarrus Ave. W. Mr. Ward stated that the 
townhomes are not within 100’ of the proposed lot for the new townhomes. He showed other properties on the same 
block on the same side of the street on Cabarrus Ave. West. He stated that none of the pictures are pictures of 
townhomes.   
 
Townhomes are unlike any existing structures in the historic handbook. The historic handbook does not include any 
reference to townhomes because there weren’t any townhomes in the historic district when the historic handbook 
was written. The artificial cement siding in the proposal in the historic handbook, chapter 5, section 4 states that 
artificial or synthetic siding is not appropriate for additions on pivotal and contributing structures or for large 
accessory structures inside the historic district. Mr. Ward stated that wood is the most appropriate material, and vinyl 
and aluminum clad windows are inappropriate in most instances. Mr. Ward showed a picture of the site position and 
spatial relationships of the new townhomes. The skyline for Mrs. Patten’s home would be removed because the 
townhomes would tower to 30 ft. She would walk out her front door and see a house.  
 
Ms. Syndey Yin shared her 3 minutes with Mr. Marshall Ward so he could finish his presentation. Mr. Ward stated 
that the townhomes are unlike any other structure and another concern is for 117 Yorktown Street which is right 
behind the construction lot.  The drainage there is an issue because there will be a lot of concrete on that lot. If you 
go back and look at the site plan that is proposed from the builder, if you count up all the planting for that area, it is 
about 729 ft. There are other areas for green space and that will total about 2400 ft. Altogether it is a .337-acre lot 
and that is around 14,729 ft. and it is about 17% green space for the entire lot.  All the other lots have about 80% 
greenspace.  It is unlike in spatial relationship to other lots.  
 
Ms. Barbara Shepherd of 31 Yorktown St. NW stepped up to the podium.  She stated that she is multi-generational 
and lives in the home of her grandmother.  Some of the items that were previously approved were a misstep. If this 
were in your own neighborhood, how concerning this would be as it pertains to safety issues regarding the kids in 
the neighborhood. The City of Concord purchased the land and sold it and there were 5 parking spaces for the 
apartment building nearby and now they no longer have that since the land was sold. As more density is being 
brought in, and density that does not meet the historic guidelines, that is an issue for everyone. Ms. Barbara Shepherd 



15 | P a g e   

stated that she is adamantly opposed to this for many reasons that have been stated.  
 
Commissioner Underwood stated that there was a mention about the setback from the street where the townhomes 
would be. Is what Mr. Potter proposed approved by the city?  Mr. Potter stepped up to the podium. Mr. Potter stated 
that he does not have a zoning permit at this time. He stated that he was going by what the city told him the setbacks 
were. Chair Isenhour stated that the Historic Commission does not control the setbacks. The handbook though does 
talk about site position which is similar but not a legal requirement. Chair Isenhour asked Mr. Potter to clarify the 
plans for the setback of 20 ft. from the road. It is unclear from the drawings. Mr. Potter stated that he was going by 
the property line to the main building. Chair Isenhour stated the picture that was shown on the screen was approved 
in the rezoning and that was not the current plan. That plan was created by the City.  There are now 3 units. The 
written site plan is Mr. Potter’s plan.  
 
Commissioner Underwood stated that there was more than 1 front elevation. Mr. Potter stated that there is a small 
roof over the front door, but the city required a courtyard instead of a porch. The courtyard will be basically a 
concrete patio surrounded by aluminum fence to make it look like raw iron. Commissioner Underwood asked if the 
courtyard had to be concrete? Could it be grass?  There is not much green space.  Mr. Potter stated it could be a grass 
courtyard.  
 
Chair Isenhour asked about the setbacks and said it was 66 ft across and asked if it was the same for the second 
building. Mr. Potter said that there is not a break in the front main wall. Mr. Potter said he was constrained by the 
size of the site to get the courtyards, garages and to have a feasible floor plan.  
 
Commissioner Underwood asked if there was a site plan for the drainage considering that there is little green space? 
Mr. Potter stated that he did not have a specific drainage plan. The driveway would be sloped towards the street so 
everything would go out to the street and curb and down the street to the drain.  
 
Chair Isenhour requested a more detailed plan to show the distances and the front elevation and how far back the 
building is from the street. Mr. Ashley asked to answer the question about drainage.  He stated that the previous use 
of the land was a commercial facility and there is a certain amount of credit from stormwater, which would be 
considered at the time of technical site plan approval.  Chair Isenhour stated that the drainage isn’t before them. 
 
Chair Isenhour stated that the commission has control over the materials, can’t control the colors but they can control 
the scale, the site position, landscape plan and porches but the drainage and green space is not for them to decide. 
Chair Isenhour can see how parking could be an issue but that is not something the commission can address.  He 
said that a rezoning site plan has been approved for building. The question before the commission is the plan 
consistent with the neighborhood.  Mr. Potter stated if there was a way to place the buildings to coincide with the 
adjacent properties, he would be more than happy to do that but with the constraints on the requirements for the site 
including the garages and the driveway in the back and the second access out to Cabarrus Ave.  If you put it all 
together, that is the best he could do and have a usable floor plan, garage space and courtyard space in the back.   
 
Commissioner Firth stated that wood windows are a must. Mr. Potter agreed. Commissioner Hopkins asked about 
the amount of concrete or paving in the driveway.  Is it ok to have that much concrete?  Could we break it up and 
put some pavers? Is it in our guidelines to suggest that or is it fine with all the concrete? Mr. Potter stated that he did 
not see any other requirements other than the developer’s choice of paving material. Chair Isenhour said that it was 
something they could consider.  
 
Chair Isenhour asked about the 20’ side yard on Yorktown. It was approved in 2016 but he didn’t know why it 
changed other than it went from 4 townhomes to 3 townhomes.  Mr. Potter stated that the building could be moved 
over. He stated that the original 4 townhomes were not feasible with the second driveway going to Cabarrus Ave. 



16 | P a g e   

because the townhomes would have to be so narrow as it would be prohibitive to put garages behind them. The 
townhomes would be limited to 17 or 18 ft wide and that is not practical for a garage.  In order to get 2 cars parked 
behind there, you can’t have a single garage and a parking space behind there.  There is 17’ between the left side 
elevation and the property line which is close to 20’ between the left side elevation and the property line.  From 
Yorktown St, it might look like it encroached a little bit towards the street if it was less than 20’.  
 
Commissioner Underwood asked if to make the neighbors happy, could the townhomes be one color on the top and 
bottom? Mr. Potter stated that yes, absolutely he would change that because he is not hung up on the color. He said 
if it would improve the neighborhood a bit, then he would do it.  
 
Commissioner Underwood asked about the fence in the front.  Mr. Potter stated that he didn’t want to build a solid 
fence or wall there to enclose the courtyards.  Commissioner Underwood asked if Mr. Potter could state in the plan 
what exact materials would be used for the courtyard fence and/or wall.  Mr. Potter said the raw iron fence is 
approximately 4ft. high and it will be simulated aluminum to look like a raw iron fence. It will have ½ inch square 
pickets. Chair Isenhour stated that the plan showed a 42” high metal fence.  
 
Chair Isenhour asked for more details on this. Commissioner Hopkins asked if the windows could be changed to 
wood would the design be kept the same? Mr. Potter said it could be changed without changing the design. Chair 
Isenhour asked if more detail could be submitted in the plan with the depiction of the different colors of the 
townhomes and a detailed landscape plan and a depiction of what the fence would look like. 
 
Mr. Potter asked if an aluminum fence was not allowed. Is it raw iron or wood? Commissioner Underwood stated 
that wood is allowed. Mrs. James read from the historic handbook and said: use materials such as natural stone, 
brick, wood, powder coated aluminum and iron. Mr. Potter asked if a photograph of the fencing material would be 
sufficient. Mrs. James stated that fencing in front yards cannot be more than 4 ft tall. Mr. Potter stated that the 
fencing has ½ inch square pickets and there is about 4 inches in between the pickets.  
 
Commissioner Hopkins asked if a landscape plan is needed similar to the other property that Mr. Potter owns. Mr. 
Potter stated that he can show the landscaping along the 13’ courtyard fence but asked if they wanted to see 
landscaping around the courtyard fencing to shade that from the street also. Commissioner Underwood stated that it 
softens the look of the building. Mr. Potter agreed to include all of this.  
 
Chair Isenhour asked Mr. Potter to talk about the area between the garage and the residence. It is shown on the site 
plan as a courtyard, and he asked what that entails. Mr. Potter said that there will be a concrete patio there with a 
solid frame wall with the same siding on the house and garage, so it’s continuous. You cannot see in the courtyard.  
It is a solid 6’ wall. Chair Isenhour asked if the residence would be 30’ at the top part? Mr. Potter stated that he 
would have to review the drawing again. Mr. Potter stated that he could add elevations to the drawings that can be 
viewed more easily.  
 
Chair Isenhour stated that the consensus is that more information will be needed to move forward with the plan. 
There needs to be an updated depiction of the color of the residences.  Mr. Potter recapped what is needed and stated 
that there needs to be a better representation of the front of the units with a different color scheme, landscaping plan, 
height of the roof and elevation, fence material and photograph of front fences and windows changed to wood.  
 
Commissioner Hopkins suggested that Mr. Potter speak to the city’s arborist to add some trees since the historic 
district is known for their tree canopies.  
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to continue the case to the December meeting. Commissioner Underwood 
seconded the motion. –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 



17 | P a g e   

 
HANDBOOK UPDATES  
 
Mrs. James updated the committee on the progress of the historic handbook.  There was a meeting held on 
Monday, November 6th and staff is currently working on the full draft which will be sent to the handbook 
committee on January 5th.  The next historic handbook meeting will be on January 22nd to discuss the draft. Then, 
the draft will be sent to the Historic Commission for review in the month of February and then the final draft can 
be reviewed at the March meeting.  
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
A motion was made and carried to adjourn the meeting at 8:11 p.m. 
 
 
_________________________________ 
           Chair–William Isenhour 

                
                 
                
        _________________________________ 

                    Secretary – Deirdre Connellan 
      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

Agenda Memorandum 
Historic Preservation Commission 

 
 

DATE:       December 13, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: 
 Certificate of Appropriateness Request:   H-14-22 
 Applicant:      Jim Potter/Old Towne Development 
 Location of Subject Property:   74, 76, 78 Cabarrus Ave W 
 PIN:      5620-87-0418 

Staff Report Prepared by: Kim Wallis, Senior Planner 
 
BACKGROUND 

• The subject property at 74, 76, and 78 Cabarrus Ave W is a vacant lot within the North Union Street 
Historic District. 

• “Vacant Lot between 64 and 74-78 Cabarrus Avenue West. Vacant lot that was a former site of a 
home.”   

• On April 13, 2022, Jim Potter with Old Towne Development applied for a Certificate of 
Appropriateness under Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 to construct three (3), two-
story townhomes with detached two (2) car garages (Exhibit B).  

• On November 8, 2023, this case was reviewed by the Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) 
and continued to the December meeting in order to receive the following information: the front 
elevation to represent the updated color scheme, a landscaping plan, an indication of the height of 
the roof on the front elevation, a photograph of the proposed front yard fence indicating the 
material, and the window material to be changed from aluminum clad to wood. 
 

DISCUSSION 
Jim Potter with Old Towne Development applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness under Concord 
Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 to construct two (2), two-story duplexes with detached one and one 
half (1.5) car garages. The applicant has submitted this alternative proposal based on the comments at the 
November 8, 2023 HPC meeting (Exhibits A, B). 
 
The following includes the revisions to his original proposal and the requested information from the 
Commission:  

1. Two (2) two-story duplex units –each with two (2) 1,548 square foot two-story attached homes 
at approximately 18’w x 42’l each:  

2. Rear parking providing six (6) spaces along rear property line; 
3. Four (4) detached, rear loaded one and one half (1.5) car garages – approximately 18’w x 23’l 

each; 
4. Two (2) front courtyards for the end units and two (2) front stoops for two middle units with 

three (3) foot concrete walkways to the public sidewalk; 
5. Rear courtyards – approximately 18’w x 13’l each; 
6. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown St NW; 
7. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Ave W between the two (2) duplexes;  
8. 6’ tall privacy fence with landscaping along the adjoining property lines – wood and painted 

white;  
9. Landscaping along Yorktown St. NW; 
10. A change in window material from aluminum clad to wood for all elevations (Exhibit A); 
11. A landscaping plan indicating the landscaping along the courtyard fence/wall (Exhibit B);  

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit H



Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

12. Elevations showing the building height (Exhibit C). 
13. Exterior colors on elevations to indicate one color for each unit (Exhibit D); and  
14. A photograph of the proposed front yard four (4) foot black aluminum fence (Exhibit E).  

The subject property was rezoned in 2016 to CC-CD (Center City – Conditional District) with the following 
conditions: 

1. Use limited to no more than four (4) +/- 1,700 square foot two-story townhome units; 
2. Rear parking; 
3. Detached rear loaded garages; 
4. Two (2) front courtyards and two (2) front stoops along with rear courtyards; 
5. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown St NW; 
6. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Ave W; and 
7. 6’ tall privacy fence along the adjoining property lines. 

 
Given the changes to the layout of the site plan based on the comments received at the November 8, 2023, 
HPC meeting, should this case be approved by the Historic Preservation Commission, it will be required to 
return to the Planning and Zoning Commission, as it will require a modification to the approved conditional 
rezoning. Presenting this information before the Historic Preservation Commission will provide assurance 
that the HPC has approved site design and elevations as compatible with the Historic District prior to 
approval of any conditional zoning modification. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Exhibit A: Certificate of Appropriateness Application updated 11/16/2023 
Exhibit B: Site Plan and Landscaping Plan updated 11/30/2023 
Exhibit C: Elevations updated 12/2/2023 
Exhibit D: Exterior Material and Color Scheme updated 11/16/2023  
Exhibit E: Photograph of Fencing Material for the front yard 
 
HISTORIC HANDBOOK DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Chapter 4: Local Standards and General Policies 
Alterations: Alterations having no historical basis shall be avoided whenever possible.  Any type of 
alteration of exterior features of a building, site, or environment within the Historic Districts which is not 
specifically listed within these regulations shall be referred to the Historic Preservation Commission for 
action on the issuance of a Certificate of Appropriateness. 

• All buildings, structures and sites shall be recognized as products of their own time.  Alterations 
that have no historical basis and which seek to create an earlier appearance shall be discouraged. 

• Changes which may have taken place in the course of time are evidence of the history and 
development of a building, structure or site and its environment.  These changes may have acquired 
significance in their own right and this significance shall be recognized and respected. 

• Contemporary design for alterations and additions to existing properties shall be encouraged when 
such alterations and additions do not destroy significant historical, architectural or cultural 
material, and such design is compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the 
property, neighborhood or environment. 

• New additions or alterations shall be construed in such a manner as to preserve the essential form 
and integrity of the structure, should the addition or alteration be removed. 

 
Approval Requirement Needs Table: New Construction or Additions 

• All new construction and additions require Commission Hearing and Approval. 
 



Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

Chapter 5 – Section 1: New Principal Structure Construction 
• The successful integration of new structures or building additions to the neighborhood depends on 

how well the building will preserve existing site features such as trees, slopes, natural drainage 
patterns, rock outcrops, etc. 

• The Historic Preservation Commission will consider how well the proposed construction will 
maintain the unifying features that exist, such as tree canopies, clean boundaries, and architectural 
and landscape details. 

• Other considerations include how compatible the proposed structure will be in material, scale, site 
setting, spatial relationships, color, and details with immediate neighbors. 

• Careful consideration should be given to the design and placement of driveways, landscaping, 
lighting, signage, walkways, and the retention of mature trees or other historic features of 
landscape. 

• Building materials, features, fenestration, and texture are also important to consider when 
designing for compatibility. 

• A wide range of features and materials presently used in the neighborhood provide a broad range 
of options from which to choose. 

• Through the use of porches, chimneys, bays, and other details, new buildings can be designed to 
have texture compatible with the Historic context. 

 
Design Standards: New Construction 

1. New construction shall coordinate in material, scale, size, site position, spatial relationship, 
and details with immediate neighbors within one hundred feet (100’) of the proposed 
construction. 

2. Where feasible, roof forms should be consistent and compatible to others in the district. Large 
flat expanses of walls or roofs should be avoided. 

3. New construction should avoid A-frame, dome, shed, and flat roofs. 
4. Locate and size window and door openings so they are compatible in placement, orientation, 

spacing, proportion, size and scale with the surrounding historic buildings. 
5. The Historic Preservation Commission encourages compatible contemporary design in order 

to reflect accurately the differences between historic buildings and newer structures. 
6. Introduce features such as porches, chimneys, bays, and architectural details as appropriate 

so that the texture of new residential structures is compatible with surrounding historic 
structures. Detailing on new structures should be consistent with its overall scheme and design. 

7. Contemporary substitute materials such as hardiplank may be approved on a case by case 
basis for new structures. In order to qualify for use in new construction, these materials must 
have a demonstrated record of overall quality and durability. The physical properties of 
substitute materials must be similar to hose of the historic materials they mimic. When 
considering substitute materials, the closer an element is to the viewer, the more closely the 
material and craftsmanship should match the original. The appropriateness of substitute 
materials shall be reviewed on an individual basis. 

8. Vinyl siding for new construction is not appropriate. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

1. The Historic Preservation Commission should consider the circumstances of this application for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness relative to the North and South Union Street Historic Districts 
Handbook and Guidelines and act accordingly.  

2. If approved, applicant(s) should be informed of the following:  
• City staff and Commission will make periodic on-site visits to ensure the project is 

completed as approved.  
• Completed project will be photographed to update the historic properties survey.  



EXHIBIT A





EXHIBIT B



EX
H

IB
IT

 C





EX
H

IB
IT

 D



74-78 CABARRU AVE W DUPLEX COLOR SCHEME

FOUNDATION BRICK - OLD COLONY BY TRIANGLE BRICK CO

ROOFING:
ROOFING - MAIN TAMPCO - HERITAGE 30 YR - COLOR: VIRGINIA SLATE
ROOFING - PORCH METAL ROOFING - SEE COLORS BELOW

GUTTERS - WHITE

SIDING COLORS FROM JAMES HARDIE SIDING PALLETTE

METAL ROOFING COLORS FROM COASTAL METAL SERVICE PALLETTE

BUILDING 1 (ON LEFT FACING FROM CABARRUS AVE W)
UNIT A - LEFT SIDE B - RIGHT SIDE

FRONT ELEVATION SIDING COLOR BOOTHBAY BLUE HARRIS CREAM
DORMER SIDING COLOR N/A HARRIS CREAM
TRIM COLOR SAILCLOTH SAILCLOTH
WINDOW COLOR SAILCLOTH SAILCLOTH
FRONT DOOR COLOR HARRIS CREAM BOOTHBAY BLUE
METAL ROOFING LOCATION FRONT ENTRY FRONT ENTRY
METAL ROOFING COLOR SAHARA TAN BEAUFORT BLUE

BUILDING 2 (ON THE RIGHT FACING FROM CABARRUS AVE W)
A - LEFT SIDE B - RIGHT SIDE

FRONT ELEVATION SIDING COLOR HEATHERED MOSS AUTUMN TAN
DORMER SIDING COLOR HEATHERED MOSS N/A
TRIM COLOR SAILCLOTH SAILCLOTH
WINDOW COLOR SAILCLOTH SAILCLOTH
FRONT DOOR COLOR AUTUMN TAN HEATHERED MOSS
METAL ROOFING LOCATION FRONT ENTRY FRONT ENTRY
METAL ROOFING COLOR MEDIUM BRONZE PATINA

SIDING PAINT COLOR ON SIDES, REAR AND GARAGE ARE SAME AS FRONT ELEVATION



COASTAL METAL ROOFING COLORS 

BEAFORT BLUE 

 

 

SAHARA TAN 

 

 

 

MEDIUM BRONZE 

 

 

 

PATINA 

 



74-78 CABARRU AVE FRONT COURTYARD FENCE 

 

 

EXHIBIT E



 

Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

Agenda Memorandum 
Historic Preservation Commission 

 
 

DATE:       November 8, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: 
 Certificate of Appropriateness Request:   H-14-22 
 Applicant:      Jim Potter/Old Towne Development 
 Location of Subject Property:   74, 76, 78 Cabarrus Ave W 
 PIN:      5620-87-0418 

Staff Report Prepared by: Autumn James, Planning & Development 
Manager 

 
BACKGROUND 

• The subject property at 74, 76, and 78 Cabarrus Ave W is a vacant lot within the North Union Street 
Historic District. 

• “Vacant Lot between 64 and 74-78 Cabarrus Avenue West. Vacant lot that was a former site of a 
home.” (Exhibit A) 

 
DISCUSSION 
On April 13, 2022, Jim Potter with Old Towne Development applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness 
under Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 to construct three (3), two-story townhomes with 
detached two (2) car garages (Exhibit B).  
 
Previously, the property was occupied by an approximately 3,500 square foot nonconforming commercial 
multi-tenant building and was held by a private party owner. The subject property was the site of various 
nuisance complaints through Concord Police Department. In November 2014, the City purchased the 
property with the intention of more compatible redevelopment in the future. The structure was demolished 
in January 2015 and the site has been vacant since. 
 
The subject property was rezoned in 2016 to CC-CD (Center City – Conditional District) with the following 
conditions: 

1. Use limited to no more than four (4) +/- 1,700 square foot two-story townhome units; 
2. Rear parking; 
3. Detached rear loaded garages; 
4. Two (2) front courtyards and two (2) front stoops along with rear courtyards; 
5. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown St NW; 
6. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Ave W; and 
7. 6’ tall privacy fence along the adjoining property lines. 

 
The applicant proposes: 

1. Three (3) +/- 1,800 square foot two-story townhome units – approximately 22’ x 41’ each; 
2. Rear parking providing four (4) spaces along rear property line; 
3. Detached, rear loaded two (2) car garages – approximately 22’ x 23’ each; 
4. Two (2) front courtyards for the end units and one (1) front stoop for the middle unit; 
5. Rear courtyards – approximately 22’ x 13’ each; 
6. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown St NW; 
7. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Ave W; and 
8. 6’ tall privacy fence along the adjoining property lines – wood and painted white. 



Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
Exhibit A: National Register of Historic Places Inventory 
Exhibit B: Certificate of Appropriateness Application 
Exhibit C: Subject Property Map  
Exhibit D: Photos of Subject Property 
Exhibit E: Site Plan 
Exhibit F: Elevations 
Exhibit G: Proposed Exterior Material and Color Scheme 
Exhibit H: Proposed Front Doors 
Exhibit I: Proposed 6’ Wooden Privacy Fence 
Exhibit J: Proposed Roofing Shingles 
Exhibit K: Proposed Brick 
Exhibit L: Approved Staff Report Z(CD)-34-15 
 
HISTORIC HANDBOOK DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Chapter 4: Local Standards and General Policies 
Alterations: Alterations having no historical basis shall be avoided whenever possible.  Any type of 
alteration of exterior features of a building, site, or environment within the Historic Districts which is not 
specifically listed within these regulations shall be referred to the Historic Preservation Commission for 
action on the issuance of a Certificate of Appropriateness. 

• All buildings, structures and sites shall be recognized as products of their own time.  Alterations 
that have no historical basis and which seek to create an earlier appearance shall be discouraged. 

• Changes which may have taken place in the course of time are evidence of the history and 
development of a building, structure or site and its environment.  These changes may have acquired 
significance in their own right and this significance shall be recognized and respected. 

• Contemporary design for alterations and additions to existing properties shall be encouraged when 
such alterations and additions do not destroy significant historical, architectural or cultural 
material, and such design is compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the 
property, neighborhood or environment. 

• New additions or alterations shall be construed in such a manner as to preserve the essential form 
and integrity of the structure, should the addition or alteration be removed. 

 
Approval Requirement Needs Table: New Construction or Additions 

• All new construction and additions require Commission Hearing and Approval. 
 
Chapter 5 – Section 1: New Principal Structure Construction 

• The successful integration of new structures or building additions to the neighborhood depends on 
how well the building will preserve existing site features such as trees, slopes, natural drainage 
patterns, rock outcrops, etc. 

• The Historic Preservation Commission will consider how well the proposed construction will 
maintain the unifying features that exist, such as tree canopies, clean boundaries, and architectural 
and landscape details. 

• Other considerations include how compatible the proposed structure will be in material, scale, site 
setting, spatial relationships, color, and details with immediate neighbors. 

• Careful consideration should be given to the design and placement of driveways, landscaping, 
lighting, signage, walkways, and the retention of mature trees or other historic features of 
landscape. 



Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-14-22 
 

• Building materials, features, fenestration, and texture are also important to consider when 
designing for compatibility. 

• A wide range of features and materials presently used in the neighborhood provide a broad range 
of options from which to choose. 

• Through the use of porches, chimneys, bays, and other details, new buildings can be designed to 
have texture compatible with the Historic context. 

 
Design Standards: New Construction 

1. New construction shall coordinate in material, scale, size, site position, spatial relationship, 
and details with immediate neighbors within one hundred feet (100’) of the proposed 
construction. 

2. Where feasible, roof forms should be consistent and compatible to others in the district. Large 
flat expanses of walls or roofs should be avoided. 

3. New construction should avoid A-frame, dome, shed, and flat roofs. 
4. Locate and size window and door openings so they are compatible in placement, orientation, 

spacing, proportion, size and scale with the surrounding historic buildings. 
5. The Historic Preservation Commission encourages compatible contemporary design in order 

to reflect accurately the differences between historic buildings and newer structures. 
6. Introduce features such as porches, chimneys, bays, and architectural details as appropriate 

so that the texture of new residential structures is compatible with surrounding historic 
structures. Detailing on new structures should be consistent with its overall scheme and design. 

7. Contemporary substitute materials such as hardiplank may be approved on a case by case 
basis for new structures. In order to qualify for use in new construction, these materials must 
have a demonstrated record of overall quality and durability. The physical properties of 
substitute materials must be similar to hose of the historic materials they mimic. When 
considering substitute materials, the closer an element is to the viewer, the more closely the 
material and craftsmanship should match the original. The appropriateness of substitute 
materials shall be reviewed on an individual basis. 

8. Vinyl siding for new construction is not appropriate. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

1. The Historic Preservation Commission should consider the circumstances of this application for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness relative to the North and South Union Street Historic Districts 
Handbook and Guidelines and act accordingly.  

2. If approved, applicant(s) should be informed of the following:  
• City staff and Commission will make periodic on-site visits to ensure the project is 

completed as approved.  
• Completed project will be photographed to update the historic properties survey.  



jamesa
Text Box

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit A



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit B





!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! 39

35

32

31

27

26

23

22

21

20

19

18

17

16

13

98 97

96

90

79

78
76

75

74
68

67

64

63
63

61

56

50

106

CABARRUS AVE W

YORKTOWN ST NW
BELL ST SW

UNION ST S
SPRING ST SW

CHURCH ST NKERR ST NW

UNION ST N

LIN
CO

LN
 ST

 SW

CORBAN AVE SW
CABARRUS AVE W

GEORGIA ST SW

CORBAN AVE SE

SPRING ST NW

ELM
 AVE NW

CABARRUS AVE E

WILSON ST NE

CR
OW

EL
L D

R 
SW

FR
ANKLI

N AVE
 NW

BUFFALO AVE NW

YOUNG AVE SW

DEAL ST SE

MCGILL AVE NW

BRANCHVIEW DR SE

WHITE ST SW

SU
NDER

LA
ND RD SW

TODD DR NW

BR
OA

D 
DR

 SW

CE
DA

R D
R N

W

BROOKWOOD AVE NW

BROWN ST SW

HILLCREST AVE SE

LONG AVE NE

MCKINNON AVE NE

WILS
HIRE AVE SW

ST MARY AVE NW

RAMDIN CT NW

MAY ST NE

GLENDALE AVE SE

BOGER CT S
W

BRUMLEY AVE NE

GROVE AVE NW

ST CHARLES AVE NE

EASTOVER DR SE

BLUME AVE SW

WILKINSON CT SE

MAHAN ST SW

DOUGLAS AVE NW

CROWELL
 DR NW

GUY AV
E NW

ANDREWS ST NW

ROBBINS ST SW

Source: City of Concord
Planning Department

H-14-22

74, 76, 78 Cabarrus Ave W

PIN: 5620-87-0418

These maps and products are designed for general
reference only and data contained herein is subject 
to change. The City Of Concord, it's employees or 
agents make no warranty of merchantability or fitness 
for any purpose, expressed or implied, and assume no 
legal responsibility for the information contained therein. 
Data used is from multiple sources with various scales 
and accuracy. Additional research such as field surveys 
may be necessary to determine actual conditions.

Disclaimer

²
0 10050

Feet

! Addresses
Subject Property
Parcels

Subject Property

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit C



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit D

jamesa
Typewritten Text
Before Image from Yorktowne Ave.



jamesa
Typewritten Text
Before Image from Cabarrus Ave.



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit E



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit F













YORKTOWNE - BY OLD TOWNE DEVELOPMENT

DETAILED MATERIAL LIST

74-78 CABARRUS AVE W. CONCORD, NC

YORKTOWNE EXTERIOR SCHEME

EXTERIOR MATERIALS:

SIDING AND TRIM - CEMENT COMPOSITE LAP SIDING - JAMES HARDIE OR EQUIVALENT

BRICK - TRIANGLE BRICK - OLD COLONY STYLE

FRONT ENTRY DOORS - PAINTED FIBERGLASS - WITH GLASS - COLOR COORDINATED WITH SIDING 

WINDOWS - WINDSOR BRAND - SDL - ALUMINUM CLAD - 

ROOFING - MAIN
ROOFING - DORMER
ROOFING - PORCH

TAMPCO - HERITAGE 30 YR - COLOR: VIRGINIA SLATE 
TAMPCO - HERITAGE 30 YR - COLOR : VIRGINIA SLATE 
PAINTED METAL STANDING SEAM ROOFING

SIDING COLORS: (FROM JAMES HARDIE SIDING COLORS)

FRONT ELEVATIONS SIDES AND REAR
78 CABARRUS 74CABARRUS

LOWER SIDING COLOR HARRIS CREAM SANDSTONE BEIGE
UPPER SIDING COLOR KHAKI BROWN COBBLESTONE
GABLE SIDING COLOR (IF NEEDED) AUTUMN TAN HARRIS CREAM
DORMER SIDING COLOR N/A N/A
GARAGE HARRIS CREAM SANDSTONE BEIGE
TRIM COLOR SAILCLOTH

76 CABARRUS 
MOUNTAIN SAGE 

HEATHERED MOSS 
N/A

SAILCLOTH 
MAUNTAIN SAGE 

SAILCLOTH SAILCLOTH

ALL ADDRESSES 
AUTUMN TAN 
HARRIS CREAM 
HARRIS CREAM

 N/A
HARRIS CREAM

SAILCLOTH

WINDOW CLAD COLOR (WINDSOR WINDOWS) - LINEN (MATCH TO SAILCLOTH)

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit G



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit H

jamesa
Typewritten Text
    Proposed Front Entry Doors



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit I

jamesa
Typewritten Text
     Privacy Fence Images



 



 

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit J

jamesa
Typewritten Text
Proposed Roofing Shingles



TRIANGLE BRICK - OLD COLONY

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit K

jamesa
Typewritten Text
   



Case Z(CD)-34-15 
  1 

 

                                                                                                         Staff Report 
 Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
 
DATE:    March 15, 2016 
 
CASE #:  Z (CD)-34-16  
 
DESCRIPTION:  Zoning Map Amendment from RM-2 (Residential Medium 

Density) to CC-CD (Center City Conditional District) 
   

OWNER/APPLICANT:  City of Concord 
 
LOCATION:  74, 76, and 78 Cabarrus Ave. West  
 
PIN#: 5620-87-0418 
 
AREA:   .33 +/- acres 

 
ZONING: RM-2 (Residential Medium Density) 
 
PREPARED BY:   Starla Rogers – Sr. Planner 
  
BACKGROUND 
This case came before the Planning and Zoning Commission on January 19th 2016.  Several 
neighbors spoke at the public hearing in opposition to the request.  The primary concerns were: 
Parking on Yorktown St., vehicular traffic congestion on Yorktown St., zoning classification of 
Center City, townhome use, number of townhome units, small front yard setback, and rental 
versus owner occupied units.  The Planning and Zoning Commission tabled the case to allow the 
City and the neighbors to further discuss the project and possible methods of compromise. 
 
After the meeting, City Staff contacted the potential buyer and he confirmed that he would not be 
in favor of modifying the request to single family homes or to reduce the number of townhome 
units.  With that in mind, staff revised the townhome site plan to incorporate varied front setbacks 
for the units by incorporating both a front courtyard and stoop entry.  Additionally, the site plan 
was modified to allow an exit only access point on Cabarrus Avenue.  This new point of egress 
minimizes the need for residents of the townhomes to exit onto Yorktown Street. 
 
After speaking with the potential buyer of the property, City staff held several meetings with 
surrounding neighbors and members of the community.  A detailed description of each meeting 
and the resulting outcome is attached for the Commission’s review.  The result of each meeting 
varied.  Some citizens with whom the meetings were held are now in support of the project or 
have decided to be neutral.  However, there are still individuals in opposition as well.  With an 
active offer to purchase, conditioned on the rezoning and four (4) townhomes, the request must be 
carried through the rezoning process as presented. 
 
 

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit L



Case Z(CD)-34-15 
  2 

HISTORY 
The subject property is approximately .33 acres in a RM-2 (Residential Medium Density) zoning 
district, abutting the CC (Center City) zoning district.  Cabarrus Avenue separates the subject 
property and other properties within the CC district.  The property is also located within the 
City’s Historic Preservation Overlay district.   
 
Previously, the property was occupied by an approximately 3,500sf nonconforming commercial 
multi-tenant building and was held by a private party owner.  The subject property was the site of 
various nuisance complaints through Concord Police Department.  In November of 2014 the City 
purchased the property with intentions of more compatible redevelopment in the future. The 
structure was demolished in January 2015 and the site is now vacant.   
 
The City met and discussed the project with individuals in the surrounding neighborhood.  A 
formal neighborhood meeting was held on March 10th, 2015 in order to allow residents/property 
owners/tenants to have input on the future use/development of the site.  The City presented 
several options including single-family detached residential dwellings, a commercial structure, 
and single-family residential attached units (townhomes).  The result of the meeting was a 
preference of residential to commercial.  Single-family residential was the overall neighborhood 
preference resulting from the meeting.  After sending out an RFP, the only returned interest in 
redevelopment of the property was an offer to purchase for townhome development.  Preliminary 
site designs indicate the site can accommodate four (4) two-story townhome units with rear 
detached garages, rear parking, two-way access off of Yorktown Street and one-way exit to 
Cabarrus Avenue. 
 
Typically when requests must appear before both the Planning and Zoning Commission and the 
Historic Preservation Commission (HPC), the applicant first appears before HPC.  This process is 
used so that the Planning and Zoning Commission has assurance that the HPC has approved site 
design and elevations as compatible with the Historic District prior to approval of any conditional 
zoning modification.  This limits the need for multiple meetings/re-reviews.  However, in this 
instance, the City has a prospective buyer for the property and the sale is dependent upon zoning 
approval.  Therefore, there are no formal site plans, elevations, or material descriptions to 
accompany this conditional rezoning.  Instead there are preliminary designs as to what the site 
could accommodate if rezoning were approved.  Should the Commission approve the request to 
rezone the property to CC-CD, the following conditions are proposed: 

1. Use limited to no more than (4) +/- 1700sf two-story townhome units 
2. Rear parking 
3. Detached rear loaded garages 
4. Two front courtyards and two front stoops along with rear courtyards  
5. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown Street, NW 
6. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Avenue, West. 
7. 6ft tall privacy fences along the adjoining property lines if approved by HPC 

 
City staff made a presentation to the HPC on December 30th explaining the project, proposed 
uses, and need for modification to the public hearings order.  The Commission had no objections 
and was informed of the upcoming Planning and Zoning meeting should they care to attend as 
private citizens or elect a representative to speak.  
 
Site Plan and elevations are submitted as potential designs corresponding with the conditions 
proposed above.  Should the Commission approve the rezoning subject to those conditions, the 
project would be required to meet the enhanced Center City design standards as well as those 
imposed by the Historic Preservation Overlay district and the Historic Preservation Commission.  



Case Z(CD)-34-15 
  3 

 
Existing Zoning and Land Uses 

Zoning of 
Subject 

Property Direction 
Zoning Within 

500 Feet 

Land Uses(s) 
of Subject 
Property Land Uses Within 500 Feet 

RM-2 

North 

RM-2 Residential 
Medium Density 
and C-1 (Light 
Commercial) 

Vacant 
 

Single-Family Residential, and 
Institutional (Old Courthouse 

Theatre/ 

East 

RM-2 (Residential 
Medium Density), 

C-1 (Light 
Commercial) and 
CC (Center City) 

Single-Family Residential, 
Commercial, Office and 

Institutional 

South 

CC (Center City), 
C-1 (Light 

Commercial), and 
RC (Residential 

Compact) 

Single-Family Residential, 
Commercial, and Institutional 

West 

RM-2 (Residential 
Medium Density) 
and C-2 (General 

Commercial) 

Single-Family Residential and 
Commercial 

 
 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE CENTER CITY PLAN AND 2015 LAND USE PLAN 
 
The subject property is located within the Center City Plan, incorporated into the 2015 Land Use 
Plan, and is designated as “Commercial.”  During the update of the Center City Plan, many 
already developed properties were designated with land use categories that paralleled their 
existing uses.  The subject property was occupied by a longstanding commercial building and was 
thus designated as such.  The existing RM-2 zoning classification is not consistent with the land 
use classification.  However, the proposed CC (and conditional district variations) is considered 
consistent and a corresponding zoning classification to the commercial land use designation and 
is therefore appropriate. 
 
SUGGESTED STATEMENT OF ZONING CONSISTENCY  

• The subject property is approximately .33 acres, is zoned RM-2 (Residential Medium 
Density) and is located within the Historic Preservation Overlay District. 

 

• The subject property is a vacant lot.  
 

• The proposed zoning amendment is consistent with the Center City Plan and thus the 
2015 Land Use Plan (LUP) as the subject property is designated “commercial” and CC 
(Center City) is a corresponding zoning classification.  

 

• The zoning amendment is reasonable and in the public interest because the petition 
allows for compatible single-family residential uses and is an extension of the existing 
CC (Center City) zoning across Cabarrus Avenue, West. 

 
SUGGESTED RECOMMENDATION AND CONDITIONS  
The staff finds the request consistent with the Center City Plan and 2015 Land Use Plan and the 



Case Z(CD)-34-15 
  4 

requirements of the Concord Development Ordinance.  The petition meets the minimum 
requirements of the CDO.  It is a parallel conditional district request, the Commission, should 
they decide to approve the request, may, according to Section 3.2.8.E of the CDO, suggest 
“reasonable additional conditions or augment those already provided with the petition, but 
only those conditions mutually agreed upon by the petitioner and the Commission or 
Council may be incorporated into the approval.  Any such condition should relate to the 
relationship of the proposed use to surrounding property, proposed support facilities such 
as parking areas and driveways, pedestrian and vehicular circulation systems, screening 
and buffer areas, the timing of development, street and right-of-way improvements, water 
and sewer improvements, storm water drainage, the provision of open space and other 
matters that the Commission or Council may find appropriate.”   
 
The petitioner has consented to the following conditions: 

1. Use limited to no more than (4) +/- 1700sf two-story townhome units 
2. Rear parking 
3. Detached rear loaded garages 
4. Two front courtyards and two front stoops along with rear courtyards  
5. Shared access driveway off of Yorktown Street, NW 
6. Exit only access onto Cabarrus Avenue, West. 
7. 6ft tall privacy fences along the adjoining property lines if approved by HPC 

 
PROCEDURAL CONSIDERATIONS 
This particular rezoning case is considered “legislative” in nature as stated in Section 3.2.7 of the 
CDO.  Legislative hearings DO NOT require sworn testimony or findings of fact for approval or 
denial. 



CABARRUS AVE W

BELL ST SW

GROVE AVE NW

YORKTOWN ST NW

SPRING ST NW

GEORGIA ST NW

SPRING ST SW

GEORGIA ST SW

CC

RM-2

RC

O-I

C-2

C-1

C-1

RC

UNION ST S

CHURCH ST N

CONCORD PKW
Y N

BR
AN

CH
VI

EW
 D

R 
SE

WILSHIRE AVE SW

SPRING ST SW

NE
IS

LE
R 

RDBRANCHVIEW DR NE

BURRAGE RD NE

CORBAN AVE SE

ROBERTA RD

KERR ST NW

HARRIS ST NW

LIN
CO

LN
 S

T S
W

UNION CEMETERY RD SW

CORBAN AVE SW

FAITH DR SW

SPRING ST NW CRESTSIDE DR SE

WILSON ST NE

HILLANDALE ST NE

SWINK ST SW

LITAKER LN

BRAFFORD DR

1ST ST NW

TU
LIP

 AV
E S

W

CENTRAL DR NW

CENTRAL DR NW

Source: City of Concord
Planning Department

Z(CD)-34-15 
ZONING MAP

Zoning Map Amendment
from Residential Medium

Density (RM-2) to
Center City Conditional District

(CC-CD) for the development
of four (4) townhomes

These maps and products are designed for general
reference only and data contained herein is subject 
to change. The City Of Concord, it's employees or 
agents make no warranty of merchantability or fitness 
for any purpose, expressed or implied, and assume no 
legal responsibility for the information contained therein. 
Data used is from multiple sources with various scales 
and accuracy. Additional research such as field surveys 
may be necessary to determine actual conditions.

Disclaimer

0 200100
Feet

Subject Property
Parcels

Zoning
C-1
C-2
CC
O-I
RC
RM-2

Subject
Property

74-78 Cabarrus Ave W
PIN 5620-87-0418



Mixed Use

Institutional

Commercial

Government

Open Spaces

Single Family

Office

CABARRUS AVE W

BELL ST SW

GROVE AVE NW

YORKTOWN ST NW

SPRING ST NW

GEORGIA ST NW

SPRING ST SW

GEORGIA ST SW

UNION ST S

CHURCH ST N

CONCORD PKW
Y N

BR
AN

CH
VI

EW
 D

R 
SE

WILSHIRE AVE SW

SPRING ST SW

NE
IS

LE
R 

RDBRANCHVIEW DR NE

BURRAGE RD NE

CORBAN AVE SE

ROBERTA RD

KERR ST NW

HARRIS ST NW

LIN
CO

LN
 S

T S
W

UNION CEMETERY RD SW

CORBAN AVE SW

FAITH DR SW

SPRING ST NW CRESTSIDE DR SE

WILSON ST NE

HILLANDALE ST NE

SWINK ST SW

LITAKER LN

BRAFFORD DR

1ST ST NW

TU
LIP

 AV
E S

W

CENTRAL DR NW

CENTRAL DR NW

Source: City of Concord
Planning Department

Z(CD)-34-15 
LAND USE PLAN

Zoning Map Amendment
from Residential Medium

Density (RM-2) to
Center City Conditional District

(CC-CD) for the development
of four (4) townhomes

These maps and products are designed for general
reference only and data contained herein is subject 
to change. The City Of Concord, it's employees or 
agents make no warranty of merchantability or fitness 
for any purpose, expressed or implied, and assume no 
legal responsibility for the information contained therein. 
Data used is from multiple sources with various scales 
and accuracy. Additional research such as field surveys 
may be necessary to determine actual conditions.

Disclaimer

0 200100
Feet

Subject Property
Parcels
Commercial
Government
Industrial
Institutional
Mixed Use
Multi Family
Office
Open Spaces
Single Family

Subject
Property

74-78 Cabarrus Ave W
PIN 5620-87-0418

Single Family

Commercial

Commercial

Institutional

Institutional



CABARRUS AVE W

BELL ST SW

YORKTOWN ST NW

UNION ST S

CHURCH ST N

CONCORD PKW
Y N

BR
AN

CH
VI

EW
 D

R 
SE

WILSHIRE AVE SW

SPRING ST SW

NE
IS

LE
R 

RDBRANCHVIEW DR NE

BURRAGE RD NE

CORBAN AVE SE

ROBERTA RD

KERR ST NW

HARRIS ST NW

LIN
CO

LN
 S

T S
W

UNION CEMETERY RD SW

CORBAN AVE SW

FAITH DR SW

SPRING ST NW CRESTSIDE DR SE

WILSON ST NE

HILLANDALE ST NE

SWINK ST SW

LITAKER LN

BRAFFORD DR

1ST ST NW

TU
LIP

 AV
E S

W

CENTRAL DR NW

CENTRAL DR NW

Source: City of Concord
Planning Department

Z(CD)-34-15 
AERIAL

Zoning Map Amendment
from Residential Medium

Density (RM-2) to
Center City Conditional District

(CC-CD) for the development
of four (4) townhomes

These maps and products are designed for general
reference only and data contained herein is subject 
to change. The City Of Concord, it's employees or 
agents make no warranty of merchantability or fitness 
for any purpose, expressed or implied, and assume no 
legal responsibility for the information contained therein. 
Data used is from multiple sources with various scales 
and accuracy. Additional research such as field surveys 
may be necessary to determine actual conditions.

Disclaimer

0 10050
FeetSubject Property

Parcels

Subject
Property

74-78 Cabarrus Ave W
PIN 5620-87-0418



1 
 

Summary of Planning Department Outreach to Surrounding Residents 
 

Bold italicized text = Staff/Official’s follow-up 

In-Person Meetings: Mayor and City Council with Planning Staff (Scott Adams, Steve 
Osborne, Margaret Pearson), 1/13/15 

• Planning staff presented development concepts to Mayor and City Council members in small group meetings. 

Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting: Planning Staff (Scott Adams, Starla Rogers, 
Margaret Pearson), 1/19/16 

• Planning staff presented rezoning case to Planning & Zoning Commission; the Commission tabled a decision 
• Planning & Zoning Commission tabled the rezoning to their 2/16/16 meeting. 

Parking/Traffic Operations, 1/20/16 
• Residents noted that existing on-street parking on Yorktown St. NW is often limited, 1/19/16. 
• Residents noted that queuing for Coltrane-Webb STEM School often prevents free access from properties in the 

20-50 block of Yorktown St. NW, 1/19/16. 
• Coltrane-Webb STEM School, hours of operation:  8:15 a.m. – 3 p.m.  [Steve Osborne asked Transportation 

Director Joe Wilson about this on 1/20/16. Director Wilson noted that this area has already been studied and 
that he wouldn’t recommend any significant changes (i.e. reversing Yorktown St.’s one-way pattern toward 
Cabarrus Ave. W.).  Planning staff also visited the area 1/21/16, 8-8:20 a.m., and did not see significant traffic 
congestion.] 

In-Person Meeting: Jim Potter (Developer), Scott Adams, Starla Rogers, Steve Osborne 
(City of Concord), 1/21/16 

• Jim Potter: If pushed to do 3 units, this would drive up cost and size per unit.  $230,000 price-point is based on 
assumption of $135/SF (new construction), compared to Afton Village units, $125/SF, based on age (built in 
2006, now 10 years old). 

• Jim Potter: Originally considering 19’-wide units, but now exploring two @ 18’ (2 bedroom) and two @ 22’ (3 
bedroom).  Overall width is 80’ vs. 76’ for 19’ units. 

In-Person Meeting  w/ Bill and Rebecca Patten (Citizens), Scott Adams, Margaret Pearson, 
Steve Osborne (City of Concord), 1/26/16 

• City staff reviewed proposed site plan changes with the Pattens, including: 
1. Secondary one-way driveway onto Cabarrus Ave. W. 
2. Recessed 20’ setbacks for two center units, with 8’ courtyards on end units, thus meeting Center City 

max. 10’ setback requirement. 
• Bill and Rebecca Patten:  Did not agree with site plan changes, still insisted on 1-2 single-family detached houses.  

Requested that City staff ask the developer about potential interest in reduced number of townhouses or single-
family detached houses. 

• City staff promised to follow up with the developer on the question of reduced number of townhouses or single-
family detached house(s).  Staff contacted Jim Potter, developer, per next item. 



2 
 

Conference Call w/ Jim Potter (Developer), Scott Adams, Margaret Pearson, Steve Osborne, 
Starla Rogers (City of Concord), 1/26/16 

• City staff asked Jim Potter if reduced number of townhouse units or single-family detached house(s) would be an 
option for the site.  Jim Potter declined interest in anything other than four (4) townhouse units, noting that he 
find other pieces of property for this product.  Jim Potter does not view less than 4 townhouse or single-family 
detached housing as being economically viable for the site. 

• City staff thanked Jim Potter for confirming his interest in the site and noted that they would continue to 
recommend rezoning from RM-2 to CC-CD to support the construction of four (4) townhouses on the site. 

Phone Call:  Karen Gronli inquiry on purchase of entire parcel at 68 Cabarrus Ave. W., 
1/27/16 

Certified Letters for 2/16/16 Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting, 1/27/16 
City staff prepared a letter, sent via Certified Mail 20 days ahead of the February 16, 2016 Planning & Zoning 
Commission meeting, to notify adjacent property owners of the rezoning request. 

Steve Osborne (City of Concord) Phone Call w/ Arlene Clark, 2/1/16 
• Steve explained proposed site plan changes (secondary one-way driveway, increased setbacks on center units) 
• Arlene Clark expressed concern at feasibility of selling 4 units @ $230,000 each; Steve noted that Staff and the 

Developer have done some market analysis and this is the most viable product for the site.  Arlene Clark 
concluded that she’ll remain neutral on the project. 

Karen Gronli places NEW offer on remainder of 68 Cabarrus Ave. W., 2/3/16 

Steve Osborne (City of Concord) phone call w/ Barbara Sheppard, 2/5/16 
• Barbara Sheppard requested that 1) rental vs. owner be discussed and <4 units be discussed w/ developer. 
• Barbara Sheppard noted she would request a meeting with City Manager, Mayor to discuss parking issues on 

Yorktown St. NW. 
• Planning staff contacted Joe Wilson, Transportation Director, for one more inquiry on traffic operations/on-

street parking in immediate vicinity. 

 In-Person Meeting between Mike Hooten (Karen Gronli’s significant other), 64 Cabarrus 
Ave. W., and Steve Osborne, Scott Adams (City of Concord)2/5/16 

• Mike Hooten lives at 64 Cabarrus Ave. W., dropped in to office to get an update on site plans, etc. 
• Planning staff reviewed previous site plan (single driveway access on Yorktown) vs. revised site plan (secondary 

driveway onto Cabarrus Ave.) and discussed RFP history (reaching out to multiple developers/builders) and only 
receiving Jim Potter’s offer for townhouses; Mr. Hooten noted that the only real way for the historic 
neighborhoods to maintain low-density, single-family detached housing patterns would be to develop a fund to 
purchase vacant lots; Planning staff agreed with his assessment. 

 

 

 



3 
 

In-Person Meeting between Citizens and City officials, 2/11/16 
• A meeting was held February 11 at 1:30 p.m. at City Hall to discuss the project and Yorktown St. traffic 

operations/parking.  Attending the meeting were : 
o Steve Osborne, Deputy Planning Director 
o Margaret Pearson, Planning Director 
o Brian Hiatt, City Manager 
o Scott Padgett, Mayor 
o Al Brown, Concord City Council/Grove St. resident 
o Barbara Sheppard, Yorktown St. resident 
o Joe Hunter, resident at corner of Yorktown & Grove St. 
o Steve Morris, Cabarrus County Commission/Georgia St. resident 
o Christie Celetti, Yorktown St. resident 

• Citing citizen concerns for possibly finding a single-family detached homebuilder, the rezoning was removed 
from the 2/16/16 Planning & Zoning Commission agenda and tabled until the 3/15/16 Planning & Zoning 
Commission meeting. 

Phone Call: Karen Gronli inquiry of rezoning with Scott Adams (City of Concord) 2/18/16 
• Karen Gronli, in Arizona for indeterminate amount of time, called to inquire on status of project since she 

missed the 2/16/16 scheduled Planning & Zoning Commission meeting. 
• Planning staff noted that City Council tabled the rezoning and removed it from Planning & Zoning Commission 

meeting (for 2/16/16) after a 2/11/16 meeting with citizens.  Staff noted that the rezoning is scheduled for 
Planning & Zoning Commission’s 3/15/16 meeting. 

• Ms. Gronli’s offer to purchase the remainder of 68 Cabarrus Ave.W., in addition to Jim Potter’s offer on both 
68 Cabarrus Ave. W. and 74-78 Cabarrus Ave., will not be considered by City Council until their 4/14/16 
meeting at the earliest. 

In-Person Meeting between Kevin and Casey Killough and Scott Adams, Steve Osborne 
(City of Concord) 2/25/16 

• Mr. and Mrs. Killough noted that misunderstanding about the project has been spread via neighborhood-based 
petitions. 

• Planning staff clarified that the existing renderings are massing models and do not represent any architectural 
elements (i.e. brick, siding, roof lines, etc.).  Architectural elements will be reviewed and approved by the 
Historic Preservation Commission (HPC). 

• Mr. and Mrs. Killough noted that the most realistic redevelopment scenario for 74-78 Cabarrus Ave. W. is 
townhomes, given the demographics (Millennials, Baby Boomers) and general interest in low-maintenance 
housing options (i.e. little/no yard to maintain, minimal exterior house maintenance required). 

 

 



4 
 

In-Person Meeting between Marshall Ward, Bill Patten, Councilmember Alfred M. Brown 
Jr. and Scott Adams, Steve Osborne, Margaret Pearson (City of Concord) 3/8/16 

• Mr. Ward presented a written list of questions/concerns, including whether or not the proposed CC zoning was 
adjacent to existing zoning; Staff noted that zoning polygons run to street centerlines, making the proposed 
rezoning to CC legal since the properties across Cabarrus Ave. W. are zoned CC. 
 

• Mr.Ward took issue with the proposed townhomes having back-of-sidewalk setbacks ranging from 20 feet to 8 
feet, citing that most surrounding setbacks are 30 feet.  Staff noted that the proposed setbacks are site-specific 
in response to concerns from Bill and Rebecca Patten (90 Cabarrus Ave.).  Staff showed a development 
scenario assuming Residential Compact (RC) zoning, which would require 20 foot setbacks on both frontages 
of Yorktown St. NW and Cabarrus Ave. NW, pushing the building footprint south and west, precluding the 
ability to have a secondary driveway access onto Cabarrus Ave. W. (requested by neighbors) and removing 4 
guest parking spaces along the rear driveway. 
 

• Mr. Ward and Mr. Patten expressed concern that townhomes would not reach a price point of $135/SF, and 
would more likely be $90-100/SF.  They also asked if nearby neighbors would actively market the property to 
real estate agents and related entities to build single family detached homes on the site.  Staff reiterated that 
the RFP for the property was distributed via direct mailing, plus general marketing/distribution, to a range of 
single-family detached homebuilders in Cabarrus County and other residential developers across the Charlotte 
region.  Staff noted that no active offer for single-family detached housing has been made on the site; the only 
other inquiries have been for commercial or townhome development. 

In-Person Meeting between Charles Gressle, Jr. (17 Yorktown St. NW) and Steve Osborne, 
(City of Concord) 3/10/16 
Steve Osborne met with Charles Gressle, who lives at 17 Yorktown St. (property immediately behind 74-78 Cabarrus 
Ave. W.) to discuss the project’s updated site plan (i.e. secondary driveway access onto Cabarrus Ave. W.) 

Next Steps 
• Planning & Zoning Commission will consider the rezoning at their 3/15/16 meeting. 
• City Council may consider offers to purchase property (74-78 Cabarrus Ave. W.) at their 4/14/16 meeting. 



2

Previously Submitted for 1/19/16 Planning & Zoning Commission
64 Cabarrus Ave.
(Karen Gronli)



3

To Be Submitted for 3/15/16 Planning & Zoning Commission
64 Cabarrus Ave.
(Karen Gronli)



4

90 Cabarrus Ave.
(Rebecca Patten)

All models are for height/massing purposes only, not detailed architecture.  Historic 
Preservation Commission will review detailed architecture (i.e. materials, roof pitch/style, etc.)



5

All models are for height/massing purposes only, not detailed architecture.  Historic 
Preservation Commission will review detailed architecture (i.e. materials, roof pitch/style, etc.)



6

All models are for height/massing purposes only, not detailed architecture.  Historic 
Preservation Commission will review detailed architecture (i.e. materials, roof pitch/style, etc.)



7

90 Cabarrus Ave.
(Rebecca Patten)









1 | P a g e   

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION MEETING 
MINUTES 

Wednesday, December 13, 2023 
 

 
Members    
Present: William Isenhour 
  James Firth 
  Steve Bradley 
  Mary Margaret Underwood 
  John Eury 
    
Alternate  
Members: Randy Hopkins 
     
Members  
Absent: Carolyn Coggins 
  Meredith Barbee 
    
Attorney to 
Commission:  VaLerie Kolczynski 
    
Staff    
Present: Kevin Ashley, Deputy Director, Planning & Neighborhood Development 

Autumn James, Planning and Development Manager 
Kim Wallis, Senior Planner 
Deirdre Connellan, Sr. Executive Assistant 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 
Chair Isenhour called the December 13, 2023, Historic Preservation Commission meeting to order at 6:05 p.m. 
 
CHANGES TO THE AGENDA: 
 
There were no changes to the agenda. 
 
INTRODUCTIONS: 
 
Commissioners John Eury, Steve Bradley, Chair William Isenhour, Mary Margaret Underwood, Jim Firth and Randy 
Hopkins introduced themselves to the audience. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to approve the minutes from the November meeting.  Commissioner Underwood 
seconded the motion. –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
ADMINISTRATION OF THE OATH: 
 
Chair Isenhour swore in those wishing to speak before the Commission. 
 

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit I



2 | P a g e   

 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 
H-15-22 (QUASI-JUDICIAL HEARING-CONTINUED) JIM POTTER HAS SUBMITTED A 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION FOR CONSTRUCTION OF A SINGLE-
FAMILY RESIDENCE AT 68 CABARRUS AVE W. PIN 5620-87-0595. 
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to open the public hearing. Commissioner Underwood seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Kim Wallis introduced the case to the Commission. 
 
On November 8, 2023, this case was reviewed by the Historic Preservation Commission where they continued the 
public hearing to the December meeting in order to: receive a landscape plan from the applicant to show the 
following:  the placement of the 2 replacement trees and the landscaping planted along the proposed privacy wall 
intended to hide it from view within 2 years.  The applicant has submitted this information and has also updated his 
site plan to include the 3’ concrete front walk extending from the front porch to the public sidewalk and the revised 
color swatches for the house.  
 
The site plan has been updated to show a new oak tree along Cabarrus Ave., a new maple canopy tree and a new 
canopy oak tree along Yorktown St. There will also be Ilex Holly screening shrubs along the side of the house and 
6’ privacy wall and some foundation shrubs at the front of the house. The new color scheme will be autumn tan, 
heathered moss, timber bark and sail cloth for the outside of the home. 
 
The approvals are needed for new construction, a fencing wall, walks and driveways and removal of healthy trees.  
 
Chair Isenhour asked to be shown the alterations for the elevation of the home and the color scheme. Mrs. Wallis 
stated that the timber bark color will be going on the gable but the other colors are the same.  
 
Commissioner Underwood asked if there was a change in the type of windows, as discussed in the November 
meeting.  Mrs. Wallis stated yes, they will be wood.  
 
Mr. Jim Potter stepped up to the podium and asked if wood windows are required for new construction.  Mrs. Wallis 
referenced the handbook guidance. Contemporary substitute materials may be approved on a case-by-case basis for 
new structures. Mr. Potter asked if the Commission would consider the aluminum clad window.  He said from the 
street, it is very hard to tell is, the material of the window.  The buildings constructed on Cabarrus Ave in 2018 had 
clad windows. They are not vinyl.  They are clad with a baked-on aluminum finished product. They are more durable 
as far as not needing maintenance as much as wood will.  In the future, if whoever owns these buildings is reluctant 
to do regular maintenance on them, the clad windows would look better in the long run.   
 
Commissioner Firth read what it says about windows in the handbook.  Mixed composition synthetic windows may 
be used under the following circumstances, and new construction of a primary structure is one of them. Chair 
Isenhour stated that the Commission can allow it but it is up to the Commission to decide. Chair Isenhour stated that 
the comment about the windows came up in the November meeting and at that time, it was decided that wood would 
be used. Commissioner Underwood stated that she was not aware that it was possible to have anything other than 
wood for new construction.  
 
Ms. Karen Gronli of 64 Cabarrus Ave. W. stepped up to the podium.  She stated that she lives beside the proposed 
single-family residence and that she had handouts for everyone. She stated that in November, she did not have a 



3 | P a g e   

copy of her deed to address the question of the shared driveway. Since the last meeting, she obtained a copy of her 
deed, as well as Mr. Potter’s deed. She stated her deed was very hard to understand the street names because they 
changed. She asked the Commission to look at the third page because it has a lot of detail and shows both properties. 
Ms. Gronli noted that there are boundary lines for the properties and the driveway splits between both properties.  
This driveway has been in use for possibly 100 years.  Ms. Gronli’s home was built in 1920 and the corner property 
was previously an old house.  
 
Ms. Gronli stated that she bought her house from Mr. Frank Hinson and he said when he lived in that house, he was 
told that it was a shared driveway and always used it as such. She stated the first few years she lived in the house 
she maintained the grass on what is now Mr. Potter’s property.  If she doesn’t keep her share of the driveway, it will 
be difficult to park at the front or the side of the house. She is asking for a dedicated easement from Mr. Potter so 
that the driveway can be shared or at least have a driveway space so that she can easily access her property, It will 
be difficult to park and she will have to back out onto a state highway.  The shed on Yorktown is hers but the 
boundaries are so tight that she can’t walk due to existing fencing and a big storage unit in the back.  To reconfigure 
all that into the back yard would be a great expense.  She would have to walk down Yorktown and down Cabarrus 
if her driveway was taken away. She feels like she is in danger of losing access to her driveway.  
 
Commissioner Underwood said that the Commission does not have any jurisdiction over Ms. Gronli’s property lines. 
Commissioner Firth stated that the Commission is more focused on the look of the structure.  City Attorney VaLerie 
Kolczysnki stated that Commissioner Firth was absolutely correct and reiterated that the Commission has no 
authority over easements or driveway access.  She stated that what Ms. Gronli’s deed says, is she has the right to her 
property. If she needs access from her neighbor’s property, that needs to be worked out with the neighbor.  The 
Historic Preservation Commission does not have the authority to grant an easement. Ms. Gronli stated that the board 
has the authority to know where the house is located. Ms. Kolczynski stated yes. Ms. Gronli said that could be 
affected by the driveway.  Commissioner Underwood stated that it was best to follow the guidelines of the city. Ms. 
Kolczynski said nothing could give the board authority to give her an easement on someone else’s property. Mr. 
Potter owns the property, and the board cannot make him give Ms. Gronli an access easement. They simply don’t 
have the power to do that. Ms. Gronli said the way she sees it, her property line comes into the driveway. Ms. 
Kolczynski stated that it appears that way from the survey. She wants everyone to know that because she intends to 
keep using it.  
 
Chair Isenhour stated that the question of the driveway came up at the November meeting because he remembers 
asking if the applicant had a survey done of the property.  Mr. Potter came forward.  Chair Isenhour asked Mr. Potter 
if he had a survey.  Mr. Potter stated that he has the survey that the City completed before he purchased the land. 
Chair Isenhour stated that the survey is showing the gravel drive that services his property, but that Mr. Potter has 
confirmed that he won’t be maintaining that in the future. Chair Isenhour stated that Mr. Potter won’t have a 
driveway, but an access with a garage off Yorktown.  
 
Mr. Potter stated that when he purchased the property, he was told by someone at the City that the small portion at 
the back of the lot was going to be made available to the neighbor. They asked if he would be okay if it was separated 
to give parking access to the neighbor. Mr. Potter agreed that it was fine with him. Mr. Potter said they sectioned off 
the back part so Ms. Gronli would have access to her house. He understands that there is a garage in the way and 
there would need to be a modification to the garage and fence so someone could walk in between the two sections 
of property.  
 
Chair Isenhour asked if Mr. Potter planned to use the gravel driveway?  Mr. Potter answered that it is not a deeded 
right of way.  Commissioner Firth asked if Ms. Gronli and Mr. Potter had each completed surveys individually.  Mr. 
Potter stated that the City completed a survey before he purchased the land.  Commissioner Firth said he just had 
one done for his property and it is completely different from when he purchased his home. Commissioner Firth 



4 | P a g e   

stated that his driveway is split down the middle. Commissioner Underwood stated that she doesn’t see that on the 
deed.  Chair Isenhour said that it was not in the Commission’s control to do anything regarding the driveway.   
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to close the public hearing. Commissioner Underwood seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Chair Isenhour stated that a motion needs to be made to approve the Findings of Fact. He also noted that the staff 
report mentions wood windows, and that if the Commission is inclined to deviate from wood windows, then an 
amendment would need to be made to the language. The Commission does have the discretion to make that 
modification. Commissioner Underwood stated that it was a different time period when her house and Commissioner 
Firth’s houses were built so they have to have wood windows but, in the handbook, it states that if there is new 
construction then other types of windows can be used.  
 
Ms. Kolczynski modified the language of the wording in the Findings of Fact that now reflects that windows will be 
double hung white aluminum clad wood with SDL (Simulated Divided Lites) grids painted white. 
 

1. The subject property is located at 68 Cabarrus Ave W, Concord, NC. The owner is Old Towne Development 
Corp who acquired the property by deed recorded in Cabarrus County Register of Deeds Book 12017, Page 
294, as recorded on July 14, 2016. 

2. 68 Cabarrus Ave W is located in the RM-2 (Residential Medium Density) zoning district and is in the North 
Union Street Historic District and is designated as a “Vacant Lot” structure in the Concord Historic Districts 
Handbook (June 2001 ed.), (the “Handbook”) Chapter 3 (Exhibit A).  

3. The Handbook is an ordinance of the City of Concord duly adopted by the City Council and incorporated into 
the Code of Ordinances by reference. 

4.  On April 9, 2023, Jim Potter applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness under Concord  
Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 to construct a two-story single-family home with a rear  
patio and detached garage. 

5. The applicant is proposing new construction including: 
A. Construction of a two-story single-family home, with a rear patio, privacy wall between the house and 

the garage, and detached garage. The proposed residence will have a brick stem wall foundation with 
8.5-inch fiber cement lap siding, and architectural shingles and the garage will be on a monolithic slab 
foundation with 8.5-inch fiber cement lap siding with architectural shingles. The exterior siding will be 
James Hardie cement based or equivalent brand; Tampco Virginia Slate Architectural Shingles will be 
used on the roof; Camden Brick by Triangle Brick will be used on the exterior and windows will be 
double hung white aluminum clad wood with SDL (Simulated Divided Lites) grids. 

B. Garage siding will be James Hardie cement based or equivalent siding. 
C. Front entry door to be fiberglass craftsman style with light and transom window above with a white paint 

finish. 
D. Privacy wall between residence and garage will be 8.5-inch fiber cement lap siding over a 2x4 stud 

framed wall. 
E. Concrete patio (12x20) will be poured concrete. 
F. A three (3) foot concrete walkway will extend from the front steps to the public sidewalk in the front 

yard. 
6. The applicant is also requesting to remove two (2) trees from the property: 

A. Trees to be removed include one (1) crape myrtle (Lagerstroemia indica) and one (1) pecan (Cara 
Illinoensis). 

1. The crape myrtle (Diameter at breast height of 16”, Height 25’, Spread 15’) is located on 
the north side of the parcel. The City Arborist notes that the tree has some dead branches in 
the crown typical of old myrtles that were topped in the past. The risk rating for this tree is 
calculated as a three (3). 



5 | P a g e   

2. The pecan tree (DBH 19”, Height 55’, Spread 30’) is also located on the north side of the 
parcel. The City Arborist notes that the tree has no structural defects or concerns above the 
normal for a health tree of this tree species. The risk rating for this tree is calculated as a 
four (4). 

3. Both assessments were performed by the City Arborist. 
4. The applicant provided a landscape plan which indicates three (3) replacement trees to 

include: a canopy tree (Oak) in the right side front yard, a canopy tree (Maple) and an 
ornamental tree (Crape Mrytle) in the left side yard near the sidewalk along Yorktown St. 
Additional landscaping shown includes ten (10) screening shrubs (Ilex Holly) along the left 
side of the house and fiber cement privacy wall, and four (4) foundation shrubs (Camellias) 
in the front yard landscaping bed. 

7. For the November meeting, the applicant submitted a site plan, elevations, and proposed materials 
(Exhibits D, E, F) and staff submitted Tree Assessments and Photos (Exhibit G). 

8. For the December meeting, the applicant submitted a Landscape Plan (Exhibit C) and Photographs of 
Screening Shrubs (Exhibit D) 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 
   

1. The subject property is located at 68 Cabarrus Ave W, Concord, NC. The owner is Old Towne Development 
Corp who acquired the property by deed recorded in Cabarrus County Register of Deeds Book 12017, Page 
294, as recorded on July 14, 2016. 

2. 68 Cabarrus Ave W is located in the RM-2 (Residential Medium Density) zoning district and is in the North 
Union Street Historic District and is designated as a “Vacant Lot” structure in the Concord Historic Districts 
Handbook (June 2001 ed.), (the “Handbook”) Chapter 3 (Exhibit A).  

3. The Handbook is an ordinance of the City of Concord duly adopted by the City Council and incorporated 
into the Code of Ordinances by reference. 

4. On April 9, 2023, Jim Potter applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness under Concord Development 
     Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 to construct a two-story single-family home with a rear patio and detached garage. 
5.  The applicant is proposing new construction including: 

A. Construction of a two-story single-family home, with a rear patio, privacy wall between the house and 
the garage, and detached garage. The proposed residence will have a brick stem wall foundation with 
8.5-inch fiber cement lap siding, and architectural shingles and the garage will be on a monolithic slab 
foundation with 8.5-inch fiber cement lap siding with architectural shingles. The exterior siding will be 
James Hardie cement based or equivalent brand; Tampco Virginia Slate Architectural Shingles will be 
used on the roof; Camden Brick by Triangle Brick will be used on the exterior and windows will be 
double hung white aluminum clad wood with SDL (Simulated Divided Lites) grids. 

B. Garage siding will be James Hardie cement based or equivalent siding. 
C. Front entry door to be fiberglass craftsman style with light and transom window above with a white paint 

finish. 
D. Privacy wall between residence and garage will be 8.5-inch fiber cement lap siding over a 2x4 stud 

framed wall. 
E. Concrete patio (12x20) will be poured concrete. 
F. A three (3) foot concrete walkway will extend from the front steps to the public sidewalk in the front 

yard. 
6. The applicant is also requesting to remove two (2) trees from the property: 

A. Trees to be removed include one (1) crape myrtle (Lagerstroemia indica) and one (1) pecan (Cara 
Illinoensis). 

1. The crape myrtle (Diameter at breast height of 16”, Height 25’, Spread 15’) is located on 
the north side of the parcel. The City Arborist notes that the tree has some dead branches in 



6 | P a g e   

the crown typical of old myrtles that were topped in the past. The risk rating for this tree is 
calculated as a three (3). 

2. The pecan tree (DBH 19”, Height 55’, Spread 30’) is also located on the north side of the 
parcel. The City Arborist notes that the tree has no structural defects or concerns above the 
normal for a health tree of this tree species. The risk rating for this tree is calculated as a 
four (4). 

3. Both assessments were performed by the City Arborist. 
4. The applicant provided a landscape plan which indicates three (3) replacement trees to 

include: a canopy tree (Oak) in the right side front yard, a canopy tree (Maple) and an 
ornamental tree (Crape Mrytle) in the left side yard near the sidewalk along Yorktown St. 
Additional landscaping shown includes ten (10) screening shrubs (Ilex Holly) along the left 
side of the house and fiber cement privacy wall, and four (4) foundation shrubs (Camellias) 
in the front yard landscaping bed. 

7. For the November meeting, the applicant submitted a site plan, elevations, and proposed materials 
(Exhibits D, E, F) and staff submitted Tree Assessments and Photos (Exhibit G). 

8. For the December meeting, the applicant submitted a Landscape Plan (Exhibit C) and Photographs of 
Screening Shrubs (Exhibit D). 

Commissioner Firth made a motion to approve the Findings of Fact as amended.  Commissioner Underwood 
seconded the motion.  The vote carried unanimously. –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
1. This matter is properly before the Commission pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-400.7, et seq. and the 

Concord Development Ordinance. 
 

2. Pursuant to the Handbook, Approval Requirement Needs Table: 
• All new construction and additions require Commission Hearing and Approval. 
• All new patios, walk, and driveways require Commission Hearing and Approval. 
• All types of fencing require Commission Hearing and Approval. 
• Removal of healthy trees or pruning of limbs over six inches in diameter in any location on the property 

requires Commission Hearing and Approval. 
 

3. Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 4- Local Standards and General Policies: 
Alterations: Alterations having no historical basis shall be avoided whenever possible.  Any type of alteration of 
exterior features of a building, site, or environment within the Historic Districts which is not specifically listed within 
these regulations shall be referred to the Historic Preservation Commission for action on the issuance of a 
Certificate of Appropriateness. 

• All buildings, structures and sites shall be recognized as products of their own time.  Alterations that have 
no historical basis and which seek to create an earlier appearance shall be discouraged. 

• Changes which may have taken place in the course of time are evidence of the history and development of a 
building, structure or site and its environment.  These changes may have acquired significance in their own 
right and this significance shall be recognized and respected. 

• Contemporary design for alterations and additions to existing properties shall be encouraged when such 
alterations and additions do not destroy significant historical, architectural or cultural material, and such 
design is compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the property, neighborhood or 
environment. 



7 | P a g e   

• New additions or alterations shall be construed in such a manner as to preserve the essential form and 
integrity of the structure, should the addition or alteration be removed. 

 
4.    Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 5 – Section 1: New Principal Structure Construction 

• The successful integration of new structures or building additions to the neighborhood depends on how 
well the building will preserve existing site features such as trees, slopes, natural drainage patterns, rock 
outcrops, etc. 

• The Historic Preservation Commission will consider how well the proposed construction will maintain 
the unifying features that exist, such as tree canopies, clean boundaries, and architectural and landscape 
details. 

• Other considerations include how compatible the proposed structure will be in material, scale, site 
setting, spatial relationships, color, and details with immediate neighbors. 

• Careful consideration should be given to the design and placement of driveways, landscaping, lighting, 
signage, walkways, and the retention of mature trees or other historic features of landscape. 

• Building materials, features, fenestration, and texture are also important to consider when designing for 
compatibility. 

• A wide range of features and materials presently used in the neighborhood provide a broad range of 
options from which to choose. 

• Through the use of porches, chimneys, bays, and other details, new buildings can be designed to have 
texture compatible with the Historic context. 

 
Design Standards: New Construction 

• New construction shall coordinate in material, scale, size, site position, spatial relationship, and details 
with immediate neighbors within one hundred feet (100’) of the proposed construction. 

• Where feasible, roof forms should be consistent and compatible to others in the district. Large flat 
expanses of walls or roofs should be avoided. 

• New construction should avoid A-frame, dome, shed, and flat roofs. 
• Locate and size window and door openings so they are compatible in placement, orientation, spacing, 

proportion, size and scale with the surrounding historic buildings. 
• The Historic Preservation Commission encourages compatible contemporary design in order to reflect 

accurately the differences between historic buildings and newer structures. 
• Introduce features such as porches, chimneys, bays, and architectural details as appropriate so that the 

texture of new residential structures is compatible with surrounding historic structures. Detailing on new 
structures should be consistent with its overall scheme and design. 

• Contemporary substitute materials such as hardiplank may be approved on a case-by-case basis for new 
structures. In order to qualify for use in new construction, these materials must have a demonstrated 
record of overall quality and durability. The physical properties of substitute materials must be similar 
to those of the historic materials they mimic. When considering substitute materials, the closer an element 
is to the viewer, the more closely the material and craftsmanship should match the original. The 
appropriateness of substitute materials shall be reviewed on an individual basis. 

• Vinyl siding for new construction is not appropriate. 
 
5.   Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 5 – Section 3: New Accessory Structure Construction 

• Through their siting and relationship to the houses, the streets, and the alleys, the accessory buildings 
contribute to the historic character of the district as well. 

• Early garages were typically single-bay structures located in the rear yard at the end of the driveway. 
• Easy storage buildings and sheds were usually small frame structures sited toward the back of the rear 

yard and were generally not visible from the street. 



8 | P a g e   

Design Standards: New Accessory Structure Construction 
• Keep the proportion of new garages and accessory structures compatible with the proportion of the main 

house. Typically, these buildings were smaller in scale than the main house. 
• New garages and accessory structures must use traditional roof forms, materials, and details compatible 

with the main building or historic accessory structures in the district. 
• Locate new garages and accessory structures in rear yards and in traditional relationship to the main 

buildings. 
• All accessory structures shall remain detached from the main building. 
• Metal utility sheds, metal carports, and metal garages are prohibited. 
• Accessory buildings for Pivotal and Contributing structures should complement the siding and roof material 

of the primary structure. 

6.   Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 5- Section 4: Siding and Exterior Materials 
• There are a variety of materials available for use on the exterior of both existing structures and for new 

construction.  Wood siding is the predominate exterior material within the Historic Districts, although 
some structures have masonry. 

• Because artificial siding is not considered an authentic historical material, it is prohibited from being 
used on structures defined by the Commission as Pivotal and Contributing to the Historic Districts, or for 
large accessory structures. 

7.   Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 5- Section 5: Fenestrations: 
• Alteration in door and window openings, especially on the principle façade, should be avoided whenever 

possible, except as a restorative measure to return an opening to its original size.  New openings should 
be located in areas where they are not visible from the street or in areas where they are compatible with 
the original design. 

• Windows on most of the historical homes are of the double hung variety.  Emphasis is on vertical rather 
than horizontal orientation of windows.  The number of lights (panes) in the sash varies with the style 
and period of the house. 

• New windows should be consistent or compatible with existing units.  The emphasis of the new windows 
should be vertical rather than horizontal.  Wood is the most appropriate material, and vinyl and 
aluminum clad windows are inappropriate in most instances.   

• Hybrid windows that include synthetic components or mixed composition of wood and synthetic products.  
This type of window should not be used for replacement of traditional wooden windows or within 
structures designated as Pivotal or Contributing.  

• Choose windows that are appropriate for the style of building, maintain vertical emphasis, and avoid 
large single paned units. 

• Awnings and canopies constructed of canvas are appropriate with commercial structures and in some 
instances with residential structures. Types of residential structures with which awnings are most 
compatible are Bungalow, Queen Ann, and Colonial Revival.  

• Aluminum awnings or canopies are inappropriate. 

Design Standards: Fenestrations 
• Choose windows that are appropriate for the style of building, maintain vertical emphasis, and avoid large 

single paned units. 
• Awnings or canopies should be mounted within the opening, directly on the window or door frame, or as an 

alternate, just outside the opening. 

8.   Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 5 – Section 7: Roofing 
• Use materials in new construction that are consistent with the style of the building; materials should be 

unobtrusive in texture as well as color. 



9 | P a g e   

• New construction should avoid the roof being more than one-half the building’s height. 
• New construction should avoid A-frame, dome, shed and flat-alone roof shapes. 
• Roof shapes, texture and material should be compatible with new construction as well as with immediate 

buildings. 
• Adding new dormers, gables, turrets, and towers should be avoided unless it can be shown that their use is 

architecturally appropriate. 

9.   Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 5 — Section 9: Fences and Walls 
• All wooden fences should be “stick-built” on site.  
• Wooden fences visible from the street and/or wooden fences in front yards and side yards of corner lots 

are required to be painted or stained white or a color matching the body or trim of the structure, including 
shutters, foundation color, etc. 

• Painting or staining is recommended, but not required, for rear yard fences unless they are visible from 
the street.  

• Where fences are desired in front yards and side yards at corner lots, the design should be primarily 
decorative in nature. Front yard fences should not exceed four feet in height.  

• Rear yard fences may be higher than four feet. The portions of rear yard fences that face the street should 
be landscaped with shrubs and trees of a planting size that will fully hide the fence from the street within 
two years. Size, type, and growth habits of plant materials to screen rear yard fences that face the street 
should be submitted at time of application. 

• All proposed fences and walls should not negatively affect existing trees and mature landscaping. 
• Privacy fences are defined as fences with no spacing between pickets or fences of the shadowbox design.  

Privacy fences may be allowed at the discretion of the Commission in the following circumstances: 
A. Privacy fences are most appropriate in rear yards. 
B. Privacy fences may be allowed where the applicant’s rear yard is directly adjacent to property that 

is either not in a historic district, or is within a historic district but is non-contributing or intrusive 
in that district.  The applicant shall show to the satisfaction of the Commission: 

i. that the adjacent property is unsightly in comparison to other properties surrounding the 
applicant’s property, 

ii. that the adjacent property or nearby property raises reasonable security concerns for the 
applicant, or 

iii. that the adjacent property could reasonably be determined to negatively impact the property 
value of the applicant’s property. 

C. Privacy fences encompassing an area of no more than 250 square feet may be allowed at the discretion 
of the Commission when adjacent to the applicant’s house, garage, or other outbuilding in order to 
screen from view trash cans, mechanical equipment, cars or other unsightly items, provided such fence 
does not unreasonably impact any neighbor by blocking windows or the like. 

D. Privacy fences allowed by the Commission should be landscaped where practical with appropriate 
shrubbery to soften the appearance of the fence. 

 
Design Standards: Fences and Walls 

1. Do not use high walls or fences to screen front yards. 
2. Use materials such as natural stone, brick, wood, powder coated aluminum and iron 
3. Chain link or plastic materials are prohibited. Adding slats to existing chain link fences for screen 
purposes is prohibited. 
4. Materials and style should coordinate with building and neighboring buildings as well as other walls and 
fences in the area. 

 
10. Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 5 – Section 10: Driveways, Walkways, and Parking  



10 | P a g e   

• The first residential driveways constructed in the districts were fairly narrow, because cars were smaller 
than they are now. Some of these driveways consist of two parallel “runners” with a grass strip in between. 
These driveways should be retained, and the style can serve as a model for new driveways. 

• When new driveways are constructed, they should be separated from existing driveways by a grass strip, and 
should be narrow, since double width driveways are out of scale with the relatively small lots in the districts. 

• Gravel and pavement are acceptable materials for driveways, as are some alternative materials such as 
cobblestone, brick, and pervious pavers. 

• New walkways should consist of appropriate material including gravel, concrete, stone, brick, or pervious 
pavers. Walkways should avoid prefabricated and imprinted stepping stones within front yards. 

• Parking areas should not be the focal point of the property, and should be located in such a manner as to 
minimize their visibility from the street. 

• Excessive expanses of paving should be avoided. 
• Use vegetation screens or berms to reduce reflection and visual confusion. Within residential areas, integrate 

parking areas into landscaping and surface with the appropriate materials such as concrete, brick, crushed 
stone, or gravel. In general, asphalt should only be used for areas not visible from the street; its use will be 
considered on a case by case basis by the Historic Preservation Commission.  

• New walkways should consist of appropriate natural material including gravel, concrete, stone, brick, or 
pervious pavers. Walkways should avoid prefabricated and imprinted stepping stones within front yards. 
Gravel and pavement are acceptable materials for driveways, as are some alternative materials such as 
cobblestone, brick, and pervious pavers. 

• Trees should be planted or retained in order to maintain the tree canopy and to minimize the focus of the 
parking areas. 

 
Design Standards: Driveways, Walkways, and Parking 

• Parking areas should not be the focal point of the property, and should be located in such a manner as to 
minimize their visibility from the street. 

11.  Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 5 – Section 8: Landscaping and Trees 
• One of the most visible features of the Districts is the landscaping and the associated tree canopy. Activities 

which negatively impact any aspect of the landscape should be avoided, such as the removal of healthy trees 
and mature shrubs. 

• Tree health may be decided upon by the acquisition of a Tree Hazard Evaluation Report issued by the City 
Arborist or a report submitted by a certified arborist. 

• Removal of healthy trees over the size of 6 inches in diameter (measured 4 feet above ground) or pruning of 
healthy tree limbs over 6 inches in diameter requires Historic Preservation Commission review and 
approval. 

• City staff may approve a Certificate of Appropriateness for the removal of healthy trees under 6 inches in 
diameter. Staff may also approve removal or pruning of unhealthy trees/limbs of any size and in any location 
if the tree is deemed hazardous by the Tree Hazard Evaluation Report. 

• All trees that are removed should be replaced with a tree of similar species in an appropriate location unless 
no suitable location exists on the subject site. 

• Trees removed within street view must also have the stumps removed below the ground level. 
• Residential uses should maintain the four characteristic placements for canopy: to soften building ground 

line, to separate public/private edge, to separate the boundary of the property, and to maintain property 
lines. It is also recommended that placement be varied and types of vegetation enhance the appearance of 
the existing property yet maintain and preserve its historical significance. 

 
 



11 | P a g e   

Design Standards: Landscaping and Trees 
 

• Trees which are removed shall be replaced by a species which, upon maturity, is similar in scale to the 
removed specimen. For example, canopy trees shall be replaced with canopy trees, and understory trees with 
understory trees. 

12.  The following criteria shall be considered, when relevant, by the Commission in reviewing applications for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness. All applications for Certificates of Appropriateness shall be subject to review based 
upon the Design Guidelines then in effect.  These guidelines are set forth in a manual prepared and adopted by the 
Commission: 

• lot coverage, defined as the percentage of lot area covered by primary structures; 
• setback, defined as the distance from the lot lines to the building(s); 
• building height; 
• exterior building materials; 
• proportion, shape, positioning, location, pattern and sizes of any elements of fenestration; 
• surface textures; 
• structural condition and soundness; 
• walls—physical ingredients, such as brick, stone or wood walls, wrought iron fences, evergreen landscape 

masses, building facades, or combination of these; 
• color (new construction only and not for existing residences); and 
• effect of trees and other landscape elements. 

 
13. The application is congruous with the historic aspects of the district. 
 
14. Based on the standards of the Handbook, and the City of Concord Code of Ordinances, including the standards 
listed above, the Commission concludes that: 

 
A. The proposed construction of the principal structure is appropriate as it is compatible with the material, scale, 

site setting, spatial relationships, color, and details of the immediate neighbors, does maintain the unifying 
features that exist, such as tree canopies, clean boundaries, and architectural and landscape details, does 
encourage compatible contemporary design in order to reflect accurately the differences between historic 
buildings and newer structures, does include details that are compatible and consistent to other structures in 
the Historic Districts, the use of cement composite lap siding is appropriate as it is in compliance with the 
handbook, the use of brick on the exterior is appropriate as it is  in compliance with the handbook, a painted 
fiberglass front entry door painted white with a transom window above  is appropriate as it is in compliance 
with the handbook, windows will be double hung white aluminum clad wood with SDL (Simulated Divided 
Lites) grids are appropriate as they are in compliance with the handbook, Tampco Virginial Slate 30-year 
architectural shingles for use on the roof are appropriate as they are in compliance with the Historic Handbook. 

B. The proposed six (6) foot tall cement lap siding privacy wall between the house and the garage is appropriate 
as it is visible from the street, is painted or stained white or a color matching the body or trim of the structure, 
is located in the rear yard and therefore may be higher than 4.0’ and is in compliance with the Historic 
Handbook. 

C. The new accessory structure is appropriate as it will contribute to the historic district; will be proportionate 
and compatible in size and materials to the main house; will be located in the rear yard and will be compatible 
with the Historic Handbook. 

D. Removal of two (2) trees on the north side of the parcel including a crape myrtle and a pecan tree is appropriate 
as they will be replaced because there is a suitable location for replacement trees and removal of the trees is in 
compliance with the Historic Handbook.  



12 | P a g e   

Commissioner Firth made a motion to approve the conclusions of law as amended. Commissioner Underwood 
seconded the motion. The vote carried unanimously. –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Commissioner Underwood made a motion to approve the certificate of appropriateness. Commissioner Firth 
seconded the motion.–The Vote: 5 Ayes, 1 Nay (APPROVED) Commissioner Eury opposed the motion.  
 
H-14-22 (QUASI-JUDICIAL HEARING) JIM POTTER HAS SUBMITTED A CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THREE (3), TWO-STORY 
TOWNHOMES TO BE LOCATED AT 74, 76, & 78 CABARRUS AVE W. PIN 5620-87-0418. 
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to open the public hearing. Commissioner Underwood seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Kim Wallis introduced the case to the Commission.  
 
The subject property at 74, 76 and 78 Cabarrus Ave. W. is a vacant lot within the North Union Street Historic 
District. This case was continued from the November meeting. On November 8, 2023, this case was reviewed by 
the Historic Preservation Commission where they continued the public hearing to the December meeting in order to 
receive the following information:  an updated front elevation to show the siding of each unit having one color, a 
landscaping plan, and indication of the height of the roof on the front elevation, a photograph of the proposed front 
yard fence indicating the material and the window material to be changed from aluminum clad to wood. Based on 
the comments concerning the previously proposed townhomes at the November meeting, the applicant has also 
submitted an alternative proposal below: 
 
Previous Proposal: 

• Three (3) +/- 1,800 square foot two-story townhome units – approximately 22’ x 41’ each; 
• Rear parking providing four (4) spaces along rear property line; 
• Detached, rear loaded two (2) car garages – approximately 22’ x 23’ each; 
• Two (2) front courtyards for the end units and one (1) front stoop for the middle unit; 
• Rear courtyards – approximately 22’ x 13’ each; 
• Shared access driveway off of Yorktown St NW; 
• Exit only access onto Cabarrus Ave W; and 
• 6’ tall privacy fence along the adjoining property lines – wood and painted white. 

 
New Proposal: 

• Two (2) two-story duplex units –each with two (2) 1,548 square foot two-story attached homes at 
approximately 18’w x 42’l each:  

• Rear parking providing six (6) spaces along rear property line; 
• Four (4) detached, rear loaded one and one half (1.5) car garages – approximately 18’w x 23’l each; 
• Two (2) front courtyards for the end units and two (2) front stoops for two middle units with three (3) foot 

concrete walkways to the public sidewalk; 
• Rear courtyards – approximately 18’w x 13’l each; 
• Shared access driveway off of Yorktown St NW; 
• Exit only access onto Cabarrus Ave W between the two (2) duplexes;  
• 6’ tall privacy fence with landscaping along the adjoining property lines – wood and painted white;  
• Landscaping along Yorktown St. NW; 
• A change in window material from aluminum clad to wood for all elevations (Exhibit A); 
• A landscaping plan indicating the landscaping along the courtyard fence/wall (Exhibit B);  
• Elevations showing the building height (Exhibit C). 



13 | P a g e   

• Exterior colors on elevations to indicate one color for each unit (Exhibit D); and  
• A photograph of the proposed front yard four (4) foot black aluminum fence (Exhibit E).  

 
Mrs. Wallis stated that each duplex unit will be 18’ wide and 29’ tall for the front elevations.  The materials will be 
the same as the previous proposal, including cement composite lap siding, old colony style brick, front entry doors 
will be painted fiberglass which will be color coordinated with the siding, the windows will be double-hung wood, 
painted white with simulated divided lites.  The house roofing will be Tampco Virginia Slate 30-year architectural 
shingles and the porch roof will be standing seam painted metal by Coastal Metal. The plan also shows a single color 
for each unit.  The materials are the same for the door.  The doors will be painted fiberglass to be color coordinated 
with the siding.  The windows will be double-hung white wood with simulated divided lites. There is also a depiction 
of the 6’ tall privacy fence along the adjoining property lines – wood and painted white.  The fence will extend 
behind the parking area along the rear property line and extend from the rear/left property line intersection to a 
midpoint at the left side garage wall.  The fence line and remaining portion of the left property line to the existing 
sidewalk will be evergreen plants for screening and the fence in the front yard will be a 4’ black aluminum fence. 
This case will need to return to the Planning and Zoning Commission for approval, if approved by the HPC, based 
on the changes made to the plan.  
 
Chair Isenhour questioned if the applicant would be able to move forward with construction if approved by the HPC 
tonight. It was noted that the applicant will need to go back to the P&Z Commission.  Mr. Ashley stated that the 
reason is because of the setbacks.  Commissioner Underwood requested clarification on the previously proposed 4 
units, which had been decreased to 3, but had now returned to 4. Chair Isenhour stated that the driveway is in between 
the individual buildings now and that is considered a significant change.  
 
Mr. Potter stepped up to the podium and explained the reason he went to two buildings instead of one was because 
of comments made at the November meeting about the 3-unit building looking out of place in the neighborhood.  By 
creating two buildings, it wouldn’t look like a single-family home, but it would blend in better with the 
neighborhood. He also stated that he would like to go back to the ability to use the same windows (aluminum clad) 
that were requested at the November meeting. 
 
Mr. John Lienweber of 96 Cabarrus Ave. W. stepped up to the podium.  Mr. Lienweber reminded the Commission 
about his comments at the November meeting. He stated that the duplexes seem to be going in the wrong direction. 
He said if we wait another month, we may be talking about row houses being put up.  The only discussion that he 
has heard are whether wood or aluminum windows should be used. He said yes, wood windows should be used 
because when he lived in Wesley Heights (Charlotte) or even now in Concord, everything had to have wood windows 
whether it was new construction or not. There will be multiple families moving in and out of that corner and it is out 
of the architectural layout and as well as the family style around the area.  
 
Mrs. Rebecca Patten of 90 Cabarrus Ave. West stepped up to the podium.  She stated that her family lives next door 
to the proposed building. She explained that she would like to take a minute of her time to share something that 
happened to her on the day of the meeting. Just by chance, Mrs. Patten and her husband discovered that Mr. Potter 
was going to be on the HPC agenda that evening. The advertisement for the public hearing only listed Mark Lewis 
and Margarito Zavala as having a presentation before the Commission.  The Patten’s assumed there was another 
delay, as there had been delays in the past.  They also assumed he would not be on the agenda because they did not 
receive an adjacent property owner letter and neither did the other adjacent property owners.  Mrs. Patten called the 
planning department and Mrs. James stated that the case was continued to the December meeting as stated at the end 
of the November meeting by Chair Isenhour. Mrs. Patten would like the Commission to address the issue.   
 



14 | P a g e   

Chair Isenhour stated that the Commission clearly communicated in November that they were tabling the case until 
a date certain, noting the December 13th, 2023, meeting. He also stated that if you were in attendance at that time, 
you would have left knowing that the case would have been talked about at the December meeting.  
 
Mrs. Patten stated that she knew it was the Commission’s intention to have the case heard at the December meeting 
but there have been numerous times when Mr. Potter’s meetings have been delayed or he has withdrawn the proposal. 
The notice of public hearing in the paper didn’t list case H-14-22. Chair Isenhour said that the notice was correct 
because it would be for the two items of new business on the agenda. This was old business that was continued.  
Mrs. Patten asked the Commission if they thought it was misleading that the case wasn’t readvertised in the paper. 
She noted that she is not sure she is supposed to keep up with the North Carolina statutes as a local citizen. She also 
stated that if she did not get a letter in the mail, she would not expect a case to be on the agenda. Chair Isenhour 
stated that he does not know what she would expect but as Mrs. Patten knows now, there is no legal requirement to 
readvertise a case that has been continued to a date certain and he didn’t think there would be any confusion 
personally because it was announced at the last meeting.  It would be incumbent on those who wanted to speak to 
figure out what cases were going to be on the agenda. Chair Isenhour stated that it wasn’t the topic of the evening 
and Mrs. Patten stated that it does mean something to them, and she would like the issue to be addressed for the 
future because it is misleading.  Mrs. Patten stated that a letter or notice should be sent out as a courtesy.  Mrs. Patten 
said given the situation, she would have expected that Mrs. James would have given her a call. Mrs. Patten said that 
Mrs. James understood her frustration and what she was saying but that she wasn’t required to call her.  
 
Mrs. Patten recognizes that there are only a few undeveloped lots in the Historic District and the treatment is crucial 
to the future of the district.  The successful integration of new structures into the neighborhood depends on how well 
the new home sites will preserve the unifying district characteristics. The design of this proposed project is not in 
keeping with the historic homes that surround the property and does not keep in line with the unifying characteristics.  
The stoops are not porches.  The handbook says that front porches should be used to create texture compatible with 
the historic content and that should be encouraged but stoops are proposed. There is no greenspace, and it is all pine 
straw.  This whole thing sits in front of the Patten’s home, she said. It had originally been shorter and not in her front 
yard and the front yard part was going to be screening plants but, in this proposal, it is a 6’ fence that goes up 41’ of 
the sidewalk. Mr. Potter also has 2-gallon shrubs that will be placed along the fence and there are 10 or 11 of those 
and a 2-gallon shrub is very small, and it is not defined what it is. In the front where the fence stops between that 
and the sidewalk, there is one two-gallon shrub. Mrs. Patten stated that she has severe trepidations about the 
landscaping. In the front of the building, he has four, one-gallon shrubs in front of each side and two flowering 
shrubs and the rest are pine needles. Mrs. Patten stated that she doesn’t think that Mr. Potter’s site plan was a 
landscaping plan. The front elevations are designed as 29’ and there is still the issue of the fact that the roof height 
appears to be greater than ½ of the building height.  She doesn’t know how high the roof is.  The maintenance of the 
fence and screening plants has not been identified or who will be responsible for that.  These are potential rental 
properties.  She stated that if she had to replace the windows in her home, the Commission would make her do wood 
and aluminum clad would not be allowed. She stated that all of the homeowners have tried really hard to stay within 
the handbook requirements and in November, there was a list of issues and yet, Mr. Potter is not having to keep the 
things in the handbook.  She stated, the only thing the Commission was concerned about with last time were the 
windows, which now the Commission is allowing and the landscaping plan which is bad and there are two stoops 
still in the front. There is nothing but a flat space in the front. They look exactly like what they are across the street 
but she does appreciate the fact that he kept the colors the same.  
 
Ms. Gronli of 64 Cabarrus Ave. W., stepped up to the podium. Her biggest concern that these are duplexes and not 
privately owned.  Chair Isenhour stated that he wouldn’t say that.  It is just a different style.  Ms. Gronli said when 
she thinks of duplexes, she thinks of rentals.  Chair Isenhour said they don’t know how it will be structured. Ms. 
Gronli stated that the landscaping is pitiful. There isn’t a single tree. You can’t compare bushes to trees.  She would 
like to see one tree.    
 



15 | P a g e   

Mrs. Elena Leinweber of 96 Cabarrus Ave. W. stepped up to the podium.  She requested to give her time to Mr. 
Marshall Ward.  She asked if rental properties were acceptable in the Historic District or now, with the center city 
zoning, does that now allow for a property to be a rental.  City Attorney VaLerie Kolczynski stated that the City 
cannot dictate if a property owner can rent their house. Chair Isenhour stated that in his subdivision, there is a 
declaration that prohibits home leases.  Ms. Kolczynski stated that it is a private matter between the owner of the 
subdivision and the people that they sell properties to. Mrs. Leinweber said she thought that rentals were not allowed 
in the Historic district.  Ms. Kolczynski said yes, they are.  
 
Mr. Marshall Ward of 98 Cabarrus Ave. W. stepped up to the podium.  Mr. Ward stated he is on the block where 
the project is proposed and he is against the project.  He focused on Chapter 5 of the handbook-new construction 
and exhibit B and C submitted by Mr. Potter. New construction shall coordinate in material, size, scale, site position, 
spatial relationship and details with immediate neighbors within 100’ of the proposed construction.  There aren’t 
any duplexes or townhomes in the immediate area but there are a lot of single-family homes including 90 Cabarrus 
Ave. W. where the Patten’s live. Mr. Ward’s property is also within 100’ of the project. There are no duplexes 
around here. Building duplexes or townhomes doesn’t make sense.  This is the body that decides new construction 
building for the Historic District and what is appropriate for the district. The city can’t decide that so when the 
process first began with 4 townhomes, there weren’t any townhomes in the Historic District. The Commission 
doesn’t have the authority to say if townhomes can be built in the historic district. This is the body that decides if 
new construction is appropriate for the Historic District.  If you look at exhibits Band C, you can see there are a lot 
of differences between the proposal and the other existing houses that are within 100’. There is not a lot of 
greenspace. The greenspace that is listed is around 17% of this lot.  If you go to the adjacent neighbors of the lot, it 
is more than 50% greenspace. There is a huge gap between the amount of greenspace between the proposal and the 
neighbors within 100’. All the other lots have trees and there are no trees on the site plan. Mr. Ward read from the 
historic handbook, stating, that other considerations shall coordinate in scale, site, settings, spatial relations, color, 
detail with immediate neighbors and careful consideration should be given to the design and placement of driveways, 
landscaping, lighting, signing and walkways and the retention of mature trees.  This seems to be very important.  
This landscaping is totally different from all the neighbors within 100’. So much of this proposal is concrete. It has 
about 25’ setback. If you look at the spatial arrangements as one of the considerations, they have a setback next door 
that is well over 100’. Imagine walking out your front door and turning left and seeing a whole new building that 
was all of a sudden constructed right beside you. It changes the feel of their home. It is a drastically different setback 
for the whole block and view of downtown. A duplex or townhome looks nothing like the other houses registered in 
the historic district. It would set a precedent to say that if a house burned down on North or South Union, you could 
put 4 or 5 townhomes or duplexes there. What is done here will set a precedent for the future. If the 100’ is ignored, 
then there will be like homes around like homes and it will match the historical characteristics. This will set a 
precedent that over time, duplexes and townhomes can come in and we will lose the feel of the historic district.  We 
have to protect this historic neighborhood one day at a time, one meeting at a time and this is a time to draw a line 
in the sand and say we don’t need these types of structures in our neighborhood because it isn’t part of the character 
of the historic neighborhood. Mr. Ward disagrees with the prerequisite that these homes were approved by the city 
because the historic Commission decides what is approved in this neighborhood not the City.   
 
Commissioner Hopkins asked if Mr. Ward’s argument is against multi-unit housing and more for single-family? The 
setback can’t be matched to the neighbors because the lot isn’t the same depth, as Mrs. Patten’s lot is 3 lots deep 
compared to the adjacent lots on Yorktown.  Mr. Ward would have to see a proposal for a single-family home and 
has the right amount of greenspace and fits in with the characteristics of the historic district and the design structures 
within 100’ and wooden windows then he might consider it. Mr. Ward stated that it was a dangerous precedence to 
put in any other windows other than wood.  
 
Mrs. Patten stepped up to the podium.  She asked the Commission to look at the garages proposed in front of her 
house. She stated that no one on the Commission would like to have this in their front yard. She wants the 



16 | P a g e   

Commission to think about this in terms of the historic nature of the neighborhood and what they are trying to 
preserve.  
 
Mr. Potter stepped up to the podium noting that many of the concerns come from zoning as it is zoned multi-family. 
The current zoning is zoned as it is because when the city placed a request for proposals from developers, they stated 
that they were going to zone it Center City. Center City zoning allows up to 4 townhomes. Mr. Potter was the only 
one who bid on that property and purchased it with those stipulations. Before he made the purchase and closed on 
the property, the City zoned it Center City with conditions.  The conditions associated with the approved Center City 
conditional district rezoning are included in the submitted design and include the fences, stoops, front courtyards, 
and rear load garages. Mr. Potter stated that he would prefer front porches but could not due to the conditional 
rezoning. The maintenance of the fence needs to be taken care of by the homeowner’s association.  One of the crucial 
things that would help maintain the property would be painting and that is why he chose the aluminum clad windows, 
as opposed to the wood. He addressed the height of the roof noting that the roof height from eve to peak is 11’ and 
11’ is less than 29’. Mr. Potter stated that the argument that there are few townhomes or multifamily in the historic 
district is due to the fact that the North and South Union Street Districts are zoned predominately for single family 
and are not zoned Center City.    Mr. Potter stated that he would be glad to plant some trees but there may not be 
enough room on the side Yorktown due to the proposed design. 
 
Commissioner Underwood asked if some trees could be planted in the front of the homes and Mr. Potter stated that 
he could plant some trees in front. Commissioner Hopkins asked why Mr. Potter chose pine straw instead of grass 
and Mr. Potter stated it was for maintenance because there is a lot of maintenance with cutting grass and that that he 
was trying to save some maintenance fees that would come with a mowing schedule. Mr. Potter said he could put 
down grass and he is not opposed to it.  The fence does come closer to the street. Less fence is good for him because 
it doesn’t cost as much. 
 
Chair Isenhour stated that the Commission asked for a detailed landscaping plan and what was presented isn’t very 
detailed. There are 1- or 2-gallon shrubs, but the idea is to eventually mask the fence.  What is the plan for the 
shrubs? Commissioner Underwood said the shrubs should mask the fence within 2 years. Mr. Potter stated that the 
best plants he found are the generic holly plants. It grows well and has small leaves and doesn’t have thorns.   
 
Chair Isenhour asked about the homeowner’s association and asked if Mr. Potter was intending to sell the duplexes? 
Mr. Potter stated that he was interested in selling the duplexes and for financial reasons and having 2 duplexes is 
better for him to sell them.  He stated that if he built a 3-unit building, he would almost have to rent two of them.   
 
Chair Isenhour stated that this is different from last month because there were 3 adjoining homes, and only one 
building, and now it is 2 duplexes, which is a big change. He further noted that the conditional rezoning noted 4 
units.  Chair Isenhour explained that Mr. Potter will need to go back to the P&Z Commission due to his proposed 
changes and that the Historic Preservation Commission can only discuss aesthetics, landscaping and materials.  
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to close the public hearing. Commissioner Underwood seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Commissioner Underwood asked if the Commission can deny as project, with City Attorney Kolczynski explaining 
that the Planning & Zoning Commission handles zoning and that it is zoned Center City Conditional District.  The 
zoning or conditions of the zoning cannot be changed by the Historic Preservation Commission. The property owner 
is required to comply with the associated conditions. Mr. Ashley stated that one of the conditions of the site plan 
were 4 units together and a driveway.  With the driveway repositioned to the middle, it moves the building slightly 
closer to the Patten’s. Mr. Ashley stated that what Mr. Potter is proposing cannot be completed administratively so 
the plan would need to be modified at the P&Z meeting. 
 



17 | P a g e   

Commissioner Firth stated that the Commission does not have any control over whether the townhomes are coming 
or not, with Ms. Kolczynski confirming.  Commissioner Firth stated that people believe that the Historic Preservation 
Commission has control over the building of the townhomes. Ms. Kolczynski clarified that the only thing this 
Commission can do is to ensure compliance with the things set forth in the handbook.  Commissioner Firth stated 
that whether or not these townhomes are built is not our decision.  Chair Isenhour stated that the Commission does 
have a responsibility to confirm the spatial relationship/bulk/setbacks but the Commission cannot say that it needs 
to be townhomes or single-family.  The Commission can ask if the townhomes fit within the neighborhood.  
Commissioner Underwood stated that the spatial relationship is very small and it can’t be put back any further.   
Commissioner Underwood stated that aluminum clad windows are allowed for new construction.  This can be 
changed later in the handbook to deny aluminum clad windows but for now, it is something that can be approved. 
Chair Isenhour stated that it is a different case for them.  It is Center City zoned which is unlike the other homes in 
the district.  
 
Commissioner Hopkins stated that she saw that Mr. Potter worked with Bill Leake on the other property’s 
landscaping. Commissioner Hopkins suggested that Mr. Potter work with an arborist or landscape designer to come 
up with a better landscaping plan.  Commissioner Underwood stated that the land was previously a small strip center. 
Chair Isenhour stated that it was encouraged that Mr. Potter work with Bill Leake to create a better landscaping plan.  
 
Commissioner Underwood asked if Mr. Potter could come up with a landscaping plan that would add trees in the 
front and grass.  Ms. Kolczynski stated that the Commission can ask the applicant fora more detailed landscaping 
plan..  Chair Isenhour stated that a detailed landscaping plan was requested but now this new plan is lacking 
comparatively to the November landscaping plan associated with his other case (68 Cabarrus Ave) because the 
Commission was informed as to what was being removed and what would be replaced. Chair Isenhour stated that 
landscaping plans don’t need to be completed for older homes but because this is new construction, a plan needs to 
be submitted.  Commissioner Firth requested grass be put down and trees in the front. Commissioner Underwood 
agreed.  
 
Chair Isenhour explained that the Commission does have input on how the homes look and how it fit with the 
neighboring properties. He further explained that the Commission cannot say no to townhomes, but it can say no to 
this townhome, if there are reasons that it is not compatible. Commissioner Underwood questioned why you could 
say no to the proposed 4 townhomes and yes to the proposed 3 , asking if it was due to financial impact? Chair 
Isenhour asked if the proposed project looked smaller with 3 and less imposing to the single-family homes around 
it? Commissioner Underwood asked if it looks like 2 small homes? She stated that the proposed two buildings looked 
better than all 4 together. Commissioner Underwood asked what the handbook says about landscaping and new 
construction.  
Commissioner Hopkins stated that special consideration should be given to the design and placement of driveways, 
landscaping, lighting, signage and walkways and the retention of mature trees and other historic features of 
landscape.   
 
Commissioner Hopkins said the new plan does not have space for landscaping compared to the original plan.  
Commissioner Bradley stated that more details are still needed and there isn’t any frontage on Yorktown.  It needs 
to be softened up and needs more landscaping details. Commissioner Bradley asked what Mr. Potter can do.  The 
Commission is trying to make the best out of what is there.  There is some confusion on what Mr. Potter wants to 
do. 
 
Commissioner Eury stated it is lacking in landscaping. Commissioner Firth asked if a small gate/picket fence could 
be placed all the way along the front of the proposed buildings to soften it up. Commissioner Underwood asked if 
front courtyards are required.  Mr. Ashley stated that he believed it was done to break up the flat expanse with the 4 
units. Chair Isenhour said the front courtyards don’t look great on the plan.   
 



18 | P a g e   

Commissioner Firth requested a wood white picket fence, with individual gates, in the front of the proposed buildings 
to make them look older. He explained that this is something that is seen in the Historic Districts. Commissioner 
Underwood asked what the handbook says about roofs and the color.  She said there are 4 different colors of metal 
for the porch roofs. Commissioner Underwood stated that all the roofs should be the same color.   
 
Chair Isenhour asked about the landscaping, spatial relationship, colors of the buildings and metal porch roofs.  
Commissioner Underwood stated that the porch roofs should be the same as the main roof.  Chair Isenhour asked if 
anything could be changed in the front. Chair Isenhour asked if a detailed plan could be submitted before approval.   
Commissioner Underwood asked if Mr. Potter could meet with Bill Leake to discuss a better landscaping plan and 
change the overhang roofs on the porches to one color which would be the same as the main roof. There needs to be 
more trees and it needs to be more natural. Commissioner Firth said it looks more historic with the white picket 
fence.  Commissioner Underwood stated that there are several multi-family homes in the historic district that look 
like one home but upon entering are divided up into several units on Yorktown.  They are rentals.   
Commissioner Hopkins asked if Mr. Potter should go back to the P&Z Commission before the Historic Commission 
makes a decision about landscaping.  Ms. Kolczynski stated that no, the P&Z Commission will be relying on the 
plan that was approved/denied from the Historic Commission.  
 
Commissioner Underwood stated that the Commission would like to see a detailed landscaping plan with trees and 
grass in the front and ornamental trees down the side and all the porch roofs need to be the same color as the main 
roof and detailed types of trees and shrubs.  The fence needs to be screened well in 2 years by shrubs or trees.  
Commissioner Underwood stated that the fence would need to be screened from the adjoining property owners. She 
would also like Mr. Potter to consider putting in a fence for the 2 duplexes to soften the front. Commissioner 
Underwood stated that aluminum clad windows will be allowed. The side fence will be painted white.  
 
Chair Isenhour made a motion to continue the case to the January 10th meeting. Commissioner Firth seconded the 
motion. –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Commissioner Underwood asked if a letter would be sent to adjacent property owners regarding this meeting?  Chair 
Isenhour stated that asking staff to provide notification for this individual case, when notification for other continued 
cases is not typically sent, could place staff in a difficult position in future instances. Ms. Kolczynski stated that the 
Commission does not have the authority to change notification requirements. Chair Isenhour requested that Mr. 
Potter work with the City’s staff and arborist to be sure that the needs discussed were addressed before the next 
meeting.   
 
H-24-23 (QUASI-JUDICIAL HEARING) MARK AND MARCI LEWIS HAVE SUBMITTED A 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF FENCING 
AND TWO (2) GATES IN THE LEFT REAR OF THE PROPERTY AND TO REPLACE BOTH THE 
FRONT STORM DOOR AND THE FRONT MAIN DOOR AT 356 UNION ST S. PIN 5630-14-3640. 
 
Commissioner Bradley made a motion to open the public hearing. Commissioner Eury seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Kim Wallis introduced the case to the Commission. 
 
On November 16, 2023, Mark and Marci Lewis applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness under Concord 
Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 requesting to replace an existing section of fence and two existing gates in the 
left rear of the property, and to replace both the front storm door and the front main door (Exhibits B, D).  
 



19 | P a g e   

The existing fence is a brown painted picket style wooden fence. A section of this fencing faces Union St and sits 
back from the side centerline of the house, runs thirty-one (31) feet in length to the left property line, measures four 
(4) feet tall and includes a gate. The second section of fencing meets with the first section, runs back thirty-one (31) 
feet along the left property line, measures six (6) feet tall, and meets a five (5) foot gate that connects the fence with 
the garage (Exhibit D). The replacement fence and gates will be in the same location as the original, be in a 
“shadowbox” design made of stain-treated pine and will match the fence facing Tribune Avenue SW that was 
approved by the HPC on October 12, 2022, for this property (Exhibits D, F).  
 
The existing mature vegetation in front of the existing fence facing Union Street will remain to help hide the new 
fence and gate from view along Union St S (Exhibit E). 
 
The property is designated as a “fill” structure in the South Union Street Historic District.  Fill structures are those 
properties which were constructed on single or scattered site undeveloped lots in established neighborhoods, after 
the period of significance of the more important structures, but prior to the official establishment of the district.  
 
The existing front doors to be replaced include a solid, white, wooden door and a white framed glass storm door. 
The replacement doors include a Therma-Tru fiberglass single door from the Acorn Fiber-Classic Oak Collection 
and a taupe-framed glass storm door (Exhibit D). The existing long side green window will remain. Both doors will 
match the doors on the rear of the home and will not include the pet door (Exhibit D). 
 
Mr. Lewis of 356 Union St. S. stepped up to the podium.  Commissioner Underwood asked the applicant, Mr. Lewis 
if the fence was painted or stained and he responded, stained. Mr. Lewis stated it will be the same color as the other 
fence facing Tribune St.  
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to close the public hearing. Commissioner Bradley seconded the motion.   The 
vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Commissioner Hopkins asked if the style of the front door is consistent with chapter 5, section 5.  She read the 
excerpt where it says, the period and style should be compatible with the structure, should avoid flat surface doors 
which she believes he is replacing a flat surface door.  Commissioner Hopkins asked if the glass pane is appropriate 
for the front door.   The original solid wood front door was not appropriate to begin with but that does not give the 
Commission permission to replace the door with another door that doesn’t seem to be in line with the district, 
Commissioner Hopkins said.  It is a fill 1970’s ranch house.  There is an illustration of inappropriate doors in the 
handbook.  
 
Commissioner Underwood stated that she has a concern with the color of the stained fence being visible from the 
front of the house. She stated that she doesn’t want to start seeing these types of fences up and down the street. 
Commissioner Firth stated that you can see the gate but it is covered by foliage.   
 
Chair Isenhour stated that the Commission is ok with replacing the fence and the storm door but the front door is not 
appropriate.  Commissioner Underwood asked what the handbook says about front doors.  Commissioner Hopkins 
read that although doors are often obscured by porches, they are an important characteristic of the architecture of the 
period of the house.  The typical doors in the historic district are solid paneled or with one or more light panels.  New 
doors should be compatible with the period and style of the structure.  Doors to avoid are flat surface doors and those 
with conventional light panels.  Whenever possible, the original doors and windows and their features, sashes, glass, 
windowsills, shutters, door frames, hoods, steps and hardware should be preserved.  



20 | P a g e   

 
Commissioner Hopkins asked if it was the original door. It is hard to say. He said the house is different in itself 
because it’s from the 1970’s. Commissioner Hopkins said if there is a desire for natural light, you already have that 
effect with the storm door.  
 
Chair Isenhour stated that there is consensus with the fence and the two gates and the storm door.  The front main 
door is the question.  Do you want to move forward with the rest and if they wanted to change it, they would have 
to come back.   
 
Commissioner Underwood made a motion to reopen the public hearing. Commissioner Eury seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Mr. Lewis stepped up to the podium again. Commissioner Underwood stated that the door looks like a back door 
and asked if Mr. Lewis had any feedback on why it needs to be that door.  Mr. Lewis asked if there was a Commission 
back in the 70’s and if it was ok to build a house that was not appropriate with the historic district. Mr. Ashley said 
the historic district was established in 1984.   
 
Mr. Lewis stated it is a flat, painted door and there is almost no light in the foyer and that is the reason he wants the 
storm door. Commissioner Hopkins commented that it is the modern blind inside the window that is inconsistent.  
The interior makes it modern.  It is within the glass.  Mr. Lewis stated that he didn’t understand that was the issue.  
Mr. Lewis asked if he could hang a blind on the inside of the door and the Commission said yes.  Mr. Lewis said 
that makes no sense. Commissioner Firth said it makes it look like a modern door with blinds in between the panes 
plus it would probably be a 2-inch blind which is modern.   
 
Commissioner Hopkins read from the handbook the following:  if total replacement of a window or door is necessary, 
one should be used that matches the original in dimension, configuration and detail. Replacements should not alter 
the original opening. If the original material was wood, then the new material would need to be wood.  
 
Chair Isenhour stated that if it is not wood, then it is not in compliance. The replacement should be consistent, and 
it should be wood. Mr. Lewis stated because of the finish, it looks like wood more than the existing door. The 
existing door is a painted wood door.  
 
Commissioner Underwood made a motion to close the public hearing. Commissioner Eury seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Commissioner Hopkins asked if the Commission can ask the Lewis’ to go back and get another door, even though 
the door need to be a flat, surface door like the original.  The proposed door was mostly glass which was the detail. 
Even if the Lewis’ find a door with mostly glass, is that in compliance with the historic district? Commissioner 
Underwood stated that the door needs to have less glass.  Commissioner Hopkins said it looks like a back door. 
Commissioner Underwood said it needs to be wood with less glass.  
 
Chair Isenhour stated that the Commission could approve the Findings of Fact as is and address it in the Conclusions 
of Law.  Ms. Kolczynski said why would you not table it so they can get their door replaced?  Chair Isenhour said 
they would approve it so they can work on their fence. Ms. Kolczynski said if it gets approved then the Lewis’ will 
need to file another application to replace the front door.    
 
Commissioner Underwood made a motion to reopen the public hearing. Commissioner Eury seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 



21 | P a g e   

Chair Isenhour stated that there will be a requirement for a different front door and asked the Lewis’ if they would 
like to table the front door request until the January meeting or if they would like to table the entire application until 
the January board meeting.  Mr. Lewis said he would like to table the door. Ms. Kolczynski said that his application 
has two elements in it and if the fence is approved, the Commission will deny the door. The Commission can’t table 
that piece.  She stated that the Lewis’ would need to come back in January with a whole new application and pay 
the fee again.  Commissioner Firth asked if the storm door can be approved with the fence and Chair Isenhour said 
yes.   
 
Commissioner Underwood made a motion to close the public hearing. Commissioner Firth seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 

1. The subject property is located at 356 Union St S, Concord, North Carolina. The owners are Mark E. and 
Marcia L. Lewis. The property was acquired by deed recorded in Cabarrus County Register of Deeds Book 
13881, pages 192 through 194, as recorded December 9, 2019. 

2. The subject property is located in the RM-2 (Residential Medium Density) zoning district and is in the South 
Union Historic District. 

3. The subject property is designated as a “Fill” structure in the Concord Historic Districts Handbook (June 2001 
ed.), (the “Handbook”) Chapter 3 (Exhibit A).  

4. The Handbook is an ordinance of the City of Concord duly adopted by the City Council and incorporated into 
the Code of Ordinances by reference. 

5. On November 16, 2023, Mark E. and Marcia L. Lewis applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness under 
Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) to replace an existing section of fence and two existing gates in the 
left rear of the property, and to replace both the front storm door and the front main door (Exhibits B, D) 

6. The existing fence is a brown painted picket style wooden fence. A section of this fencing faces Union St and 
sits back from the side centerline of the house, runs thirty-one (31) feet in length to the left side property line, 
measures four (4) feet tall and includes a gate. The second section of fencing meets with the first section, runs 
back thirty-one (31) feet along the left side property line, measures six (6) feet tall, and meets a five (5) foot 
gate that connects the fence with the garage (Exhibit D). 

7. The replacement fence and gates will be in the same location as the original, be in a “shadowbox” design 
made of stain-treated pine and will match the fence facing Tribune Avenue SW that was approved by the HPC 
on October 12, 2022, for this property (Exhibits D, F).  

8. The existing mature vegetation in front of the existing fence facing Union Street will remain to help hide the 
new fence and gate from view along Union St S (Exhibit E). 

9. The existing front doors to be replaced include a solid, white, wooden door and a white framed glass storm 
door.  

10. The replacement doors include a glass door with an acorn-stained fiberglass frame and blinds from the Acorn 
Fiber-Classic Oak Collection and a taupe-framed glass storm door (Exhibit D).  

11. The existing long green framed window to the right of the door will remain.  
12. Both doors will match the doors on the rear of the home and will not include the pet door (Exhibit D). 

 
Commissioner Underwood made a motion to approve the findings of fact. Commissioner Firth seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
 
1. This matter is properly before the Commission pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-400.7, et seq. and the 

Concord Development Ordinance. 
 



22 | P a g e   

2. Pursuant to the Handbook, Approval Requirement Needs Table: Fencing and Gates 
• Replacing or repair of existing with alternate materials and all other types of fencing and gates require 

Commission Hearing and Approval. 
 

3. Pursuant to the Handbook, Approval Requirement Needs Table: Doors 
• Replacement of original doors require Commission Hearing and Approval. 

 
4. Pursuant to the Handbook, Approval Requirement Needs Table: Storm Doors 

• No Approval Required for replacement if matches trim and does not obscure details (full view). 
 

5. Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 5 - Section 9: Fences and Walls 
• The style of fence or wall should respond to the historic nature of the property. All wooden fences should be 

“stick-built” on site.  
• Painting or staining is recommended, but not required, for rear yard fences unless they are visible from the 

street.  
• If a fence is designed as a single-sided fence, one with detailing on only one side, the finished detail should be 

on the outside face of the fence (facing neighboring property).  
• Rear yard fences are defined as fences which do not extend forward on the applicant’s property beyond the 

side centerline of the house in plain view.  
• Rear yard fences may be higher than four feet.  
• The portions of rear yard fences that face the street should be landscaped with shrubs and trees of a planting 

size that will fully hide the fence from the street within two years.  Size, type, and growth habits of plant 
materials to screen rear yard fences that face the street should be submitted at time of application. 

• All proposed fences and walls should not negatively affect existing trees and mature landscaping. 
• Privacy fences are defined as fences with no spacing between pickets or fences of the shadowbox design.  

Privacy fences may be allowed at the discretion of the Commission in the following circumstances: 
1. Privacy fences are most appropriate in rear yards. 
2. Privacy fences may be allowed where the applicant's rear yard is directly adjacent to property that is either 

not in a historic district, or is within a historic district but is non-contributing or intrusive in that district.  
The applicant shall show to the satisfaction of the Commission: 
(a) that the adjacent property is unsightly in comparison to other properties surrounding the 

applicant's property, 
(b) that the adjacent property or nearby property raises reasonable security concerns for the applicant, 

or 
(c) that the adjacent property could reasonably be determined to negatively impact the property value of the 

applicant's property. 
Privacy fences shall be allowed only on the applicant's property line directly adjoining the aforesaid adjacent 
property unless the Commission feels that such a partial privacy fence would not be visually appropriate or 
would not accomplish the purpose(s) of the privacy fence set forth above. 
3. Privacy fences encompassing an area of no more than 250 square feet may be allowed at the discretion of 

the Commission when adjacent to the applicant's house, garage, or other outbuilding in order to screen from 
view trash cans, mechanical equipment, cars or other unsightly items, provided such fence does not 
unreasonably impact any neighbor by blocking windows or the like. 



23 | P a g e   

Privacy fences allowed by the Commission should be landscaped where practical with appropriate shrubbery to 
soften the appearance of the fence. 
Design Guidelines 
1. Do not use high walls or fences to screen front yards.  
2. Use materials like stone, brick, wood and iron.  
3. Chain link or plastic materials are prohibited. Adding slats to existing chain link fences for screening 

purposes is prohibited.  
4. Materials and style should coordinate with building and neighboring buildings as well as other walls and 

fences in the area.  
 

6. Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 5 – Section 5: Fenestrations 
Design Guidelines 
1.   Use doors that are appropriate for the style of building while avoiding flat-surfaced doors, those with   
small decorative glass panels, and pre-finished window/side lite art glass units. 
2. Avoid unpainted aluminum storm doors and select a style which does not distort or change the appearance 

of the inner door. 
 

7. The following criteria shall be considered, when relevant, by the Commission in reviewing applications for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness. All applications for Certificates of Appropriateness shall be subject to review 
based upon the Design Guidelines then in effect. These guidelines are set forth in a manual prepared and adopted 
by the Commission: 
• lot coverage, defined as the percentage of lot area covered by primary structures; 
• setback, defined as the distance from the lot lines to the building(s); 
• building height; 
• exterior building materials; 
• proportion, shape, positioning, location, pattern and sizes of any elements of fenestration; 
• surface textures; 
• structural condition and soundness; 
• walls--physical ingredients, such as brick, stone or wood walls, wrought iron fences, evergreen landscape 

masses, building facades, or combination of these; 
• color (new construction only and not for existing residences); and 
• effect of trees and other landscape elements. 

 
8. The application for the fence is congruous with the historic aspects of the district. 

 
1. Based on the standards of the Handbook, and the City of Concord Code of Ordinances,   

  including the standards listed above, the Commission concludes that: 
 

A. Replacing sixty two (62) feet of four (4) and six (6) feet tall wooden fence and two (2) gates in the rear yard 
with (6) feet tall shadowbox style wooden fence and gates is appropriate as the proposed fence and gate will 
be “stick built” on site, will be constructed of wooden material, will be located in the rear yard and therefore 
may be higher than 4.0’ tall, will be visible from the street and will retain the existing vegetation to help hide 
it from street view, and is in compliance with the Historic Handbook.  

B. Replacing the white, wood front door with a fiberglass framed glass front door is not appropriate as the door 
is not appropriate for the style of building and is not in compliance with the Historic Handbook. 

 



24 | P a g e   

Commissioner Underwood made a motion to approve the Conclusions of Law as amended. Commissioner Firth 
seconded the motion.   The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Chair Isenhour made a motion to approve the Certificate of Appropriateness to replace 62’of rear yard wooden fence 
and two gates with 6’ rear yard shadowbox fence and two gates.  Chair Isenhour made a motion to deny the 
Certificate of Appropriateness to replace the wooden front door. Commissioner Underwood seconded the motion. 
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
H-25-23 (QUASI-JUDICIAL HEARING) MARGARITO ZAVALA HAS SUBMITTED AN EX POST 
FACTO CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE INSTALLATION OF VINYL SIDING 
OVER THE EXISTING WOOD SIDING ON THE HOUSE AND PORCH AT 253 CHURCH ST NE. PIN 
5621-60-9675. 
 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to reopen the public hearing. Commissioner Eury seconded the motion.   The 
vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Kim Wallis introduced the case to the Commission. 
 
On November 28, 2023, Margarito Zavala applied for an “ex post facto” Certificate of Appropriateness under 
Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 requesting after-the-fact approval of the installation of vinyl siding 
over the existing wood siding on the house and porch (Exhibit B).  
The applicant states that the wood siding was too damaged from the elements to try to repair and re-paint it 
(Exhibits D and E). The original wood siding is 5” lap siding painted white. The replacement vinyl siding is 5” 
Dutch lap vinyl siding, painted white (Exhibit D).  
The property is listed as unclassified in the North Union Street Historic district.  The properties along Church St. 
were included in the zoning overlay to protect/buffer the Union Street historically classified structures from future 
incompatible development.  
Chair Isenhour asked for clarification on the location being un-classified. Mrs. Wallis stated that the house is not in 
the National Register of Historic Places, but it is in the local historical district. Mr. Ashley stated the other 
properties to the south that are outside the historic district, they were taken out back in the 1980’s. There was a lot 
of discussion at that time why they ran the historic district boundary down the middle of Church Street and why it 
went down one side and not the other. The homeowners petitioned to come out of the historic district.  
Commissioner Firth asked which ones were taken out and it was clarified that it was the homes on the south side 
of Church Street.  There is an official map of the North Union Historic District, and the map shows blank spaces, 
and this is where the homes are not listed in the historic district. Mr. Ashley confirmed this.  
Mr. Margarito Zavala of 253 Church St. NE stepped up to the podium. Mr. Zavala stated that 253 Church St. was 
an eyesore. He wanted to make it better on the outside because the wooden siding was too damaged because of 
how many years the wood was exposed to the elements without proper care. Mr. Zavala stated the two buildings to 
the right already have vinyl siding. At least half of the buildings on that side of Church St. have siding and they are 
not doing any drastic changes.   
Commissioner Underwood asked Mr. Zavala if he considered Hardiplank fiber cement siding over vinyl.  Mr. 
Zavala said not really because it comes down to cost of labor and materials.  He said he was trying to better the 
structure.  Chair Isenhour asked if he knew that it was part of the Historic District.  Mr. Zavala said he did not 
know. Mr. Zavala said he did email someone but did not ever receive a response. He stated he was always 
confused whether it was or it wasn’t part of the Historic District and now he knows that it is not and it is that way 
to protect the properties on Union St. Chair Isenhour asked if Mr. Zavala recently acquired this property and he 
stated yes.  



25 | P a g e   

Commissioner Hopkins asked if any of the wood that was beyond repair have any part of the structural component 
of the property?  She clarified by putting it over the wood that is there, it could have masked structural issues. She 
asked if Mr. Zavala masked any structural problems? Mr. Zavala said no.  There wasn’t any structural damage to 
the building besides the outside wood.  
Chair Isenhour asked if the wood was removed or if the siding is on top of the wood.  Mr. Zavala said the siding is 
over the wood. Commissioner Firth asked if there was any vinyl siding on the house at all prior to the wood?  Mr. 
Zavala said no.  
Chair Isenhour stated that this was a tough case for the Commission because it was after the fact and if Mr. Zavala 
had come before the Commission before the siding was put in, the Commission would have denied the siding per 
the Handbook. He said it does make it easier for people to say they didn’t know and ask for forgiveness.  
Commissioner Underwood asked if Mr. Zavala was there because someone turned him in for the vinyl.  Mr. 
Zavala answered yes. He stated that it was never his intention to do anything to go around the Historic District.  It 
is on Church Street and not Union where you see these big, nice historical houses.   
Commissioner Underwood asked when the house was built. Mr. Zavala stated that he was not sure. Chair Isenhour 
looked it up and said it was 1911. Mr. Zavala stated that the two homes on the right have vinyl. Commissioner 
Firth commented that the reason he asked Mr. Zavala if he had vinyl on the home before, it would be a completely 
different outcome but adding it is opening up a can of worms.  The others who did it completed the vinyl siding 
without asking, Commissioner Firth said.  Mr. Zavala said two doors down, the architect there went through the 
process and how he had to fight about it.  
Commissioner Firth stated that the Handbook is very black and white because it specifically says it’s prohibited.  
Commissioner Hopkins said on his house it would be allowed if it wasn’t covering existing wood damage. She 
said it was not a Pivotal house and it is a Non-Contributing Fill property.  She said it would be allowed if the home 
did not have existing wood damage. Mr. Zavala stated that it is not that they are covering damaged wood, it is 
damaged in a way that you cannot paint over it.  It can be sanded to smooth it and paint it again but it won’t look 
right.  Commissioner Hopkins said the home would have had to have been built in a time when you could use 
vinyl siding but that doesn’t make sense for it being Non-Contributing in the Historic District.  
Chair Isenhour stated that he was trying to make sense of the location and what type of structure it was. Mrs. 
Autumn James stated the home was not listed as a Contributing structure.  It has no designation. Commissioner 
Bradley asked what it used to be called when houses have fallen off the Historic District.  Mr. Ashley said it was 
called “local district buffer”. Commissioner Bradley clarified that it was more of a protection against the other 
homes.  
Commissioner Underwood made a motion to close the public hearing. Commissioner Firth seconded the motion.   
The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Commissioner Underwood stated that if they could approve the vinyl because it was in a buffer zone and not in the 
Historic District, it would not be setting a precedent. Ms. Kolczynski clarified the idea of precedent.  It doesn’t 
exist because all the historic cases are individual and are based on the characteristics of this particular building and 
you can approve something for this particular building.  Precedent is not something the Commission should be 
concerned about. Commissioner Firth stated that if someone else did come in front of the Commission, the 
Commission could say the reason they approved it was because it was in a “buffer zone”.  Commissioner Hopkins 
asked if the other two houses have vinyl and were they approved?  Mr. Ashley said if they did, it was many years 
ago. Commissioner Firth stated it could have been before the Commission was deemed historic. Commissioner 
Firth asked if the order could be worded so that when another case comes up like this, it will be set apart from 
other cases like this. Mrs. James stated number 3 in the Findings of Fact.  She stated that you are moving from 
what is historic and what is not.  It is there in the middle.  
 



26 | P a g e   

FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 

1. The subject property is located at 253 Church St NE, Concord, North Carolina. The owners are ZH 
Investments LLC. The property was acquired by deed recorded in Cabarrus County Register of Deeds Book 
16638, page 0248, on September 7, 2023. 

2. The subject property is located in the C-1 (Light Commercial and Office) zoning district and is in the North 
Union Historic District. 

3. The subject property is within the zoning overlay for the Historic District but is not classified within the survey 
inventory as Pivotal, Contributing, Fill, or Intrusive.  The properties along Church Street were included in the 
zoning overlay to protect/buffer the Union Street historically classified structures from future incompatible 
development (Exhibit A). 

4. The Handbook is an ordinance of the City of Concord duly adopted by the City Council and incorporated 
into the Code of Ordinances by reference. 

5. On November 28, 2023, Margarito Zavala applied for an “ex post facto” Certificate of Appropriateness 
under Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 requesting after-the-fact approval of the installation of 
vinyl siding over the existing wood siding on the house and porch (Exhibit B).  

6. The applicant states that the wood siding was too damaged from the elements to try to repair and re-paint it 
(Exhibits D and E). The original wood siding is 5” lap siding painted white. The vinyl siding is 5” Dutch lap 
siding, painted white (Exhibit D).  No evidence was presented of any structural damage. 

7. The applicant provided photographs of the house with the vinyl siding installed, a close-up photograph 
indicating the condition of the original wood siding, and a close-up photograph of a section of vinyl siding 
(Exhibit D).  

8. Staff provided photographs of the house obtained from Google Streetview from August 2023 (Exhibit E) 
 
VaLerie Kolczynski added the sentence:  No evidence was presented of any structural damage to number 6 of the 
Findings of Fact. 
 
Commissioner Hopkins made a motion to approve the findings of fact as amended. Commissioner Firth seconded 
the motion.   The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
VaLerie Kolczynski stated that the Conclusions of Law needed to be fixed.  She asked Mr. Ashley if the 
Commission could find something non-congruous and still grant the Certificate of Appropriateness. Mrs. James 
stated yes. It could still be appropriate for a particular structure even though it is not particularly congruous with 
the district. Chair Isenhour stated that the Commission could go against the Handbook and Ms. Kolczynksi said 
yes, because it is a case-by-case basis.  
 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW: 

 
1. This matter is properly before the Commission pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-400.7, et seq. and the 

Concord Development Ordinance. 
 

2. Pursuant to the Handbook, Approval Requirement Needs Table: Siding and Exterior Material 
• Alteration of siding from one material to another (shingles to clapboard etc.). Applications of any simulated 

materials, aluminum siding, plastic siding, etc. requires Commission Hearing and Approval. 
 



27 | P a g e   

3. Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 4: Local Standards and General Policies 
Alterations: Alterations having no historical basis shall be avoided whenever possible.  Any type of alteration of 
exterior features of a building, site, or environment within the Historic Districts which is not specifically listed within 
these regulations shall be referred to the Historic Preservation Commission for action on the issuance of a 
Certificate of Appropriateness. 

 
• All buildings, structures and sites shall be recognized as products of their own time.  Alterations that have 

no historical basis and which seek to create an earlier appearance shall be discouraged. 
• Changes which may have taken place in the course of time are evidence of the history and development of a 

building, structure or site and its environment.  These changes may have acquired significance in their own 
right and this significance shall be recognized and respected. 

• Contemporary design for alterations and additions to existing properties shall be encouraged when such 
alterations and additions do not destroy significant historical, architectural or cultural material, and such 
design is compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the property, neighborhood or 
environment. 

• New additions or alterations shall be construed in such a manner as to preserve the essential form and 
integrity of the structure, should the addition or alteration be removed. 
 

4. Pursuant to the Handbook, Chapter 5 - Section 4: Siding and Exterior Materials 
The historic integrity of structures should not be compromised by altering the original siding, even if the proposed 
siding is composed of historically accurate materials (example: wood siding to shingle siding) unless proof can be 
provided that the proposed alteration has a historic basis. 
 
A number of artificial sidings have been developed since the construction of many of the structures in the districts.  
Artificial products that are found on some structures may include asbestos shingles or vinyl or aluminum siding.  
Artificial or synthetic siding is not appropriate for additions on Pivotal and Contributing structures or for large 
accessory structures.  Artificial and synthetic siding, when used for additions or accessory structures on lots 
containing noncontributing, fill, or intrusive structures, may be considered on a case-by-case basis.  

 
Design Standards: Siding and Exterior Materials 
1. To the greatest extent possible, wood siding should be preserved and maintained. 
2. In the replacement of wood siding, materials should match the original as closely as possible.  “Rough-sawn” 

siding should be avoided. 
3. The use of artificial siding to cover original siding is prohibited. 
4. The removal of artificial siding and restoration of original siding materials is encouraged. 
5. Artificial and synthetic siding is permitted for new construction on a limited basis in coordination with this 

section and Chapter 4: “Local Standards and General Policies” of this Handbook 
 

5. The following criteria shall be considered, when relevant, by the Commission in reviewing applications for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness. All applications for Certificates of Appropriateness shall be subject to review based 
upon the Design Guidelines then in effect. These guidelines are set forth in a manual prepared and adopted by the 
Commission: 

• lot coverage, defined as the percentage of lot area covered by primary structures; 
• setback, defined as the distance from the lot lines to the building(s); 
• building height; 
• exterior building materials; 
• proportion, shape, positioning, location, pattern and sizes of any elements of fenestration; 
• surface textures; 



28 | P a g e   

• structural condition and soundness; 
• walls--physical ingredients, such as brick, stone or wood walls, wrought iron fences, evergreen landscape 

masses, building facades, or combination of these; 
• color (new construction only and not for existing residences); and 
• effect of trees and other landscape elements. 

 
6. The application is not congruous with the historic aspects of the district. 

 
7. Based on the standards of the Handbook, and the City of Concord Code of Ordinances,   

  including the standards listed above, the Commission concludes that: 
 

A. The covering of the wood siding with vinyl artificial siding on the exterior house and porch, in this case, due 
to the spatial relationship of the property to the Historic District is appropriate and the vinyl material in this 
case is in compliance with the Historic Handbook.  

 
Commissioner Firth made a motion to approve the conclusions of law as amended. Commissioner Underwood 
seconded the motion.   The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
Commissioner Underwood made a motion to approve an ex-post facto certificate of appropriateness. Commissioner 
Eury seconded the motion.   The vote carried unanimously.  –The Vote: All Ayes (APPROVED) 
 
HANDBOOK UPDATES  
 
No updates. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
A motion was made and carried to adjourn the meeting at 9:10 p.m. 
 
 
_________________________________ 
           Chair–William Isenhour 

                
                 
                
        _________________________________ 

                    Secretary – Deirdre Connellan 
      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-01-24 

Agenda Memorandum 
Historic Preservation Commission 

 
 

DATE       February 14, 2024 
SUBJECT 
 Certificate of Appropriateness Request:   H-01-24 
 Applicant:      Robert and Jennifer Rogers 
 Location of subject property:   238 Union St. N 

PIN:      5621-60-9470 
Staff Report prepared by:  Kim Wallis, AICP, Senior Planner 

 
BACKGROUND  
• The subject property, 238 Union St. N, is designated as a “Fill” structure in the North Union Street 

Historic District, built in 1954-1955 (Exhibit A). 
• “Two story, brick colonial style house with five bay façade and rounded, one-story, wrought iron 

portico. Harmonious landscaping, including the retention of mature shade trees, keeps this house from 
being considered an intrusion.” (Exhibit A). 

• Johnson House- rear of 238 Union St. N. “Two-story, frame, Italianate house moved to the rear of this 
lot when #7 was erected in the mid-1950s. House retains much of its exterior trim, including original 
entrance with molded architrave, molded cornice with pendant drop brackets, and window surrounds. 
First floor facade bays flanking entrance removed as part of adaptation of first floor for use as garage. 
Porch with Tuscan columns dates from early twentieth century. Two rear ell wings demolished at the 
time house was moved” (Exhibit A). 

 
DISCUSSION 
On December 11, 2023, Robert and Jennifer Rogers, applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness under 
Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 for the installation of a pool, spa, gazebo, two sheds, outdoor 
kitchen, dry well, fences, gates, retaining walls, fireplace, patio the removal of two trees and landscaping 
in the rear yard, and renovations to the front walk, gate columns, steps, retaining wall, and landscaping in 
the front yard. (Exhibit B).  
 
Tree Removal: 
The applicant is requesting to remove two mature Pecan trees in the rear yard to make way for the rear yard 
installations. Both trees were assessed by the City Arborist, Bill Leake, on January 3, 2024. The Pecan tree 
located in the center of the rear yard received a Risk Rating of 5 on the Tree Risk Assessment Form and 
included this comment: “this tree is beginning to show signs of decline in vigor. It has areas of decay from 
topping cuts and previous scaffold limb failure.” (Exhibit G) 
 
The Pecan tree located at the right side of the backyard received a Risk Rating of 4 on the Tree Risk 
Assessment Form and included this comment: “this tree shows no signs of risk above what is normal for 
the species.” (Exhibit H) 
 
Rear Yard Installations: 
Three new accessory buildings are proposed. Staff has discussed the Concord Development Ordinance 
regulations with the applicant and has confirmed that the proposed accessory structures do not occupy more 
than thirty-percent (30%) of the required rear yard.  
These include: 

• A gazebo located to the right of the pool and spa will be 20’8” w x 20’8” l x 15’5” h. The roof will 
be asphalt shingles, with fascia and gutters, all to match the primary residence. The ceiling will 



2 
Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-01-24 

have beadboard ceiling. The laminated beams on the columns, the brick fireplace and brick veneer 
walls will all match the primary residence. The siding will be clapboard siding which will match 
the existing garage building. There will be a 2” thermal bluestone hearth, a mantle, and storage 
caps, and full color cleft patterned bluestone flooring.  

• A storage shed will be located adjacent to the existing garage building and will be 12’ w x 7’ l x 
10’6” h with asphalt shingles, fascia, gutters and clapboard siding. There will be an 8” concrete 
masonry unit (CMU) foundation on concrete footing, mortar filled, with brick veneered exposed 
walls and caps.  

• A woodshed will be 10’ w x 3’3” l x 9’4” h, located to the rear of the existing garage building, with 
asphalt shingles, fascia, and clapboard siding. There will be pressure treated pine beam and framing 
over 6” x 6” pressure treated pine posts on concrete slab and footing. A proposed 3’ high x 33’ long 
black aluminum railing will be centered and cored on top of the brick veneered wall cap at the back 
of the woodshed (Exhibit D). 

Additionally, a proposed uncovered outdoor kitchen will be located adjacent to the primary structure, will 
be 20’6” w x 13’ l, and have 1.25” granite countertops installed over a 4" wide brick cabinet on a concrete 
slab and footing. The appliances, sink, and doors are all to be determined (Exhibit D). 
 
The proposed pool will be located in the center of the rear yard, will be 16' w x 32', will have a vinyl liner, 
a 6' tanning ledge, steps and swim-out, and 2" x 12" thermal bluestone coping. As proposed, the depth of 
the pool will be 3’ at the shallow point and increase to 6’ at the deepest point. The square spillover spa will 
be adjacent and to the right of the pool, will be 7'10"w x 7'10”1", made with acrylic, on 8" CMU, mortar 
filled, with brick veneered walls, and 2" x 12" thermal bluestone coping, all on concrete footing. The 
swimming pool and spa shall be set back from all lot lines a distance of not less than five (5) feet. The 
surrounding proposed patios and pool deck will be concrete with an 8" brick border. Proposed walls and 
steps located around the patio will be made of 8" CMU, mortar filled, w/ brick veneered walls, caps, treads 
and risers (Exhibit D). 
 
The pool and spa area and the rear yard will be enclosed as required by the Concord Development Ordinance 
by the existing garage structure, the primary house structure, an existing 4 foot brick wall at the rear property 
line and the following proposed fences: a 6’ high wood privacy fence with an almond (or darker) finish 
located at the right property line, starting at the back of the center line of the primary structure and extending 
108’ to the rear property line and a 4'6" high three (3) rail black aluminum fence with 1’ square brick 
columns which will run 49’ at the left rear yard and 36’ feet at the right side of the house and include four 
(4) 4’6” h x 5’w black aluminum gates. Six (6) decorative lamps are proposed for the top of the brick 
columns on either side of three (3) of the gates (Exhibit D). 
 
Front Yard Renovations: 
Proposed front yard renovations include the following: remove the existing 5’ w x 42’6 l brick front 
entrance walk, remove the existing retaining wall adjacent and parallel to the public sidewalk, and remove 
the existing brick columns and stairs leading up from the public sidewalk, and replace them all with similar 
material, color and design to mimic the original; install a new section of brick retaining wall and column at 
the front right property line; remove the existing lamp post near the front columns and stairs at the public 
sidewalk; and install four (4) decorative lamps (design to be determined) on top of the columns on either 
corner of the retaining wall and on the approach to the front walkway (Exhibit D). 
 
Landscaping (Front and Rear Yards): 
Proposed landscaping will include: crab orchard grey irregular Flagstone set in mortar leading from the 
woodshed to the rear lawn and leading from the right side rear lawn to the front lawn; 3” deep areas of river 
rock located at the rear property lines; a 6' w x 6' l x 4' depth dry well lined with landscape fabric and 



3 
Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-01-24 

dressed with 3" depth river rock over fabric located near the right rear property line; planting beds with 4" 
min. topsoil blend and top dressed with hardwood mulch; ornamental plants including shrubs, flowers and 
trees in the planting beds; small, medium and large NC Fieldstone boulders scattered in the front 
landscaping bed; a fescue blend sod lawn; and an irrigation system for the lawn and planting beds (Exhibit 
D). 

ATTACHMENTS 
Exhibit A: National Register of Historic Places Inventory 
Exhibit B: Application for Certificate of Appropriateness 
Exhibit C: Subject Property Map 
Exhibit D: Applicant submitted Master Landscape Plan, Master Hardscape Plan, and Details pages 
Exhibit E: Applicant submitted photographs. 
Exhibit F: Staff submitted photographs. 
Exhibit G: Tree Risk Assessment Form for the Pecan tree in the center of the back yard. 
Exhibit H: Tree Risk Assessment Form for the Pecan tree in the right side of the back yard. 
 
Concord Development Ordinance Regulations: 
Section 8.4.2 Accessory Uses - Location 
A. Accessory structures shall be required meet the setback standards for accessory structures as set forth 
in Section 7.6.3 Dimensional and Density Standards. Accessory structures may be located within a setback 
yard for principal structures and shall be regulated in accordance with the standards below. No accessory 
structure shall be located less than 36 inches from the exterior wall of the principal structure. Structures that 
are located closer than 36 inches shall be considered as additions to the principal structure and shall conform 
to all applicable setbacks. 
B. For residential lots not exceeding two (2) acres, detached accessory structures shall not be located in 
the front yard. Detached accessory structures may be built in the required rear yard but such accessory 
structures shall not occupy more than thirty (30%) percent of the required rear yard and shall not be closer 
than five feet to any side or rear lot line or setback line. 
D. The location of permitted non-residential accessory structures shall be governed by the same 
dimensional regulations as set forth for the principal use structure(s). 
 
Section 8.4.4 Swimming Pools 
A private swimming pool along with incidental installations, such as pumps and filters, is permitted in any 
residential zoning district provided: 
A. The swimming pool and incidental installations are located in a location other than the front yard. 
B. If any pool contains at least four hundred fifty (450) square feet of water surface area or has a depth 
of thirty-six (36) inches or greater at its shallowest point, the pool shall be enclosed from adjoining lots 
by the Principal Building, and Accessory Building, a solid wall, or a protective fence of not less than 
four (4) feet in height. In the alternative, a pool cover shall be provided and shall be installed whenever 
the pool in not in use. 
C. The swimming pool shall be set back from all lot lines a distance of not less than five (5) feet. 
 
HISTORIC HANDBOOK DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS 
Approval Requirement Needs Table:  
• Trees: Removal of healthy trees over six inches in diameter in any location on the property require 

Commission Hearing and Approval. 
Removal of damaged or unhealthy trees of any size and in any location if recommended by a certified 
Arborist requires Planning Department Approval. 

• Fencing and Gates; Masonry Walls: All types of fencing and gates, and all walls in public view over 
18 inches in height require Commission Hearing and Approval. 



4 
Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-01-24 

• New Accessory Buildings: All new accessory buildings (sheds) require Commission Hearing and 
Approval. 

• Miscellaneous (Pool and Spa): Any type of alteration of exterior features of a building, site, or 
environment which is not specifically listed requires Commission Hearing and Approval. 

• Patios and Walks: All new patios, walks, and driveways require Commission Hearing and Approval. 
Repair or replacement of patios, walks, and driveways with similar materials and design do not require 
Commission Approval. 

• Lighting: All new additions of permanent, general illumination fixtures within public view require 
Commission Hearing and Approval. 

• Removal of significant architectural fixtures requires Commission Hearing and Approval. 
• Stairs and Steps: Removal, addition or alteration of external stairs or steps require Commission 

Hearing and Approval. 
Repair and replacement of external stairs or steps with like materials do not require Commission 
Approval. 

 
Chapter 5 – Section 8: Landscaping and Trees 
• Tree health may be decided upon by the acquisition of a Tree Hazard Evaluation Report issued by the 

City Arborist or a report submitted by a certified arborist.  Healthy trees are trees that have a hazard 
rating of 4 or lower.  Removal of healthy trees over the size of 6 inches in diameter (measured 4 feet 
above ground) or pruning of healthy tree limbs over 6 inches in diameter requires Historic Preservation 
Commission review and approval.   

• All trees that are removed should be replaced with a tree of similar species in an appropriate location 
unless no suitable location exists on the subject site.   

 
Design Standards 
Trees which are removed shall be replaced by a species which, upon maturity, is similar in scale to the 
removed specimen.  For example, canopy trees shall be replaced with canopy trees, and understory trees 
with understory trees.  
 
Chapter 5 – Section 9: Fences and Walls 
Walls 
• Where walls are concerned, natural stone or brick-masonry walls are encouraged and should not be 

coated or painted. The type and color of stone and masonry should respond to the historic nature of the 
property.  

Fences 
• Rear yard fences are defined as fences, which do not extend forward on the applicant’s property beyond 

the side centerline of the house in plain view.  Approval of the location may also be handled on a case-
by-case basis to determine the best natural break in the rear and front yards for placement of fences.  
Rear yard fences may be higher than four feet.  The portions of rear yard fences that face the street 
should be landscaped with shrubs and trees of a planting size that will fully hide the fence from the 
street within two years.  Size, type, and growth habits of plant materials to screen rear yard fences that 
face the street should be submitted at time of application.  If a front yard fence adjoins a rear yard fence, 
or an existing neighboring property fence, attention should be given to the transition between the two.   

• Privacy Fences 
Privacy fences are defined as fences with no spacing between pickets or fences of the shadowbox 
design.  Privacy fences may be allowed at the discretion of the Commission in the following 
circumstances: 

1. Privacy fences are most appropriate in rear yards. 



5 
Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-01-24 

2. Privacy fences may be allowed where the applicant's rear yard is directly adjacent to 
property that is either not in a historic district, or is within a historic district but is non-
contributing or intrusive in that district.  The applicant shall show to the satisfaction of 
the Commission: 
 that the adjacent property is unsightly in comparison to other properties 

surrounding the applicant's property, 
 that the adjacent property or nearby property raises reasonable security 

concerns for the applicant, or 
 that the adjacent property could reasonably be determined to negatively 

impact the property value of the applicant's property. 
Privacy fences shall be allowed only on the applicant's property line directly adjoining 
the aforesaid adjacent property unless the Commission feels that such a partial privacy 
fence would not be visually appropriate or would not accomplish the purpose(s) of the 
privacy fence set forth above. 

3. Privacy fences encompassing an area of no more than 250 square feet may be allowed 
at the discretion of the Commission when adjacent to the applicant's house, garage, or 
other outbuilding in order to screen from view trash cans, mechanical equipment, cars 
or other unsightly items, provided such fence does not unreasonably impact any 
neighbor by blocking windows or the like. 

Privacy fences allowed by the Commission should be landscaped where practical with appropriate 
shrubbery to soften the appearance of the fence. 

Design Standards 
• Do not use high walls or fences to screen front yards. 
• Use materials such as natural stone, brick, wood, powder coated aluminum and iron. 
• Chain link or plastic materials are prohibited.  Adding slats to existing chain link fences for screening 

purposes is prohibited. 
• Materials and style should coordinate with building and neighboring buildings as well as other walls 

and fences in the area. 
 
Chapter 5 – Section 3: New Accessory Structure Construction 
Design Standards 
• Keep the proportion of new garages and accessory structures compatible with the proportion of the 

main house. Typically these buildings were smaller in scale than the main house. 
• New garages and accessory structures must use traditional roof forms, materials, and details 

compatible with the main building or historic accessory structures in the district 
 
Chapter 5 – Section 5: Roofing 
Design Standards 
• New construction should avoid A-frame, dome, shed and flat-alone roof shapes. 
• New construction should avoid the roof being more than one-half the building’s height. 
• Use materials in new construction that are consistent with the style of the building; materials should be 

unobtrusive in texture as well as color. 
 
Chapter 5 – Section 10: Driveways, Walkways, and Parking 
• New walkways should consist of appropriate natural material including gravel, concrete, stone, brick 

or pervious pavers.  Walkways should avoid prefabricated and imprinted stepping stones within front 
yards.   

 
 



6 
Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-01-24 

Chapter 5 – Section 11: Lighting 
• Residential lighting is historically minimal.  Therefore, minor usage of low level landscape lighting 

added at ground level, with fixtures not visible from the street, that do not shine upon the building 
façade are appropriate.  New exterior lighting units that produce higher levels of lighting or a fixture 
that is visible from the street are discouraged and require review and approval from the Historic 
Preservation Commission.   

• Removal of historic light fixtures is inappropriate. 
 
Design Standards 
• Maintain subtle effects with selective spots of light rather than indiscriminate area lighting. 
• Do not concentrate light on facades and avoid casting light on surrounding properties. 
• Use lights to define spaces and accent vegetation. 
• Hide non-decorative light fixtures. 
• Do not use fixtures which are incompatible with existing details, styles, etc. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

1. The Historic Preservation Commission should consider the circumstances of this application for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness relative to the North and South Union Street Historic Districts 
Handbook and act accordingly.  

2. If approved, applicant(s) should be informed of the following:  
 City staff and Commission will make periodic on-site visits to ensure the project is 

completed as approved.  
 Completed project will be photographed to update the historic properties survey.  

 



NPS F:orm 10-m-a 
p.82) 

OHB No. 1024 8 0018 
EKp1res 10 8 31·87 

·united States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 

National Register. of HistoricJ: ~~~~~~ 
Inventory-Nomination Form~~-

Continuation sheet lt~m number Page 

Inventory List - North Union Street 
Historic District, Concord 

#7 21 

6. House 
246 North Union Street 
ca. 1906 (S) 
c 

Two-story, frame, single-pile, . house ·with ·triple--"A~, r.aofltne.-- •Allc-=-'three c·:~:-=. 
gables·· have sawn ornaments and cut-out ventilators. Wrap-around porch 
with turned posts, turned balusters, and decorative brackets carries 
across full facade and shelters south side of rear ell. Facade bays 
have pairs of tall, narrow, 1/1 windows. 

7. House 
238 North Union Street 
1954-55 (10) 
F 

Two-story, brick Colonial style house with fiVe-'bay ·facade- and rounded, 
one-story, wrought-iron portico. Harmonious landscaping, including the 
retention of mature shade trees, keeps this house from being considered 
an intrusion. 

7A. Johnson House 

8. 

rear of 238 North Union Street 
1906 (SB) 
c 

Two-story, frame, Italianate house moved to the ·rear of this lot when 
#7 was erected in the mid-1950s. House retains much of· its' exterior trim, 
including original entrance with molded architrave, molded cornice with 
pendant drop brackets, and window surrounds.- First floor facade ·bays -
flanking entrance removed as part of adaptation of first floor for use 
as garage. Porch with Tuscan columns dates from. early .tw.entieth. century. 
Two rear ell wings demolished at the. time_ house was_-moved.-:..-.._ ~-, ~ · ·- -~··-

W.A. Wilkinson House 
230 North Union Street 
ca. 1900 (SB) 
c 

Well-detailed two-story, frame Queen Anne style residence with side 
gable roof and projecting, gable-front north (left) facade bay. Both 
the facade gable and the gable on the south side of the house have 
cut-away corners and are richly ornamented with alternating bands 

EXHIBIT A

wallisk
Rectangle



EXHIBIT B





!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

11

266

260

251

250

246

238

235

230

229

224

221

220

212

208

253

247

246

241

240
238

236

233

232

229

223

UNION ST N

CHURCH ST N

DONNIE AVE NW

CHURCH ST NUNION ST N

SPRING ST NWACADEMY AVE NW

ELM
 AVE NW

BUFFALO AVE NW

LONG AVE NEMCKINNON AVE NE

FR
ANKLI

N AVE
 NW

ST MARY AVE NW

MAY ST NE

CE
DA

R D
R N

W

KERR ST NW

SIMPSON DR NE

MEA
DOW AV

E NE

VANCE DR NE

AYCOCK ST NE

ST CHARLES AVE NE

PEACHTREE AVE NW

MCGILL AVE NW

DOUGLAS AVE NW

ASH AVE NW

EDGEWOOD AVE NE

MARSH AVE NW

BROOKWOOD AVE NW

CRESWELL DR NE

BEECH ST NW

PARALLEL CT NW

DONNIE AVE NW

ERVIN AVE NW

HOMERINE ST NE

WADDELL AVE NE

KILLA
RNEY AVE NE

VANCE DR NE

Source: City of Concord
Planning Department

H-01-24

238 Union St N

PIN: 5621-60-9470

These maps and products are designed for general
reference only and data contained herein is subject 
to change. The City Of Concord, it's employees or 
agents make no warranty of merchantability or fitness 
for any purpose, expressed or implied, and assume no 
legal responsibility for the information contained therein. 
Data used is from multiple sources with various scales 
and accuracy. Additional research such as field surveys 
may be necessary to determine actual conditions.

Disclaimer

²
0 8040

Feet

Parcels
! Addresses

Subject Property

Subject
Property

EXHIBIT C



EXHIBIT D











This color brick will be used for the whole project.  
We are having it made to match existing brick.

River rock to be used

Flagstone to be used 

Fence: 54" high x 6' long panels 
Gates: 54" x 4'

EXHIBIT E



Front Yard Photos



Rear Yard Photos



Inventory Photo: Rear Yard Garage/Fitness Room, Etc.

Inventory Photo: Front of house showing walkway and stoop

EXHIBIT F



 TREE RISK ASSESSMENT FORM  
 

Site/Address:   238 Union St N 

Map/Location: Back yard right side (South) 

Owner: public:  _______  private:      X        _ unknown: ________  other:  __________  

Date:  01/03/24 Inspector: Bill Leake 

Date of last inspection:  

TREE CHARACTERISTICS ___________________________  
Tree #: 2 Pecan (Carya illinoensis)   

DBH:  40”     # of trunks:  1        Height: 100’      Spread: 50’  

Form: ☒ generally symmetric ☐ minor asymmetry ☐ major asymmetry ☐ stump sprout ☐ stag-headed 

Crown class: ☐ dominant ☒ co-dominant ☐ intermediate ☐ suppressed 

Live crown ratio:   98%  Age class: ☐ young ☐ semi-mature ☒ mature ☐ over-mature/senescent 

Pruning history: ☐ crown cleaned ☐ excessively thinned ☐ topped ☒ crown raised ☐ pollarded ☐ crown reduced ☐ flush cuts  
☒cabled/braced ☐ none ☒ multiple pruning events   Approx. dates:  

Special Value: ☐ specimen ☒ heritage/historic ☐ wildlife ☐ unusual ☐ street tree ☐ screen ☐ shade ☐ indigenous ☒ protected by gov. agency 

TREE HEALTH __________________________________________________________  
Foliage color. ☐ normal                        

Foliage density:                    

Annual shoot growth: 

             Woundwood : 
 
             Vigor class: 

  
Major pests/diseases:    

☐ chlorotic ☐ necrotic  Epicormics; ☐                   Growth obstructions: 

☐normal      ☐sparse      Leaf size: ☐ normal ☐ small              ☐ stakes ☐ wire/ties ☐ signs ☐ cables 

☐ excellent ☒ average ☐ poor ☐ none    Twig Dieback:  ☐         ☐  curb/pavement   ☐ guards 
  
☒ excellent ☐average ☐ fair ☐ poor 
     
☐ excellent ☒average ☐ fair ☐ poor                        
  
None  

SITE CONDITIONS ______________________________________________________  
Site Character: ☒ residence ☐ commercial ☐ industrial ☐ park ☐ open space ☐ natural ☐woodland/forest 

Landscape type: ☐ parkway ☐ raised bed ☐ container ☐ mound ☒ lawn ☐ shrub border ☐ wind break 

Irrigation: ☒ none ☐ adequate ☐ inadequate ☐ excessive ☐ trunk wetted 

Recent site disturbance? NO ☐ construction   ☐ soil disturbance   ☐ grade change     ☐ herbicide treatment   

% dripline paved: 0%   Pavement lifted: NO      

% dripline w/ fill soil: 0%  

% dripline grade lowered: 0%  

Soil problems: ☐ drainage ☐ shallow ☐ compacted ☐ droughty ☐ saline ☐ alkaline ☐ acidic ☐ small volume ☐ disease center ☐ history of fail 
☒ clay ☐ expansive ☐ slope  ______ ° aspect:  __________  

Conflicts: ☐ lights ☐ signage ☐ line-of-sight ☐ view ☐ overhead lines ☐ underground utilities ☐ traffic ☐ adjacent veg. ☐ _____________   

Exposure to wind: ☐ single tree☐ below canopy ☐ above canopy ☐ recently exposed ☒ windward, canopy edge ☐ area prone to windthrow 

Prevailing wind direction:         SW         Occurrence of snow/ice storms ☐ never ☒ seldom ☐ regularly 

TARGET_______________________________________________________________  
Use Under Tree:☒ building☐ parking ☐ traffic ☐ pedestrian ☐ recreation ☐ landscape ☒ hardscape ☐ small features ☐ utility lines 

Can target be moved? NO  Can use be restricted? NO  

Occupancy: ☐ occasional use ☒ intermittent use ☐ frequent use ☐ constant use 

 

Fa i l u r e  +  S i z e  +  Ta rge t  =  R i s k  
Potential  of part     Rating        Rating 

If approved for removal, the replacement tree 
species and location shall be listed on the 
certificate of appropriateness. 

 

 
RISK RATING: 

       1                  1                  2                   4 
     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
            

    

 
       

EXHIBIT G



TREE DEFECTS _____________________________________________________________  
ROOT DEFECTS: 

Suspect root rot: NO  Mushroom/conk/bracket present: NO     ID:   

Exposed roots: ☐severe ☐ moderate ☒ low Undermined: ☐ severe ☐ moderate ☒ low 

Root pruned:    distance from trunk Root area affected:  ___  Buttress wounded: ☐ When: _________________  

Restricted root area: ☐ severe ☐ moderate ☒ low Potential for root failure: ☐ severe ☐ moderate ☒ low 

LEAN:      1 deg. from vertical ☒ natural ☐ unnatural ☐ self-corrected   ☐ Soil heaving:   

Decay in plane of lean: ☐ Roots broken: ☐ Soil cracking: ☐ 

Compounding factors:      Lean severity: ☐ severe☐ moderate ☒ low  

Concern Areas: Indicate presence of individual structural issues and rate their severity (S = severe, M = moderate, L = low) 

DEFECT ROOT CROWN TRUNK SCAFFOLDS BRANCHES 
Poor taper     
Bow, sweep    L 
Codominants/forks   M  
Multiple attachments     
Included bark     
Excessive end weight     
Cracks/splits     
Hangers    L 
Girdling     
Wounds/seam     
Decay     
Cavity     
Conks/mushrooms/bracket     
Bleeding/sap flow     
Loose/cracked bark     
Nesting hole/bee hive     
Deadwood/stubs     
Borers/termites/ants     
Cankers/galls/burls     
Previous failure   L   

RISK RATING ______________________________________________________________  
 
Tree part most likely to fail in the next six months:  Branches 
 
Failure potential: 1 - low: 2 - medium; 3 - high; 4 - severe                     Size of part:  0- 0” - 3”  1 – 3”-6"    2 – 6”-18"   3 – 18”-30"    4 - >30"   
Target rating: 0 - no target  1 - occasional use    2 -intermittent use   3 - frequent use   4 - constant use 

Maintenance Recommendations 
☐ none ☐ remove defective part ☐ reduce end weight ☒ crown clean 

 ☐ thin ☐ raise canopy ☐ crown reduce ☐ restructure ☒ cable/brace 

Inspect further ☐ root crown ☐ decay ☒ aerial ☐ monitor 

☐ Remove tree  ☐ When replaced, a similar sized tree species would be appropriate in same general location   

                           ☒ When replaced, alternate tree replacement locations are available        

Effect on adjacent trees: ☒ none ☐ evaluate 

Notification: ☒ owner ☐ manager ☒ governing agency          Date: 01/03/24 

COMMENTS  _______________________________________________________________  
This tree shows no signs of risk above what is normal for the species. 

Bill Leake 

 

Failure Potential + Size of Part + Target Rating = Hazard Rating 
             1                      1                       2                       4 
 





 TREE RISK ASSESSMENT FORM  
 

Site/Address:   238 Union St N 

Map/Location: Back yard center 

Owner: public:  _______  private:      X        _ unknown: ________  other:  __________  

Date:  01/03/24 Inspector: Bill Leake 

Date of last inspection:  

TREE CHARACTERISTICS ___________________________  
Tree #: 1 Pecan (Carya illinoensis)   

DBH:  37.5”     # of trunks:  1        Height: 100’      Spread: 70’  

Form: ☒ generally symmetric ☐ minor asymmetry ☐ major asymmetry ☐ stump sprout ☐ stag-headed 

Crown class: ☐ dominant ☒ co-dominant ☐ intermediate ☐ suppressed 

Live crown ratio:   95%  Age class: ☐ young ☐ semi-mature ☐ mature ☒ over-mature/senescent 

Pruning history: ☐ crown cleaned ☐ excessively thinned ☐ topped ☒ crown raised ☐ pollarded ☒ crown reduced ☐ flush cuts  
☒cabled/braced ☐ none ☒ multiple pruning events   Approx. dates:  

Special Value: ☐ specimen ☒ heritage/historic ☐ wildlife ☐ unusual ☐ street tree ☐ screen ☐ shade ☐ indigenous ☒ protected by gov. agency 

TREE HEALTH __________________________________________________________  
Foliage color. ☐ normal                        

Foliage density:                    

Annual shoot growth: 

             Woundwood : 
 
             Vigor class: 

  
Major pests/diseases:    

☐ chlorotic ☐ necrotic  Epicormics; ☐                   Growth obstructions: 

☐normal      ☐sparse      Leaf size: ☐ normal ☐ small              ☐ stakes ☐ wire/ties ☐ signs ☐ cables 

☐ excellent ☒ average ☐ poor ☐ none    Twig Dieback:  ☒         ☐  curb/pavement   ☐ guards 
  
☐ excellent ☒average ☐ fair ☐ poor 
     
☐ excellent ☐average ☒ fair ☐ poor                        
  
Decay in center stem  

SITE CONDITIONS ______________________________________________________  
Site Character: ☒ residence ☐ commercial ☐ industrial ☐ park ☐ open space ☐ natural ☐woodland/forest 

Landscape type: ☐ parkway ☐ raised bed ☐ container ☐ mound ☒ lawn ☐ shrub border ☐ wind break 

Irrigation: ☒ none ☐ adequate ☐ inadequate ☐ excessive ☐ trunk wetted 

Recent site disturbance? NO ☐ construction   ☐ soil disturbance   ☐ grade change     ☐ herbicide treatment   

% dripline paved: 0%   Pavement lifted: NO      

% dripline w/ fill soil: 0%  

% dripline grade lowered: 0%  

Soil problems: ☐ drainage ☐ shallow ☐ compacted ☐ droughty ☐ saline ☐ alkaline ☐ acidic ☐ small volume ☐ disease center ☐ history of fail 
☒ clay ☐ expansive ☐ slope  ______ ° aspect:  __________  

Conflicts: ☐ lights ☐ signage ☐ line-of-sight ☐ view ☐ overhead lines ☐ underground utilities ☐ traffic ☐ adjacent veg. ☐ _____________   

Exposure to wind: ☐ single tree☐ below canopy ☐ above canopy ☐ recently exposed ☒ windward, canopy edge ☐ area prone to windthrow 

Prevailing wind direction:         SW         Occurrence of snow/ice storms ☐ never ☒ seldom ☐ regularly 

TARGET_______________________________________________________________  
Use Under Tree:☒ building☐ parking ☐ traffic ☐ pedestrian ☐ recreation ☐ landscape ☒ hardscape ☐ small features ☐ utility lines 

Can target be moved? NO  Can use be restricted? NO  

Occupancy: ☐ occasional use ☒ intermittent use ☐ frequent use ☐ constant use 

 

Fa i l u r e  +  S i z e  +  Ta rge t  =  R i s k  
Potential  of part     Rating        Rating 

If approved for removal, the replacement tree 
species and location shall be listed on the 
certificate of appropriateness. 

 

 
RISK RATING: 

       2                   1                  2                   5 
     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
            

    

 
       

EXHIBIT H



TREE DEFECTS _____________________________________________________________  
ROOT DEFECTS: 

Suspect root rot: NO  Mushroom/conk/bracket present: NO     ID:   

Exposed roots: ☐severe ☐ moderate ☒ low Undermined: ☐ severe ☐ moderate ☒ low 

Root pruned:    distance from trunk Root area affected:  ___  Buttress wounded: ☐ When: _________________  

Restricted root area: ☐ severe ☐ moderate ☒ low Potential for root failure: ☐ severe ☐ moderate ☒ low 

LEAN:      3 deg. from vertical ☒ natural ☐ unnatural ☐ self-corrected   ☐ Soil heaving:   

Decay in plane of lean: ☒ Roots broken: ☐ Soil cracking: ☐ 

Compounding factors:      Lean severity: ☐ severe☐ moderate ☒ low  

Concern Areas: Indicate presence of individual structural issues and rate their severity (S = severe, M = moderate, L = low) 

DEFECT ROOT CROWN TRUNK SCAFFOLDS BRANCHES 
Poor taper     
Bow, sweep    M 
Codominants/forks   M  
Multiple attachments     
Included bark     
Excessive end weight     
Cracks/splits     
Hangers    L 
Girdling     
Wounds/seam     
Decay   L  
Cavity   L  
Conks/mushrooms/bracket     
Bleeding/sap flow  L   
Loose/cracked bark     
Nesting hole/bee hive     
Deadwood/stubs    L 
Borers/termites/ants     
Cankers/galls/burls     
Previous failure   M   

RISK RATING ______________________________________________________________  
 
Tree part most likely to fail in the next six months:  Branches 
 
Failure potential: 1 - low: 2 - medium; 3 - high; 4 - severe                     Size of part:  0- 0” - 3”  1 – 3”-6"    2 – 6”-18"   3 – 18”-30"    4 - >30"   
Target rating: 0 - no target  1 - occasional use    2 -intermittent use   3 - frequent use   4 - constant use 

Maintenance Recommendations 
☐ none ☐ remove defective part ☐ reduce end weight ☒ crown clean 

 ☐ thin ☐ raise canopy ☐ crown reduce ☐ restructure ☒ cable/brace 

Inspect further ☐ root crown ☒ decay ☒ aerial ☐ monitor 

☐ Remove tree  ☐ When replaced, a similar sized tree species would be appropriate in same general location   

                           ☒ When replaced, alternate tree replacement locations are available        

Effect on adjacent trees: ☐ none ☐ evaluate 

Notification: ☒ owner ☐ manager ☒ governing agency          Date: 01/03/24 

COMMENTS  _______________________________________________________________  
This tree is beginning to show signs of decline in vigor. It has areas of decay from topping cuts and previous scaffold limb failure. 

Bill Leake 

 

Failure Potential + Size of Part + Target Rating = Hazard Rating 
             2                      1                       2                       5 
 





 

Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-02-24 

Agenda Memorandum 
Historic Preservation Commission 

 
 

DATE       February 14, 2024 
SUBJECT 
 Certificate of Appropriateness Request:   H-02-24 
 Applicant:      Julio De La Mora 
 Location of subject property:   23 Spring St NW 

PIN:      5620-87-1837 
Staff Report prepared by:  Kim Wallis, AICP, Senior Planner 

 
BACKGROUND  
• The subject property, 23 Spring St NW, is designated as a “Contributing” structure in the North Union 

Street Historic District, ca 1860-1865 (Exhibit A). 
• “Two-story, frame, vernacular house that exhibits some of its original Greek Revival and Italianate 

designs. Most distinctive remaining Italianate features are the post and lintel mantels and the sawn work 
trim. House originally built for Charles A Caldwell.  John A Blackwelder purchased home in 1917 and 
operated a wholesale dealership from his home. House underwent renovations that seriously altered the 
exterior and the interior of the house. Site was moved back one yard. Original one-bay façade was 
modified to a three-bay façade with decorative gables over the porch and main house. A bungalow 
wrap-around porch with tapered columns on brick piers replaced the pedimented one-bay portico in 
1917. In addition, side panels were added to the center window on upper elevation of facade. The 
sidelights, however, on either side of principal door are original and contain lead glass. Other exterior 
additions during this time include a two-room ell with projecting bay topped with a slanted witches-
cap-roof, a shed room on the southwest corner of the first floor, and the replacement of the center hall 
partition with a column portal. Glass and brick flower house was removed by 1917. Ray King, a 
prominent newspaperman and the former editor of the Concord Tribune, purchased home in 1929 and 
continues to reside there. He added a garage to the property in 1965.” (Exhibit A). 

 
DISCUSSION 
On December 22, 2023, Julio De La Mora, applied for an “ex post facto” Certificate of Appropriateness 
under Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 for after-the-fact removal of vinyl siding and the 
installation of Hardie® Plank Lap Siding, the removal and replacement of roofing material, the removal of 
the chimney, the installation of a new HVAC, and the removal and closing in the openings of two large 
garage windows (Exhibit B).   
 
Siding 
The HPC approved the previous installation of vinyl siding on June 6, 1997, Case Number H-13-97, COA 
1176. The applicant has stated that the vinyl siding was aged and heavily damaged at the time of his 
purchase. The applicant has stated that wood siding existed below the vinyl siding. The newly installed 
gray Hardie® Plank Lap Siding has been installed over the wood siding, however there is a 50-100 linear 
feet section at the rear of the house where the applicant requests to remove the rotten wood siding before 
installing the Hardie® Plank Lap Siding (Exhibits D and E). 
 
Roof  
The previous roof covering was light brown asphalt shingles. The applicant states that the roof was in poor 
condition, and it was replaced with the same type of asphalt shingle but in a different and darker color tone 
to match the new siding and the original dark gray color of the foundation (Exhibit D). 
 



2 
Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-02-24 

 
 
Chimney 
The applicant states that inspections showed that the boiler heating system could not be used due to 
significant issues with the stability of the chimney, as the chimney was the ventilation for the boiler system. 
The original photos of the home show that the chimney is leaning away from the home. While the roof was 
being replaced, the chimney turned loose and fell to the ground unexpectedly. The chimney was not needed 
and therefore not rebuilt (Exhibit D). 
 
HVAC 
A new HVAC system has been installed to the left of the rear house. 
 
Rear Windows of the Garage 
The applicant states that it was determined that the placement of some of the existing rear facing windows 
of the garage caused increased hazard. Throughout time, prior to his ownership, interior structural changes 
had been made to this home with little thought to safety. A bonus room was added in the upper area of the 
garage. This floor ran directly in front of unstable large windows, allowing a portion of the window to be 
below the floor level and a portion above. The gap between the floor and the window and the inability to 
create a stable frame as to not be a fall hazard from the second floor prompted the windows to instead be 
encased, fully intact, between a new interior wall covering and the new exterior siding in the rear of the 
home. 
 
A second area had windows running alongside stair rails of a tight area that made the applicant uneasy 
going up/down as the proximity of the windows did not allow for proper railing and if balance was lost 
would be increased danger. With the potential of small children being able to fall through the unsupported 
window, or get stuck between the window and the floor, the applicant felt it was a necessary repair to cover 
it (Exhibit D). 
 
The applicant states that when he made these exterior repairs, he did not realize he needed permission first 
from the HPC. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Exhibit A: National Register of Historic Places Inventory 
Exhibit B: Application for Certificate of Appropriateness 
Exhibit C: Subject Property Map 
Exhibit D: Applicant submitted Photographs. 
Exhibit E: COA 1176 
 
HISTORIC HANDBOOK DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS 
Approval Requirement Needs Table:  
• Siding: Alteration of siding from one material to another (shingles to clapboard etc) and applications 

of any simulated materials, aluminum siding, plastic siding, etc requires Commission Hearing and 
Approval. 

• Roofing Material (and Chimney): repairs which obscure or change original architectural features 
require Commission Hearing and Approval. 

• Mechanical Equipment: Installation of residential mechanical equipment such as heating and air 
conditioning units which are not in public view Requires No Approval. 

• Windows: Removal of original windows, window components and changes in the window openings 
require Commission Hearing and Approval.  



3 
Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-02-24 

 
 
Chapter 4: Local Standards and General Policies  
Distinctive stylistic features shall be repaired rather than replaced, whenever possible.  In the event 
replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in composition, design, 
color, texture and other visual qualities.   

 
Artificial siding: The Commission views each of Concord’s Historic Districts as a whole and thus more than 
the sum of its individual parts.  For this reason, all buildings within the Districts are deemed to be of architectural 
significance, unless otherwise expressed by the Commission. 

 
Because artificial siding is not considered an authentic, historical material, it is prohibited from being used 
on structures defined by the Commission as Pivotal and Contributing to the Historic Districts. 
 
Artificial siding would be considered on structures defined by the Commission as Non-Contributing, 
Intrusive or Fill properties if the following conditions are met: 
• The facility is considered not to have existing wood damage or other forms of structural damage that 

would be concealed by vinyl siding. 
• That the structure must have been built during a time and consistent in style with a time during which 

vinyl siding was commonly used in new construction.   
• The application of the vinyl siding nor the vinyl siding itself shall not alter even in the smallest detail 

historical features that may exist and are considered by the Concord Historic Preservation Commission 
as important in defining the historic character of the structure. 
 

• Hardiplank and similar synthetic materials that replicate historic materials such as brick, wood, 
and clay:  Modern synthetic products are created to give the appearance of historic materials.  The 
materials are historically inaccurate and should not be used on Contributing or Pivotal structures or as 
part of additions to those buildings.  Accessory buildings for Pivotal and Contributing structures should 
utilize the same siding and roof material as the primary structure.  If the primary structure is not 
Contributing or Pivotal, new accessory structures, such as detached garages or outbuildings, may utilize 
these materials. In any case, prefabricated storage buildings that are not visible from the street, may 
utilize synthetic materials (excluding vinyl, metal, or plastic) if they are equal to or under 144 square 
feet.    

 
Chapter 5 – Section 4: Siding and Exterior Materials 
Design Standards 
• To the greatest extent possible, wood siding should be preserved and maintained. 
• In the replacement of wood siding, materials should match the original as closely as possible.  “Rough-

sawn” siding should be avoided. 
• The use of artificial siding to cover original siding is prohibited. 
• The removal of artificial siding and restoration of original siding materials is encouraged. 
• Artificial and synthetic siding is permitted for new construction on a limited basis in coordination with 

this section and Chapter 4: “Local Standards and General Policies” of this Handbook. 
 
Chapter 5 -Section 7: Roofing 
Original features on chimneys such as corbeling should be preserved.  Enlarging, altering, removing, or 
shortening chimneys should be avoided. 
Design Standards 
• Original roof material should be maintained and/or replaced with like roofing if possible.   



4 
Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-02-24 

• When replacing asphalt shingles, darker color shingles should be used since they are more historically 
appropriate.     

 
Chapter 5 -Section 5: Fenestrations 
• Whenever possible, the original windows and doors and their features (sashes, glass, lentils, sills, 

architraves, shutters, door frames, pediments, hoods, steps, and hardware) should be preserved.   
• Alteration in door and window openings, especially on the principal facade, should be avoided 

whenever possible, except as a restorative measure to return an opening to its original size.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 

1. The Historic Preservation Commission should consider the circumstances of this application for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness relative to the North and South Union Street Historic Districts 
Handbook and act accordingly.  

2. If approved, applicant(s) should be informed of the following:  
 City staff and Commission will make periodic on-site visits to ensure the project is 

completed as approved.  
 Completed project will be photographed to update the historic properties survey.  

 



/ 

~--'----·NPS Form 10<900·• ---------- --~--~--------=--'---'----==---·- . OHB No. 1024-0018 
EKp1res 10-Jl-87 P-'21 

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 

National Register of Historic Places 
Inventory-Nomination Form 

Continuation sheet 

Inventory List - North Union Street 
Historic District, Concord 

Item number 

#7 

Page 

59 

stories. First floor fenestrations include two eight-over-eights. Fenestrations 
on second floor are two six-over-sixes and a small center window with 
four-over-four. A molded wooden arch with keystone rests directly above 
the transom over the principal glass panel door. Second ·floor is sheathed
in shingles. House has an ell on the -north- side- ari--Triterior __ end_chimney--
on the south side. - ____ c:.c. ---

ll8. Vacant Lot 
Between 18 and 17 Spring Street, N. W. 
VL 

Unkept rear yard of L 'il General Store. 

ll9. Matthew Goodson House 
17 Spring Street, N. W. 
ca. 1898 
c 

Frame Queen Anne cottage with shingled gable roof. Sidelights mark 
entrance. One-bay porch has turned la.lustrade and posts. Double-piled 
house also has gable pediment with cornice and returns. Fenestrations 
of this one-story, three-bay house are paired six-over-sixs-; Shingles
in roof are alternating chisel and staggered. House also has two interior 
end chimneys. 

120. Caldwell-Balckwelder-King House 
23 Spring Street, N. W. 
ca. 1860-1865 
c 

Two-story, frame, vernacular house that exhibits ·some _ of--'ils- ori&firial 
Greek Revival and ltalianate designs. Most.c-distJoi;'ttve---relmrihil'ijf'-iltiHtinafe=:-: ::·'-
features are the post a-rid -linter- marifels ____ and·•:'fue'-O..'Sawnwor'k trim. House-· -
originally built for Charles A. Caldw-ell. 

John A. Blackwelder purchsed home in 1917 and operated a: wholesale 
dealership from his home. House underwent renovations that - · seriously 
altered the exterior and the interior of house. Site- was moved back one 
yard. Original one-bay facade was modified to a three-bay facade with 
decorative gables over the porch and main house. A bungalow. wrap-arounci 
porch with tapered columns on brick piers replaced the · pedimented, 
one-bay portico in 1917. In addition, side panes were added to center 
window on upper elevation of facade. The sidelights, however, on eithe·r side 

EXHIBIT A

wallisk
Rectangle



NPS Form 10.900·1 
13-82) 

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 

~~' 
' 

National Register of Historic Places 
Inventory-Nomination Form 

Continuation sheet 

Inventory List - North Union Street 
Historic District, Concord 

Item number 

#7 

OHB No, 1024·0018 
Expires 10-31-87 

Page 

60 

of principal door are original and contain lead glass. Other exterior 
additions during this time include a two room ell with projecting bay 
topped with a slanted witches-cap-roof, a shed room on the southwest 
corner of the first floor, and the replacement of the _center _hall ~partition 
with a . column portal. Glass and ~ ·brick·c:~~f1ower~~ -house~cccwasc=-T~move~~~- by -
1917. 

Ray King, a prominent newspaperman and the former- editor of the Concord 
Tribune, purchased home in 1929 and continues to reside there. He added 
a garage to the property in 1965. ~- - -~~ 

121. Parking Lot 
Between 23 and 49 Spring Street, N. W. 
PL 

Used for parking lot for First Baptist Church 

122. First Baptist Church 
49 Spring street, N. W. 
1922-1924 ,' 
p 

Impressive brick church that exhibits extensive amount -of Gothic detailing. 
Facades features lancet-arched openings with simple intersecting tracery 
and stained glass windows, two-stage buttresses, and crenelated parapets 
on the tower and wings of Education building. Church has unique architect
ural plan. Main block of church is cruciform, with towers at three corners. 
Square-shaped auditorium occupies most of the main block. A cross gable 
structure with a square tower rest at~ ea_ch -Of _the_ corners .. QL the_ churc;:h_, 
The northeast gable~~ is - completely ~exposed • to_:__::Str£ef~.'c_cAlL:Windows _-have .c 

stone trim. The principal tower at the corner of ·spring- Street and Grove -
Avenue is in three stages which are set -with-cl>tittresses ~at. e·ach~_c_QI'her; 
The vertical axis created by these ~ buttres·se&":"'ls.c:-:,ocont1nued- ·bY~sp1kes~· 
at the corners of the crenelated parapet. The third- stage of tne--tower- ~ 
has two arched-tracery, louvered windows on each side. Above the double 
doors on the east and the north side are paired tracery-arched stained 
glass windows. Identical towers with entrances to the church rest at 
the northwest and southeast corners. All buttresses and . p!l.rapets ~have 
stone trim. Education building, built. after 1953, is a bricl< box with 
simple framing buttresses and no stone trim. The Sunday School building 
on Grove Avenue has a crenelated parapet and stone trimmed corbeled 
cornice. 

wallisk
Rectangle



Application for 
Certificate of Appropriateness 

Planning & Neighborhood Development 
35 Cabarrus Ave W     Concord, NC 28025 

Phone (704) 920-5152   Fax (704) 920-6962  www.concordnc.gov 

APPLICANT INFORMATION 

Name: 

Address: 

City: State: Zip Code: Telephone: 

OWNER INFORMATION 

Name: 

Address: 

City: State:  Zip Code: Telephone: 

SUBJECT PROPERTY 

Street Address: P.I.N. #

Area (acres or square feet): Current Zoning: Land Use:

AN INCOMPLETE APPLICATION WILL NOT BE PLACED ON THE AGENDA 
UNTIL ALL OF THE REQUIRED ATTACHMENTS AND/OR ITEMS LISTED ON 
PAGE 2 ARE SUBMITTED. 

Staff Use 
Only: 

Application Received by: Date: , 20 

Fee: $20.00 Received by: Date:  , 20 

The application fee is nonrefundable. 

EXHIBIT B



Application for 
Certificate of Appropriateness 

Planning & Neighborhood Development 
35 Cabarrus Ave W     Concord, NC 28025 

Phone (704) 920-5152   Fax (704) 920-6962  www.concordnc.gov 

General Requirements 

The Unified Development Ordinance imposes the following rules, regulations and requirements on requests for 
Certificates of Appropriateness. The applicant must, with reference to the attached plans, demonstrate how the 
proposed use satisfies these requirements: 

1. Project or Type of Work to be Done:

2. Detailed specifications of the project (type of siding, windows, doors, height/style of fence, color, etc.):

Certification 
(1) I hereby acknowledge and say that the information contained herein and herewith is true and that this application
shall not be scheduled for official consideration until all of the required contents are submitted in proper form to the
City of Concord Development Services Department. (2) I understand that City staff and/or members of the Historic
Preservation Commission may make routine visits to the site to insure that work being done is the same as the work
that was approved. (3) I understand that photographs of the completed project will be made to update the City’s
historic districts inventory database.

Date Signature of Owner/Agent 

Required 
Attachments/Submittals 

1. Scaled site plan, if additions or accessory structures are proposed, on letter, legal or ledger paper. Larger sized
copies will be accepted.  Digital copies are preferred.

2. Detailed written description of the project.
3. Photographs of site, project, or existing structures from a “before” perspective.
4. Drawings, sketches, renderings, elevations, or photographs necessary to present an illustration of the project

from an “after” perspective if applicable.
5. Samples of windows, doors, brick, siding, etc. must be submitted with application.
6. Detailed list of materials that will be used to complete the project.



From: Dunnavant, Jamie F
To: Kim Wallis
Subject: Re: chimney and siding removal at 23 Spring St
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2024 5:07:17 PM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png
Outlook-15kvbkzf.png
Screenshot 2024-01-12 at 1.27.43 PM.png
Screenshot 2024-01-12 at 1.28.07 PM.png
Screenshot 2024-01-12 at 1.28.33 PM.png
Screenshot 2024-01-12 at 1.25.31 PM.png
Screenshot 2024-01-12 at 1.27.43 PM.png
Screenshot 2024-01-12 at 1.28.33 PM.png
Screenshot 2024-01-16 at 5.04.14 PM.png

CAUTION: This email originated from outside the City of Concord. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe! 
Hello Kim,

Attached you will see the home when Mr. De La Mora purchased it.  The property disclosures were
all checked as "no representation" at the time of purchase, and Mr. De La Mora purchased the home
in as-is condition. Inspections showed that the heating system (boiler) could not be used due to
significant issues with the stability of the chimney, as the chimney was the ventilation for the boiler
system.  You can see from the original photos that the chimney is actually leaning away from the
home.  The person living in the home at the time of sale was reportedly living out of one room and
with a space heater.

 Information regarding repairs since purchase per my conversation with Mr. De La Mora are as
follows.  I have personally not been on the property since purchase and make no representation as
to the validity of any statements.  I am simply submitting this information at his request as verbalized
to me:

Mr. De La Mora reports he had a modern HVAC system installed after purchase.  The roof was also in
very poor condition. He had the roof replaced with the same type of shingle on the home when
purchased but a different color tone to match the new siding and the original color of the
foundation.  While the roof was being replaced, the chimney literally turned loose and fell to the
ground unexpectedly without assistance.  Fortunately, no one was injured.  With the chimney no
longer needed for the heating,  the area was repaired professionally as to maintain the roofline, but
the chimney was not rebuilt.  

Mr. De La Mora also replaced the aged and damaged vinyl siding with hardy board siding in a gray
tone to match the color of the foundation of the home at time of purchase. 

Along with these repairs, it was determined that the placement of some rear facing windows also
caused increased hazard.  Throughout time, prior to his ownership, interior structural changed had
been made to this home with little thought to safety.
One such issue was when a bonus room was added in the upper area of the garage.  This floor ran
directly in front of unstable large windows, allowing a portion of the window to be below the floor
level and a portion above.  The gap between the floor and window and the inability to create a
stable frame as to not be a fall hazard from the second floor, prompted the windows to instead be

mailto:jamie.dunnavant@cbrealty.com
mailto:wallisk@ConcordNC.gov












encased, fully intact, between a new interior wall covering and the new exterior siding in the rear of
the home.

A second area had windows running along side stair rails of a tight area that made Mr. De La Mora
himself uneasy going up/down as the priximity of the windows did not allow for proper railing and if
balance were lost would be increased danger.

With the potential of small children being able to fall through the unsupported window, or get stuck
between the window and the floor, he felt it was a necessary repair to cover it.   With this being the
back of the home, he did not realize it required permission before repairing it.  Please see attached
photos.

When he did these exterior repairs, he apologetically was unaware of causing issue with the historic
rules.  With the siding removed being a modern vinyl siding, not a historic wood siding, and replacing
with a superior and more natural grained product, he did not realize he required permission.  He was
simply trying to make the home functional, safe for residents and visitors, and free from pests who
could enter through the damaged areas.

Mr. De La Mora is requesting also that he be allowed to improve the driveway and add concrete as a
portion is paved, a portion is gravel and has concrete adjoining sidewalks.   He would like permission
to remove the cracked and diminished pavement and replace the entire driveway with a uniform
cement, in the current driveway area, and continuing the concrete to the garage, in the place of the
gravel.

Mr. De La Mora would also like to paint the front porch and railings.  He is asking permission for
appropriate colors he would be allowed to use on the front porch area.

He is also requesting that a sign that has been placed near his driveway by the city of Concord be
moved further away from the driveway as the sign impedes the ability for trucks to enter/exit.

He wants to extend a sincere apology for causing any issues and is hoping that he can complete the
renovations on the home to have it safe and enjoyable for decades to come.

Kind Regards, 
Jamie



EX
H

IB
IT

 C



Pictures showing previous 
siding and color

Picture showing previous windows 
and openings on rear garage

EXHIBIT D



Current photo of house siding and color

Current photo of garage with rear windows closed in

Inside shot of garage showing how the 
windows looked in bonus room before being 
covered up



 

Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-03-24 

Agenda Memorandum 
Historic Preservation Commission 

 
 

DATE       February 14, 2024 
SUBJECT 
 Certificate of Appropriateness Request:   H-03-24 

Applicant:      Josh Airheart – Reliable Woodworks  
(on behalf of property owner William Staton) 

 Location of subject property:   75 Grove Avenue NW 
PIN:      5620-77-7981 
Staff Report prepared by:  Kim Wallis, AICP, Senior Planner 

 
BACKGROUND  
• The subject property, 75 Grove Avenue NW, is designated as a “Contributing” structure in the North 

Union Street Historic District, ca 1925 (Exhibit A). 
• “Two-story brick residence with some Colonial Revival features but a horizontal form characteristic of 

the bungalow style or Prairie School. The low height of the house in relation to its width, the gently 
pitched hip roof with broad eaves, a similar roof on the projecting entrance bay, and the rows of four 
4/4 sash windows flanking the entrance combine to give the design its horizontal character. There is a 
one-story screened porch on the east side of the house and a sunroom at the rear. The entrance has 
leaded glass sidelights and a transom, and is framed by raised brickwork.” (Exhibit A). 

 
DISCUSSION 
On January 3, 2024, Josh Airheart with Reliable Woodworks, on behalf of William Staton, submitted a 
Certificate of Appropriateness application for the removal of the rear yard deck and pergola; the installation 
of a new rear porch addition; the removal of eight (8) crape myrtles; rear yard landscaping improvements 
including a garden, outdoor firepit, seating, a wall fountain, a putting green, a walkway, steps, a gate, and 
a wall; and the removal and replacement of retaining walls, steps, and wooden privacy fences. (Exhibit B).  
 
The existing 15’wide x 16’ deep rear yard deck and pergola located at the rear of the house are proposed to 
be removed to make way for the 40’4”x16’ new patio and porch addition (Exhibit D). 
 
Rear Patio and Porch Addition (Deck) 
The patio will include a bluestone paver floor and brick half-walls on either side of the patio with a 6’w x 
18’ h brick chimney installed on the left side of the patio. The brick for both will be similar to the existing 
brick of the house. Phantom Screens will be installed along the patio perimeter, with a patio entry door at 
the fireplace end of the patio (Exhibit D). 
 
Five PVC composite 16”x16” built up box columns will surround the rear patio and deck. The floor of the 
deck will be covered with bluestone pavers. The deck will include PVC composite porch railings 
constructed of Chippendale panels and 6’x6’ newel posts, to match the color of the house trim (Sherwin 
Williams Alabaster, SW7008) (Exhibit D). 
 
Backyard Improvements 
Proposed landscaping improvements to the rear yard include bluestone paver steps and a 4’ wide x 44’ long 
walkway, a new 3’w x 4’t cedar gate to be stained to match fence, a new 160’ long decorative brick retaining 
wall to match the house, a “Charleston Garden” to include the relocated Japanese Maple tree, a wall 
fountain, a Solo stove with seating, and a putting green. The rear steps and lattice will be removed and 
replaced with new stained wooden stairs with room for storage beneath (Exhibit D). 



2 
Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-03-24 

 
Retaining Walls, Steps 
The existing 17-24” tall concrete retaining wall that abuts the sidewalk on the property line along Yorktown 
St is proposed to be removed and replaced with a new cast-in-place concrete retaining wall with finish to 
match the original. This new retaining wall will increase in height as needed to allow for more level grading 
of the backyard but will be less than 4’ tall. Additionally, the existing 17-24” concrete retaining wall to the 
left of the driveway will be removed to accommodate the proposed higher grade within the backyard. The 
replacement retaining wall will be moved inward toward the rear of the home, similar to the location of the 
existing fence, and be less than 4’ tall. The existing concrete steps along Yorktown St will be removed and 
replaced with concrete steps to match the original. 
(Exhibit D).  
 
Fences 
The existing 6’ lattice top wooden privacy fences along Yorktown St and to the left of the rear driveway 
will be removed. They will be replaced with 6’ wooden privacy fences, stained, with a similar decorative 
design to the original, and relocated to just behind the retaining walls to allow for more usable backyard 
space. (Exhibit D). 
 
Trees 
The applicant is requesting to remove eight (8) crape myrtle trees with a trunk diameter less than 6” located 
along Yorktown St. The applicant will replant 8 ornamental trees along the fence running between our 
property and 67 Grove Ave NW (Exhibit D). 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Exhibit A: National Register of Historic Places Inventory 
Exhibit B: Application for Certificate of Appropriateness 
Exhibit C: Subject Property Map 
Exhibit D: Applicant submitted Site Plan, Elevations, Detail and Specifications pages 
 
HISTORIC HANDBOOK DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS 
Approval Requirement Needs Table:  
Balconies and Decks: Addition of balcony and deck where none previously existed requires Commission 
Hearing and Approval. 
Fencing and Gates; Masonry Walls: All types of fencing and gates, and all walls in public view over 18 
inches in height require Commission Hearing and Approval. 
Patios and Walks: All new patios, walks, and driveways require Commission Hearing and Approval. 
Stairs and Steps: Removal, addition or alteration of external stairs or steps require Commission Hearing 
and Approval. 
Miscellaneous: Any type of alteration of exterior features of a building, site, or environment which is not 
specifically listed requires Commission Hearing and Approval. 
Trees: Removal of healthy trees in any location on the property which have a trunk diameter of 6” or less 
require Planning Department Approval. (Replacement is required). 
 
Chapter 5-Section 6: Porches 
Decks are generally not appropriate for homes within the districts.  However, when decks are constructed, 
they should be located in the rear yard only, and should not project into the interior side yard.  Decks should 
be avoided on corner lots, since their view can not be completely obscured from both streets.  Rails on 
decks should match those on the porches.  Lattice and shrubbery around the foundations enhance the 
appearance of decks, and should be utilized when possible. 
 



3 
Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-03-24 

Design Standards 
• Decks may only be located in the rear of the property. 
• Design decks to be compatible in material, color, and detail with the historic building. 
• Construct decks so that they can be removed in the future without damaging the historic structure. 
• Construct decks so that there is the least possible loss of historic fabric. Also, ensure that 

character-defining features of the historic building are not obscured, damaged, or destroyed.  
• Inset decks from the corner of the primary structure where necessary in order to prevent visibility 

from the street. 
 
Chapter 5 – Section 9: Fences and Walls 
Fences 
• Rear yard fences are defined as fences, which do not extend forward on the applicant’s property beyond 

the side centerline of the house in plain view.  Approval of the location may also be handled on a case-
by-case basis to determine the best natural break in the rear and front yards for placement of fences.  
Rear yard fences may be higher than four feet.  The portions of rear yard fences that face the street 
should be landscaped with shrubs and trees of a planting size that will fully hide the fence from the 
street within two years.  Size, type, and growth habits of plant materials to screen rear yard fences that 
face the street should be submitted at time of application.  If a front yard fence adjoins a rear yard fence, 
or an existing neighboring property fence, attention should be given to the transition between the two.   

• Privacy Fences 
Privacy fences are defined as fences with no spacing between pickets or fences of the shadowbox 
design.  Privacy fences may be allowed at the discretion of the Commission in the following 
circumstances: 

1. Privacy fences are most appropriate in rear yards. 
2. Privacy fences may be allowed where the applicant's rear yard is directly adjacent to 

property that is either not in a historic district, or is within a historic district but is non-
contributing or intrusive in that district.  The applicant shall show to the satisfaction of 
the Commission: 
 that the adjacent property is unsightly in comparison to other properties 

surrounding the applicant's property, 
 that the adjacent property or nearby property raises reasonable security 

concerns for the applicant, or 
 that the adjacent property could reasonably be determined to negatively 

impact the property value of the applicant's property. 
Privacy fences shall be allowed only on the applicant's property line directly adjoining 
the aforesaid adjacent property unless the Commission feels that such a partial privacy 
fence would not be visually appropriate or would not accomplish the purpose(s) of the 
privacy fence set forth above. 

3. Privacy fences encompassing an area of no more than 250 square feet may be allowed 
at the discretion of the Commission when adjacent to the applicant's house, garage, or 
other outbuilding in order to screen from view trash cans, mechanical equipment, cars 
or other unsightly items, provided such fence does not unreasonably impact any 
neighbor by blocking windows or the like. 

Privacy fences allowed by the Commission should be landscaped where practical with appropriate 
shrubbery to soften the appearance of the fence. 

 
Masonry Walls 
Where walls are concerned, natural stone or brick-masonry walls are encouraged and should not be coated 
or painted.  The type and color of stone and masonry should respond to the historic nature of the property.  



4 
Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-03-24 

The transparency or openings in the walls will be considered on an individual basis.  Poured-in-place 
concrete walls are discouraged. Concrete-masonry walls constructed of plain concrete-masonry-units or 
CMUs (often referred to as “concrete blocks” or “cinder blocks”) and walls constructed from railroad ties 
are prohibited.  

Concrete-masonry walls constructed of decorative concrete blocks (such as split-face blocks that are 
textured, colored, etc.) will be considered by the Commission on a case-by-case basis.  Decorative concrete 
block shall not have a beveled face and shall not be stacked in a manner that allows the flat surface of the 
block to be visible on the wall’s front façade. Decorative concrete blocks shall have textured faces to mimic 
the shape irregularities of natural stone. Examples of inappropriate materials and materials that may be 
considered on a case-by-case basis are exhibited below (page 45). Front yard walls equal to and taller than 
36 inches may not utilize decorative concrete blocks. 

Design Standards 
• Do not use high walls or fences to screen front yards. 
• Use materials such as natural stone, brick, wood, powder coated aluminum and iron. 
• Chain link or plastic materials are prohibited.  Adding slats to existing chain link fences for screening 

purposes is prohibited. 
• Materials and style should coordinate with building and neighboring buildings as well as other walls 

and fences in the area. 
 
Chapter 5 – Section 10: Driveways, Walkways, and Parking 
• New walkways should consist of appropriate natural material including gravel, concrete, stone, brick 

or pervious pavers.  Walkways should avoid prefabricated and imprinted stepping stones within front 
yards.   

 
Chapter 5 – Section 8: Landscaping and Trees 
Trees  
• City staff may approve a Certificate of Appropriateness for the removal of healthy trees under 6 inches 

in diameter.   
• All trees that are removed should be replaced with a tree of similar species in an appropriate location 

unless no suitable location exists on the subject site.  Trees removed within street view must also have 
the stumps removed below ground level. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

1. The Historic Preservation Commission should consider the circumstances of this application for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness relative to the North and South Union Street Historic Districts 
Handbook and act accordingly.  

2. If approved, applicant(s) should be informed of the following:  
 City staff and Commission will make periodic on-site visits to ensure the project is 

completed as approved.  
 Completed project will be photographed to update the historic properties survey.  

 



NPS Form 10.900·• 

C,1-82) 

- United States ·Departmeilt 0of -�the--'tnterloEo.:c°�-��·=��;._,_.
National Park Service 

• -- • ·--National Register::_ol.HistQlic�,_@t;:,ttl.i=� :

-:'.:_�_ -�_:_lnv�gt��,����,,��l�-�=-�f!:>'"! ";'i������,�Ji��;:1€.
-

-

Continuation sheet 

Inventory List - North Union Street 
Historic District, Concord 

·-- -

Item number 

#7 

OHB No. 1024-0018 
BKp1res J0-11-87 

Page 

52 

Two-story, frame, single-pile house with hip roof and decorative facade 
gable. One-story wing at rear of house's west side has slanted 1::ay topped 
with conical roof. Full facade porch with Tuscan columns and balustrade 
shelters central entrance with leaded glass sidelights. Decorative gable 
has flush boards laid in a herringbone pattern. 

97. House
81 Grove Avenue, N.W.
ca. 1900
C

One-and-a-half-story, frame, double-pile house with high hip roof pierced
by hip-roofed dormers on three sides and projecting, slanted bay with
nearly conical roof on east side of house. The house wraps around a
corner lot and is set very close to the street, and so its front and
east elevations are visually prominent. A wrap-around porch with Tuscan
columns and a balustrade carries across the full facade and the front
bay of the east side. A mid-20th. century garage stands at the rear
of the property facing White Street.

98. Dr. McFayden House
75 Grove Avenue, N.W.
ca. 1925
C

Two-story brick residence with some Colonial Revival features but a
horizontal form characteristic of the bungalow style or Prairie School.
The low height of the house in relation to its - width-,- the - gently _pitched-·,.�--- -
hip roof with broad eaves, a similar roof __ on: � .. .the. __ pr.ojecting - entrance .. -
bay, and the rows of four 4/4 sash windows f-lanking __ :-the en-trance combine -·
to give the design its horizontal character. -There is·-: a -one-story-- screened - -
porch on the east side of the house and a :sunroom at the. rear-. - =The·
entrance has leaded-• glass sidelights- and-a---tr-ansom ,- -and-is framed-· by - : -
raised brickwork.

99. Dr. James E. Smoot House
67 Grove Avenue, N.C.
1897 IOI)
C

Two-story, frame, Queen Anne style house with fine porch. House side
gable main block with two-story, gable front bay on east (left} side
of facade; two one-story slanted bays project from the sides of the house.
Wrap-around porch has _ turned and bracketed - posts r--ising to a spindle --

••• • fr1eze; the ·balustrade consists-of. square-..,-balusfe-psc.c.'::B..nd:-·,.·,a"=�-r--0w�f- �-splridte;g=:-::c-c-_.,,.._ :c-

EXHIBIT A

wallisk
Rectangle



EXHIBIT B





EX
H

IB
IT

 C



EXHIBIT D



 
 
 

 

Subject Property 

 

Page 2 of 16



 
 

 

 

Existing Deck and Pergola to be Removed 

 

 

 

 

Page 3 of 16



 
 

 

Existing Deck and Pergola to be Removed 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 4 of 16



 
 

 

 

Retaining Wall to be Replaced and Fence to be Removed and Relocated / Replaced 

Crape Myrtles to be Removed.  Fence Construction Similar to Existing 

 

 

 

PROPOSED NEW
FENCE LOCATION

CRAPE MYRTLE
TREES TO BE
REMOVED

Page 5 of 16



 
 

 

 

Retaining Wall to be Replaced and Relocated to Approximate Existing Fence Location 

Fence to be replaced with similar Construction (Same Location as Existing) 

 

 

 

WALL TO BE REMOVED
AND RELOCATED TO
APPROXIMATE EXISTING
FENCE LOCATION.  FENCE
TO BE REMOVED AND
REPLACED.  NEW FENCE
TO BE SIMILAR IN
CONSTRUCTION TO
EXISTING FENCING

CRAPE MYRTLES TO BE
REMOVED TO ALLOW FOR
CONSTRUCTION OF NEW
/ REPLACEMENT
RETAINING WALL

Page 6 of 16



 
 

 

 

Japanese Maple to be Relocated / Incorporated within New Backyard Landscaping 

 

 

 

 

JAPANESE MAPLE TO BE
RELOCATED TO NEW
"CHARLESTON GARDEN".
 REFER TO SITE PLAN
FOR LOCATION.

Page 7 of 16



 
 

 

 

Existing Stairs to be Removed and Replaced  

Garden Tool Storage to be Incorporated with New Stair 

 

 

Page 8 of 16



ISSUED FOR CONCORD 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

APPROVAL ONLY.  NOT 

FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

NC FIRM LICENSE #P-1305

D
R

Y
E

-M
C

G
L
A

M
E

R
Y

 

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G
, 

P
L
L
C

3
2
5
 M

c
G

IL
L
 A

V
E

 N
W

 S
U

IT
E

 5
2
8

C
O

N
C

O
R

D
, 

N
C

 2
8
0
2
7

DME PROJECT #:

G-0

PROJECT OVERVIEW

CJH

HWD

W
IL

L
 A

N
D

 C
H

A
R

L
O

T
T

E
 S

T
A

T
O

N

P
O

R
C

H
 A

D
D

IT
IO

N

7
5
 G

R
O

V
E

 A
V

E
N

U
E

 N
W

, 
C

O
N

C
O

R
D

, 
N

C

FOR PROGRESS

2023243

STATON RESIDENCE PORCH ADDITION

WILL AND CHARLOTTE STATON

75 GROVE AVENUE NW

CONCORD, NC 28025

BUILDING DESIGN

Sheet Number Sheet Name

G-0 PROJECT OVERVIEW

G-1 FLOOR PLANS

G-2 ELEVATIONS

G-3 ELEVATIONS

No. Description Date

O FOR CITY

PLANNING

APPROVAL

2023-11-20

Page 9 of 16



16' - 0"

40
'-4

" +
/-

20
'-0

" +
/-

54' - 11 5/8"

EXISTING DRIVEWAY TO REMAIN

NEW PUTTING GREEN.  APPROXIMATE AREA = 300 SQUARE FEET

CHARLESTON GARDEN
RELOCATE JAPANESE MAPLE

WALL FOUNTAIN

REPLACE EXISTING 
APARTMENT STAIRS AND 
ADD GARDEN STORAGE 
BENEATH

SOLO STOVE WITH SEATING

EXISTING RETAINING WALL TO BE 
REPAIRED / REPLACED AS REQUIRED. 
FINISH TO MATCH EXISTING

NEW CONCRETE STEPS AND WALK

PROVIDE BRICK RETAINING 
WALL AS REQUIRED FOR 
GRADE.  BRICK FINISH TO 
MATCH EXISTING HOME

EXISTING RETAINING WALL TO BE 
REPAIRED / REPLACED AS REQUIRED. 

FINISH TO MATCH EXISTING

NEW MULTI-LEVEL PORCH 
ADDITION.  SEE 

ARCHITECTURAL PLANS 
FOR DETAILS 24

'-1
0"

 +
/-

GATE (SAME LOCATION AS EXISTING)

GATE

EXISTING TWO STORY HOME

APPROXIMATE EXISTING FENCE LOCATION.  THIS FENCE 
TO BE REPLACED AND REMAIN IN SAME LOCATION

APPROXIMATE EXISTING RETAINING WALL LOCATION.  
RETAINING WALL TO BE REPLACED.  NEW RETAINING WALL 
LOCATION TO ALIGN WITH EXISTING FENCE / NEW PRIVACY 
FENCE LOCATION ALONG REAR DRIVE.

EXISTING FENCE LOCATION.  FENCE TO BE 
REPLACED.  NEW LOCATION TO ALIGN 

APPROXIMATELY WITH EXISTING RETAINING 
WALL LOCATION

NEW / REPLACEMENT PRIVACY FENCE LOCATION
REPRESENTS EXISTING CRAPE MYRTLE TREES (8 
CRAPE MYRTLE TREES TOTAL) TO BE REMOVED TO 
ALLOW FOR DEMOLITION AND RECONSTRUCTION OF 
EXISTING RETAINING WALL AND PRIVACY FENCE

PROPOSED SITE PLAN NOTES:

1. EXISTING WOODEN DECK AND PERGOLA TO BE REMOVED TO ALLOW FOR 
CONSTRUCTION OF NEW REAR PORCH STRUCTURE.  

2. EXISTING DRIVE, PARKING, ENTRY TO PROPERTY TO REMAIN THE SAME.

3. RETAINING WALLS SHOWN ON PLAN ARE NON-PERMITTED (LESS THAN 
4'-0") IN HEIGHT.  FINISHES SHALL MATCH EXISTING FOR REPAIRS.  NEW 
RETAINING WALLS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED OF MASONRY MATERIAL TO 
MATCH THE EXISTING HOME'S BRICK VENEER AS CLOSELY AS POSSIBLE.

4. PROPERTY BOUNDARIES AND LOCATION OF EXISTING HOME ARE PER 
SURVEY COMPLETED BY NORMAN GREY RIBELIN DATED 7/24/2018.  SITE 
PLAN / OVERLAY AS SHOWN COMPLETED BY DRYE-MCGLAMERY 
ENGINEERING, PLLC.

5. DESIGN / INSPIRATION IDEAS FOR NEW PORCH, CHARLESTON GARDEN, 
WALL FOUNTAIN AND OUTDOOR FIREPIT / SEATING HAVE BEEN PROVIDED 
HEREIN (BY OWNER).

ISSUED FOR CONCORD 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

APPROVAL ONLY.  NOT 

FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

NC FIRM LICENSE #P-1305

D
R

Y
E

-M
C

G
L
A

M
E

R
Y

 

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G
, 

P
L
L
C

3
2
5
 M

c
G

IL
L
 A

V
E

N
U

E
 N

W
 S

U
IT

E
 5

2
8

C
O

N
C

O
R

D
, 

N
C

 2
8
0
2
7

DME PROJECT #:

SP-1

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

HWD

HWD

W
IL

L
 A

N
D

 C
H

A
R

L
O

T
T

E

S
T

A
T

O
N

P
O

R
C

H
 A

D
D

IT
IO

N

7
5
 G

R
O

V
E

 A
V

E
N

U
E

 N
W

,

C
O

N
C

O
R

D
, 

N
C

FOR PROGRESS

2023243

No. Description Date

O FOR CITY

PLANNING

APPROVAL

2023-11-20

1" = 20'-0"
1

SITE PLAN

Page 10 of 16



EXISTING HOME

NEW PORCH 

ADDITION

40' - 4"

1
6
' -

 0
"

1
6
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 1
"

NEW PATIO DOOR

O
U

T
D

O
O

R
 K

IT
C

H
E

N

EQ EQ

PROVIDE PHANTOM SCREENS 

AT PORCH PERIMETER TYP.

NEW MASONRY FIREPLACE

FLAGSTONE PAVER FLOOR FINISH OVER 

REINFORCED CONCRETE SLAB ON GRADE

PROVIDE 16x16 BUILT UP WOOD POSTS TYP.SCREENED PORCH ENTRY DOOR

NEW PORCH ADDITION

PAVERS OVER MEMBRANE 

ROOF 2
2
' -

 2
 7

/8
"

2
2
' -

 2
 7

/8
"

3
' -

 1
0
 1

/8
"

26' - 7 1/8" 13' - 9"

40' - 4"

CONTIUOUS CURB AND HANDRAIL AT PERIMETER

PROVIDE NEW 3068 PATIO DOOR

PROVIDE PEDESTAL PAVER 

SYSTEM OVER BUILT UP ROOF 

EXISTING HOME

5
' -

 5
 1

/4
"

5
' -

 7
 3

/8
"

7
' -

 4
 5

/8
"

7
' -

 2
 1

/2
"

7
' -

 1
 3

/8
"

7
' -

 1
 3

/8
"

7
' -

 1
 3

/8
"

ISSUED FOR CONCORD 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

APPROVAL ONLY.  NOT 

FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

NC FIRM LICENSE #P-1305

D
R

Y
E

-M
C

G
L
A

M
E

R
Y

 

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G
, 

P
L
L
C

3
2
5
 M

c
G

IL
L
 A

V
E

 N
W

 S
U

IT
E

 5
2
8

C
O

N
C

O
R

D
, 

N
C

 2
8
0
2
7

DME PROJECT #:

G-1

FLOOR PLANS

HWD

HWD

W
IL

L
 A

N
D

 C
H

A
R

L
O

T
T

E
 S

T
A

T
O

N

P
O

R
C

H
 A

D
D

IT
IO

N

7
5
 G

R
O

V
E

 A
V

E
N

U
E

 N
W

, 
C

O
N

C
O

R
D

, 
N

C

FOR PROGRESS

2023243

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

MAIN FLOOR FLOOR PLAN

No. Description Date

O FOR CITY

PLANNING

APPROVAL

2023-11-20

1/4" = 1'-0"
2

UPPER LEVEL FLOOR PLAN

HALFWALL W/ BRICK VENEER

Page 11 of 16



NEW MASONRY FIREPLACE AND 
CHIMNEY
BRICK TO MATCH EXISTING

PROVIDE 16x16 BUILT UP BOX 
COLUMNS WITH PAINTED TRIM 
TO MATCH EXISTING TRIM 
COLOR(S)

PROVIDE CHIPPENDALE RAILING 
WITH 6x6 NEWEL POSTS AT 
PERIMETER AS SHOWN. PAINTED TO 
MATCH EXISTING TRIM COLOR(S)

PROVIDE RETRACTING PHANTOM SREENS TYP.

PROVIDE 16x16 BUILT UP BOX 
COLUMNS WITH PAINTED TRIM 
TO MATCH EXISTING TRIM 
COLOR(S)

PROVIDE CHIPPENDALE RAILING 
WITH 6x6 NEWEL POSTS AT 
PERIMETER AS SHOWN. PAINTED TO 
MATCH EXISTING TRIM COLOR(S)

PROVIDE BRICK VENEERED HALF WALL AS 
SHOWN AT OUTDOOR KITCHEN

PROVIDE PHANTOM SCREENS / SCREEN ENTRY 
DOOR THIS END OF PORCH

NEW MASONRY FIREPLACE / CHIMNEY
BRICK TO MATCH EXISTING

ISSUED FOR CONCORD 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

APPROVAL ONLY.  NOT 

FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

NC FIRM LICENSE #P-1305

D
R

Y
E

-M
C

G
L
A

M
E

R
Y

 

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G
, 

P
L
L
C

3
2
5
 M

c
G

IL
L
 A

V
E

 N
W

 S
U

IT
E

 5
2
8

C
O

N
C

O
R

D
, 

N
C

 2
8
0
2
7

DME PROJECT #:

G-2

ELEVATIONS

HWD

HWD

W
IL

L
 A

N
D

 C
H

A
R

L
O

T
T

E
 S

T
A

T
O

N

P
O

R
C

H
 A

D
D

IT
IO

N

7
5
 G

R
O

V
E

 A
V

E
N

U
E

 N
W

, 
C

O
N

C
O

R
D

, 
N

C

FOR PROGRESS

2023243

1/4" = 1'-0"
2

REAR ELEV

No. Description Date

O FOR CITY

PLANNING

APPROVAL

2023-11-20

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

LEFT ELEV

Page 12 of 16



NEW MASONRY FIREPLACE AND 
CHIMNEY
BRICK TO MATCH EXISTING

PROVIDE 16x16 BUILT UP BOX 
COLUMNS WITH PAINTED TRIM 
TO MATCH EXISTING TRIM 
COLOR(S)

PROVIDE CHIPPENDALE RAILING 
WITH 6x6 NEWEL POSTS AT 
PERIMETER AS SHOWN. PAINTED TO 
MATCH EXISTING TRIM COLOR(S)

ISSUED FOR CONCORD 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

APPROVAL ONLY.  NOT 

FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

NC FIRM LICENSE #P-1305

D
R

Y
E

-M
C

G
L
A

M
E

R
Y

 

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G
, 

P
L
L
C

3
2
5
 M

c
G

IL
L
 A

V
E

 N
W

 S
U

IT
E

 5
2
8

C
O

N
C

O
R

D
, 

N
C

 2
8
0
2
7

DME PROJECT #:

G-3

ELEVATIONS

HWD

HWD

W
IL

L
 A

N
D

 C
H

A
R

L
O

T
T

E
 S

T
A

T
O

N

P
O

R
C

H
 A

D
D

IT
IO

N

7
5
 G

R
O

V
E

 A
V

E
N

U
E

 N
W

, 
C

O
N

C
O

R
D

, 
N

C

FOR PROGRESS

2023243

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

RIGHT ELEV
No. Description Date

O FOR CITY

PLANNING

APPROVAL

2023-11-20

Page 13 of 16



The Grove 
Backyard- Design Board

Covered Patio

Putting 
Green

Driveway

Gate

Gate

Gate

Solo Stove  
with  

Seating

Apartment Stairs with 
Garden Storage

Charleston Garden 
(Relocate 

Japanese Maple)

Gate with brick columns and lanterns

Apartment staircase style Bluestone pavers

Wall  
Fountain

Upper porch railing style

Inspiration Image

Inspiration Image

Hedge row fencing on Yorktown side (pending)

Page 14 of 16



The Grove 
Backyard- Porch Railing and Columns

Porch Railing and Column 
Inspiration Images:

Pull inspiration from 
interior staircase details

Inspiration 
for upper 
porch only

Page 15 of 16



The Grove 
Backyard- Inspiration

Inspiration Images for overall design: 
-chippendale railings 
-squared off columns 
-fireplace 
-outdoor sconces 
-ceiling heaters, fans, recessed lighting  
-bluestone pavers

Page 16 of 16



 

Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-04-24 

Agenda Memorandum 
Historic Preservation Commission 

 
 

DATE       February 14, 2024 
SUBJECT 
 Certificate of Appropriateness Request:   H-04-24 
 Applicant:      Julio De La Mora 
 Location of subject property:   23 Spring St NW 

PIN:      5620-87-1837 
Staff Report prepared by:  Kim Wallis, AICP, Senior Planner 

 
BACKGROUND  
• The subject property, 23 Spring St NW, is designated as a “Contributing” structure in the North Union 

Street Historic District, ca 1860-1865 (Exhibit A). 
• “Two-story, frame, vernacular house that exhibits some of its original Greek Revival and Italianate 

designs. Most distinctive remaining Italianate features are the post and lintel mantels and the sawn work 
trim. House originally built for Charles A Caldwell.  John A Blackwelder purchased home in 1917 and 
operated a wholesale dealership from his home. House underwent renovations that seriously altered the 
exterior and the interior of the house. Site was moved back one yard. Original one-bay façade was 
modified to a three-bay façade with decorative gables over the porch and main house. A bungalow 
wrap-around porch with tapered columns on brick piers replaced the pedimented one-bay portico in 
1917. In addition, side panels were added to the center window on upper elevation of facade. The 
sidelights, however, on either side of principal door are original and contain lead glass. Other exterior 
additions during this time include a two-room ell with projecting bay topped with a slanted witches-
cap-roof, a shed room on the southwest corner of the first floor, and the replacement of the center hall 
partition with a column portal. Glass and brick flower house was removed by 1917. Ray King, a 
prominent newspaperman and the former editor of the Concord Tribune, purchased home in 1929 and 
continues to reside there. He added a garage to the property in 1965.” (Exhibit A). 

 
DISCUSSION 
On January 19, 2024, Julio De La Mora, along with adjacent property owner Megan Stallings (17 Spring 
St NW) applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness under Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) §9.8 
requesting repair/replacement of the existing driveway and expansion of the driveway to the front of the 
garage (Exhibit B).   
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Exhibit A: National Register of Historic Places Inventory 
Exhibit B: Application for Certificate of Appropriateness 
Exhibit C: Subject Property Map 
Exhibit D: Applicant submitted Photographs. 
 
HISTORIC HANDBOOK DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS 
Approval Requirement Needs Table:  
Driveways: All new patios, walks, and driveways require Commission Hearing and Approval. 
 
Chapter 5 – Section 10: Driveways, Walkways and Parking 
Gravel and pavement are acceptable materials for driveways, as are some alternative materials such as 
cobblestone, brick, and pervious pavers. 



2 
Historic Preservation Commission 
Case # H-04-24 

Design Standards 
• Parking areas should not be the focal point of the property, and should be located in such a manner 

as to minimize their visibility from the street. 
• Trees should be planted or retained in order to maintain the tree canopy and to minimize the focus 

of the parking areas. 
• Excessive expanses of paving should be avoided. 
• Use vegetation screen or berms to reduce reflection and visual confusion. Within residential areas, 

integrate parking areas into landscaping and surface with the appropriate materials such as concrete, 
brick, crushed stone or gravel.  In general, asphalt should only be used for areas not visible from 
the street; its use will be considered on a case by case basis by the Historic Preservation 
Commission. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

1. The Historic Preservation Commission should consider the circumstances of this application for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness relative to the North and South Union Street Historic Districts 
Handbook and act accordingly.  

2. If approved, applicant(s) should be informed of the following:  
 City staff and Commission will make periodic on-site visits to ensure the project is 

completed as approved.  
 Completed project will be photographed to update the historic properties survey.  

 



/ 

~--'----·NPS Form 10<900·• ---------- --~--~--------=--'---'----==---·- . OHB No. 1024-0018 
EKp1res 10-Jl-87 P-'21 

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 

National Register of Historic Places 
Inventory-Nomination Form 

Continuation sheet 

Inventory List - North Union Street 
Historic District, Concord 

Item number 

#7 

Page 

59 

stories. First floor fenestrations include two eight-over-eights. Fenestrations 
on second floor are two six-over-sixes and a small center window with 
four-over-four. A molded wooden arch with keystone rests directly above 
the transom over the principal glass panel door. Second ·floor is sheathed
in shingles. House has an ell on the -north- side- ari--Triterior __ end_chimney--
on the south side. - ____ c:.c. ---

ll8. Vacant Lot 
Between 18 and 17 Spring Street, N. W. 
VL 

Unkept rear yard of L 'il General Store. 

ll9. Matthew Goodson House 
17 Spring Street, N. W. 
ca. 1898 
c 

Frame Queen Anne cottage with shingled gable roof. Sidelights mark 
entrance. One-bay porch has turned la.lustrade and posts. Double-piled 
house also has gable pediment with cornice and returns. Fenestrations 
of this one-story, three-bay house are paired six-over-sixs-; Shingles
in roof are alternating chisel and staggered. House also has two interior 
end chimneys. 

120. Caldwell-Balckwelder-King House 
23 Spring Street, N. W. 
ca. 1860-1865 
c 

Two-story, frame, vernacular house that exhibits ·some _ of--'ils- ori&firial 
Greek Revival and ltalianate designs. Most.c-distJoi;'ttve---relmrihil'ijf'-iltiHtinafe=:-: ::·'-
features are the post a-rid -linter- marifels ____ and·•:'fue'-O..'Sawnwor'k trim. House-· -
originally built for Charles A. Caldw-ell. 

John A. Blackwelder purchsed home in 1917 and operated a: wholesale 
dealership from his home. House underwent renovations that - · seriously 
altered the exterior and the interior of house. Site- was moved back one 
yard. Original one-bay facade was modified to a three-bay facade with 
decorative gables over the porch and main house. A bungalow. wrap-arounci 
porch with tapered columns on brick piers replaced the · pedimented, 
one-bay portico in 1917. In addition, side panes were added to center 
window on upper elevation of facade. The sidelights, however, on eithe·r side 

wallisk
Rectangle

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit A



NPS Form 10.900·1 
13-82) 

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 

~~' 
' 

National Register of Historic Places 
Inventory-Nomination Form 

Continuation sheet 

Inventory List - North Union Street 
Historic District, Concord 

Item number 

#7 

OHB No, 1024·0018 
Expires 10-31-87 

Page 

60 

of principal door are original and contain lead glass. Other exterior 
additions during this time include a two room ell with projecting bay 
topped with a slanted witches-cap-roof, a shed room on the southwest 
corner of the first floor, and the replacement of the _center _hall ~partition 
with a . column portal. Glass and ~ ·brick·c:~~f1ower~~ -house~cccwasc=-T~move~~~- by -
1917. 

Ray King, a prominent newspaperman and the former- editor of the Concord 
Tribune, purchased home in 1929 and continues to reside there. He added 
a garage to the property in 1965. ~- - -~~ 

121. Parking Lot 
Between 23 and 49 Spring Street, N. W. 
PL 

Used for parking lot for First Baptist Church 

122. First Baptist Church 
49 Spring street, N. W. 
1922-1924 ,' 
p 

Impressive brick church that exhibits extensive amount -of Gothic detailing. 
Facades features lancet-arched openings with simple intersecting tracery 
and stained glass windows, two-stage buttresses, and crenelated parapets 
on the tower and wings of Education building. Church has unique architect
ural plan. Main block of church is cruciform, with towers at three corners. 
Square-shaped auditorium occupies most of the main block. A cross gable 
structure with a square tower rest at~ ea_ch -Of _the_ corners .. QL the_ churc;:h_, 
The northeast gable~~ is - completely ~exposed • to_:__::Str£ef~.'c_cAlL:Windows _-have .c 

stone trim. The principal tower at the corner of ·spring- Street and Grove -
Avenue is in three stages which are set -with-cl>tittresses ~at. e·ach~_c_QI'her; 
The vertical axis created by these ~ buttres·se&":"'ls.c:-:,ocont1nued- ·bY~sp1kes~· 
at the corners of the crenelated parapet. The third- stage of tne--tower- ~ 
has two arched-tracery, louvered windows on each side. Above the double 
doors on the east and the north side are paired tracery-arched stained 
glass windows. Identical towers with entrances to the church rest at 
the northwest and southeast corners. All buttresses and . p!l.rapets ~have 
stone trim. Education building, built. after 1953, is a bricl< box with 
simple framing buttresses and no stone trim. The Sunday School building 
on Grove Avenue has a crenelated parapet and stone trimmed corbeled 
cornice. 

wallisk
Rectangle

jamesa
Underline



Application for 
Certificate of Appropriateness 

Planning & Neighborhood Development 
35 Cabarrus Ave W     Concord, NC 28025 

Phone (704) 920-5152   Fax (704) 920-6962  www.concordnc.gov 

 

 

        
 
 

 

APPLICANT INFORMATION 
 

Name:  

Address:    

City: State: Zip Code: Telephone:     
 
 

OWNER INFORMATION 
 

Name:  

Address:    

City:    State:     Zip Code: Telephone:       
 
 

SUBJECT PROPERTY 
 

Street Address: P.I.N. #    
 

Area (acres or square feet): Current Zoning: Land Use:     
 
 
 

AN INCOMPLETE APPLICATION WILL NOT BE PLACED ON THE AGENDA 
UNTIL ALL OF THE REQUIRED ATTACHMENTS AND/OR ITEMS LISTED ON 
PAGE 2 ARE SUBMITTED. 

 
Staff Use 

Only: 

Application Received by: Date:  , 20     

Fee: $20.00 Received by: Date:  , 20         

The application fee is nonrefundable. 

Julio De La Mora, and Co Applicant of Adjacent Property, Megan Stallings See Below

23 Spring Street NW

Concord NC 28025 312-478-2865

Julio De La Mora

23 Spring Street NW

Concord NC 28025 312-478-2865

23 Spring Street NW 5620-87-1837

Res. /  Historical

Co/Applicant:  Megan Stallings, 17 Spring Street NC, Concord, NC 28025, adjacent property

jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit B



Application for 
Certificate of Appropriateness 

Planning & Neighborhood Development 
35 Cabarrus Ave W     Concord, NC 28025 

Phone (704) 920-5152   Fax (704) 920-6962  www.concordnc.gov 

 

 

        
 
 

General Requirements 
 

The Unified Development Ordinance imposes the following rules, regulations and requirements on requests for 
Certificates of Appropriateness. The applicant must, with reference to the attached plans, demonstrate how the 
proposed use satisfies these requirements: 

 
1. Project or Type of Work to be Done:    

 
2. Detailed specifications of the project (type of siding, windows, doors, height/style of fence, color, etc.): 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Certification 
(1) I hereby acknowledge and say that the information contained herein and herewith is true and that this application 
shall not be scheduled for official consideration until all of the required contents are submitted in proper form to the 
City of Concord Development Services Department. (2) I understand that City staff and/or members of the Historic 
Preservation Commission may make routine visits to the site to insure that work being done is the same as the work 
that was approved. (3) I understand that photographs of the completed project will be made to update the City’s 
historic districts inventory database. 

 
 

Date Signature of Owner/Agent 

Required 
Attachments/Submittals 

1. Scaled site plan, if additions or accessory structures are proposed, on letter, legal or ledger paper. Larger sized 
copies will be accepted.  Digital copies are preferred. 

2. Detailed written description of the project.  
3. Photographs of site, project, or existing structures from a “before” perspective. 
4. Drawings, sketches, renderings, elevations, or photographs necessary to present an illustration of the project 

from an “after” perspective if applicable.  
5. Samples of windows, doors, brick, siding, etc. must be submitted with application. 
6. Detailed list of materials that will be used to complete the project.  

 

Improving the driveway with new concrete

Project to remove the aged and damage pavement and replace with cement from the road

to extend and include the area in front of the garage to improve curb appeal as well as to

mitigate standing water issues with the gravel area retaining water near the home and garage

and causing water intrusion in both areas.

01/19/2024

2/6/2024
Date Signature of Owner/Agent



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit C



jamesa
Text Box
Exhibit D




	Agenda
	H-14-22
	---Z(CD)-34-16
	---H-14-22 Dec 13
	---H-14-22 Nov 8
	---Z(CD)-34-16
	H-01-24
	H-02-24
	H-03-24
	H-04-24

	Name: Julio De La Mora
	Address: 23 Spring Street NW
	City: Concord
	State: NC
	Zip Code: 28025
	Telephone: 312-478-2865
	Name_2: Julio De La Mora
	Address_2: 23 Spring Street NW
	City_2: Concord
	State_2: NC
	Zip Code_2: 28025
	Telephone_2: 312-478-2865
	Street Address: 23 Spring Street NW
	PIN: 5620-87-1837
	Area acres or square feet: 
	Current Zoning: Res. /  Historical
	Land Use: 
	Project or Type of Work to be Done: Replace vinyl siding with hardy board plank siding, removal of 2 chimneys
	2: chimney, replace roof, install HVAC, close in rear windows.
	Detailed specifications of the project type of siding windows doors heightstyle of fence color etc 1: Project to replace the heavily damaged and aged vinyl siding on the home at time of purchase,
	Detailed specifications of the project type of siding windows doors heightstyle of fence color etc 2: with upgraded neutral tone hardy board plank siding, and improve the look of the home and 
	Detailed specifications of the project type of siding windows doors heightstyle of fence color etc 3: better protect the structure from the elements, insects etc, as was a potential issue with the 
	Detailed specifications of the project type of siding windows doors heightstyle of fence color etc 4: damaged vinyl siding.
	Detailed specifications of the project type of siding windows doors heightstyle of fence color etc 5: 
	Date_3: 12/22/2023


